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“This has been a terrific first year for Dixons Carphone We have seen excellent increases
in both sales and profitability and we have made very encouraging progress with the
tncky job of integrating these two great companies At the same time, we have continued
to generate strong customer satisfaction numbers, made significant strides in our
Connected World Services business including our agreement with Sprint, and launched
a brand new mobile network

The job 1s far from done | am acutely aware that there 1s no room for complacency

In a sector which has seen unprecedented change, bringing both opportunities and
challenges We have set ourselves ambitious goals, not only financial, but also in terms
of driving customer happiness, building a completely integrated company and delivering
a brand new global services business with CWS To achieve these, we will need to
exhibit creativity, energy, resilience and toughness of purpose Nevertheless we are very
optimistic about the road ahead, and Dixons Carphone 1s lucky to have such a fantastic
team of people — in every part of the business - to deliver these goals My sincere
thanks to them for everything that has been done so far”

~

/\

Sebastian James
Group Chigf Executive
16 July 2015

Cautionary statement

Certain statements macde in this Annual Report and Accounts are forward looking Such statements are based on current expectations and are
subject to a number of nsks and uncertainties that coukd cause actual results to diifer matenally from any expected future events or resuits
referred to i these forward looking statements Unless otherwise required by applicable laws, regulations or accountng standards, we do not
undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward looking statements, whether as a result of new information future developments or
otherwise Nothing in this Annual Report and Accounts should be regarded as a profit forecast
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Strategic raport

Highlights of the year

Dixons Carphone plc is Europe’s leading specialist electrical and
telecommunications retailer and services company, employing over
40,000 people in 9 countries.

Group like-for-like revenue up 6%

UK like-for-like revenue up 8%

Group pro forma PBT of £381 million, up 21%

Group pro forma EPS of 25 5p

Strong balance sheet with year end pro forma net debt of £260 million
Final dividend of 6.0p proposed, taking total dividends for the year to 8.5p
Integration progressing well

Disposals of non-core operations

Pro forma revenue {Emillion)

Pro forma Headline EBIT {£rnillfon) Headline basic EPS (pence)

Our European store presence

|

i
Store numbers Own  Franchised Total

¥
® UK and Jreland 1,328 - 1328 .
© Nordics 257 13 388 \
@ Southern Europe 369 223 592 l[

1,954 354 2,308 |

Headline and pro forma performance measures are as defined in the Perfomance Review Pro forma results are presented as If the CPW Europe Acquisition and the
Merger had occurred 4t the start of the comparative penod  Headline figures for the year ended 28 March 2014 have been re-prasented to exclude the results of

discontinued operations.

2
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Business segments

-
We operate four segments as follows: g
Brands Websites %
UK & Ireland Currys currys co uk E
cumys ie
« Cumrys and PC World are the largest specialist electneal retaling
and services operators in the UK & Ireland PC World peworld co uk
orld 1e
+ Carphone Warehouse I1s the largest independent pow
telecommunications retaler in the UK & Ireland Carphone Warehouse  carphonewarehouse com
» Dixons Travel operates in major UK arports and Dublin carphonewarehouse 1e
+ KNOWHOW 1s our market leading services brand Dixons Travel dixonstravel com
+ Geek Squad 1s the repairs and support provider for the KNOWHOW knowhow co uk
Carphone Warehouse Geek Squad geeksquad co uk
= PC World Business provides computing praducts and services
to business to business (B2B) customers PC World Business peworldbusiness co uk
Nordics Elkjop elkjop no
+ The Ellyop Group 1s the leading specialist electncal retailer across Elgiganten elgiganten se
the Nordics elgiganten dk
* Elkop and Lefdal stores operate in Norway, Eigiganten in Sweden  Gigantt gigant fi
and Denmark and Gigantt in Finland '
Lefdal lefdal com
* Phone House 1s a leading independent telecommunications
retailer in Sweden Phone House phonehouse se
+ KNOWHOW has now been launched in the Nordic region
Southem Europe Kotsovolos kotsovolos gr
+ Kotsovotos 1s Greece's leading specialist electncal retailer Phone House phonehouse es
+ Phone House stores operate in Spain where the Group 1s the
leading iIndependent telecommunications retaller Geek Squad geeksquad es

Geek Squad 1s the repairs and support provider for the Phone
House in Spain

Connected World Services

The Group has 25 years experence in the mobile industry and
several decades in consumer electronics, and has developed
sophisticated IT systems and operating processes to help
customers navigate through the extensive range of network
package plans and other ancillary products and services It has
also evolved bespoke customer refationship management tools
which enable services such as upgrade reminders, data storage
and tanff checks

Connected World Services s the B2B division that packages the
core systems, expertise and relationships into a range of services
and provides these to other businesses

Connected World Services organises its services nto five
product towers

Connected Retaling

Services and Support

Technology Platform
Product Solutions
- MVNO

connectedworldservices com
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Stratogic report

Chairman’s Statement

| am pleased to be reporting on a very encouraging first year
since the merger of Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retall
We have had a strong start, with pro forma Headiine profit
before tax nsing 21% to £381 million Progress has been good
across the board and in virtually all termtones, with excellent
market share gains in all core countnes in all key categones,
and record customer satisfaction numbers Some important
strategic goals have also been achieved, most notably the
disposals of non-core operations in France, Germany, the
Netherlands and Portugal In addition, it is good to see real
tractron with some key new clients in our Connected World
Services business including our agreement with Spnnt In
short, it has been a good year and the Board is pleased to
recommend a final dnvidend of 6 Op per share to be pad on
25 September 2015

At the same time, the team have made really good progress n
bringing our two great companies together Much has been
achieved on this vital journey and, in particular, It gives me
enormous pleasure o see so many fully-functioming Carphone
Warehouse stores doing so well inside CurrysPCWorld stores
up and down the country | believe that the team are doing
something that 1s both hard to do and relatively rare creating
a genuine rmerger of equals where the best parts of each
company are preserved

While this I1s very encouraging so far, | am also aware that
getting this nght 15 not optional We brought the busmesses
together because we believed that increasingly interconnected
custorners were going to require something new fromus a
powerful partner to help them nawigate these new technologies
Over the last year we have started to think about our customer
needs very hard and how we will address them gomng forward
- not only through the products that we offer, but also through
the services that we believe will bnng these products to iife
This 1s a long-term strategy but | am convinced that it wilt

bear frunt in the end and it 1s exciting to be at the forefront

of these developments

In recent years we have expenenced unprecedented changes
In cur marketplace, and this year Is not shaping up to be an
exception There 1s no doubt that technology 1s evolving,
consumer behaviour 1s shifing, the suppher landscape i1s
changing and, of course, in the telecommunications world, that
there are a number of important M&A transactions pending

We believe that change creates opportunity for us as
consumers turmn more and more to those who can offer
genuine impartial advice and service at very competitive prices,
and as supplers rely more and more on us to tell therr stones
fairly and well to their customers s our job to make
customers' lives better through technology, and, if we are
successful, this will lead to continued growth and success for
Dixons Carphone

Finally, | am conscious that all we have actveved - and ali of
our future - 1s down to the skills and commitment of our
people On hehalf of the Board and our shareholders, | would
Iike to thank them for their hard work and dedication

(L s

Sir Charles Dunstone
Chasman
16 Juty 2015
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Group Chief Executive’s Statement

} am very proud to be reporting on the first year of the newty
merged Dixons Carphone Group In eleven months we have
established the new organisational structures of the Group,
UK & Irefand, and Sweden, rolled out almost 250 Carphone
Warehouse SWAS, exited retail operations in Germany and the
Netherlands, signed matenal contracts in Connected World
Services, and launched a new MVNO in the UK under the iD
brand More importantty, dunng this tme we have also
delivered very strong trading, taken market share in all
terntones and delivered record customer satisfaction nght
across the business

The business has also had a strong first year financially We
have delivered PBT ahead of guidance, increasing pro forma
Headline PBT frorn £316 milhen to £381 million, resulting in
anncrease in pro forma Headhne basic EPS from 20 5p to
25 5p Pro forma net debt is also lower than expectation at
£260 million

In the UK & Ireland, Iike-for-like sales were up 8% (13% in Q4)
and EBIT grew by 26% to £306 million, reflecting strong
performances in both electncals and mobile In electricals,
white goods and TVs sold particularly well with customers
responding to our range, pncing and - above all - service
inibatives Our mobile business in the UK & Ireland also saw
very encouraging sales growth Postpay volumes and market
share continued to grow year-on-year in relatvely quiet
markets as the business benefited from the exit of Phones 4u
and successful product launches We are also - cautiously -
encouraged by the impact on ARPU from higher levels of
data usage

Also in the UK, we launched our new MVNO, 1D, in May
Enabled by an innovative [T platform, it will target a number

of specific customer segments, with a particular focus on
personalising plans with flexible tanffs and introducing shared
data tanffs, market-leading roaming and the re-introduction of -
already very popular - 12 month contracts 1D will also be
launching in Ireland later in the summer

Qur Nordics business had a good year with ike-for-like sales
up 4% EBIT dechined in sterling by 16% to £86 million but this
was largely due to the devaluation of the Norwegian Kroner
{£11 rmillon) We have a very strong business in the Nordics and
continue to gain share in all key markets We continue to focus
on prncing and new product and service offenngs, such as our
‘'epoq’ katchen range and the rollout of KNOWHOW In Sweden
we are building a cutting edge small box distnbution centre to
support the growth of multi-channel throughout the Nordics
and across the region we are expanding our range of private
label products We believe that these and many other initiatives
will continue to dnive profitable growth in the vears to come

Like-for-hike sales in Southem Europe were down 5%, but
exited the year up 8% in Q4 EBIT grew 40% to £14 million

As you are aware, this has been a time of some fludity in the
political and economic situation in Greece Nevertheless,
Kotsovolos gained significant market share and exited the year
back in profitability for the first tme in 5 years What the future
holds in the Immediate term is necessanly less certain, but with
areally excellent team and a strong market position, we feel
that this situation may end up proving the aphonsm that all
cnsis leads to opportunity  Meanwhile, the market in Spain
remains tough, but our stores saw improved trading dunng

the final quarter boosted by the distnbution of Mowistar quad
play offerings

In December we announced that we plan to deliver at least our
synergy target of £80 million by financial year 2016/17- one
year ahead of plan The ntegration continues to progress well
During the year we have announced our joint UK head office
and moved mito one head office In both Sweden and Ireland,
Integrated maost support functions, begun consultations on
moving our logistics and our reparr ¢centres and opened aimost
250 Carphone Warehouse SWAS We have opened a number
of co-branded Elgiganten Phone House stores in Sweden and
launched the Phone House in Norway In both cases the
performance of these stores has been very encouraging

The Connected World Services management team have put in
place a newly-configured organisational structure to deliver on
an atready strong pipeline and we now have the sales team to
develop our pipeline Post the year end we were very pleased
to announce a partnership with Spnnt in the US, and subject to
the successful completion of a pilot phase, we wili open up to
500 new stores, as well as a separate agreement to provide
services to support therr existing retail business In addition,
following the success of honeyBee in the UK, we are also
prepanng for launch in Canada

Qur focus on markets where we have scale and relevance led
to the decision to exit from our retail businesses in Germany
and the Netherlands, whilst retaining long-term contracts for
the provision of insurance services In these markets through
CWS On 16 July 2015 we also announced plans to dispose
of our operations in Portugal

A great deal has been achieved this year, but there 1s still
much to do Delivery options, [T investment, extending our
free warranty programme, further training for our colleagues,
completion of the integration, bulding on our MVNO and CWS
businesses, creating a new services business and even
stronger pncing in some temtones are just some of the
nihatves it our sights to build on our long-term sustainability
and grow the value of the Company

Dixons Carphone plec Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 5
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Group Chief Executive’s Statement

The consumer electronics and mobile phone landscapes

are In a constant state of flux - and never more so than today
Thus creates challenges of course, but also some exciting
opporturities The growth of smartphones, tablets and the
speed of intemet access both in and out of the home, together
with an increasing number of connected devices, are changing
the way people live therr fives, communicate, and use
technology This has made a number of new markets available
to Dixons Carphone, including wellness, secunty, content and
home management We are focused on building strong
posthons in these markets in the next few years

On top of this, the growing complexity and interconnectivity

of products means that customers are increasingly demanding
help and support throughout a product’s lifecycle, from
choosing the nght product at the outset through to installation,
connection, and repair This provides an increasing opportunity
for our Geek Squad and KNOWHOW services, as customers
ask for help in getting ther products working - and keeping
them working

Behund our end-to-end service operation we have a
comprehensive - and unique - infrastructure, mcluding
technical suppont, delivery, installation, repar and recychng
We plan to leverage this infrastructure to widen our services
customer base nght across our core markets

Finally, every team and every indiidual will have been affected
by the many changes that the crgarisation has navigated this
year | began by listing some of the many achievements we
have accomphshed in the year, but to do all this whilst ensuning
we did not take our eye off the ball 1s a testament to the
creatvity, skill, foritude and hard work of the very talented
men and women that make up Dixons Carphone 1 would like
to take this opportunity to offer my humble and heartfelt thanks
to them

Sebastian James
Group Chief Executrve
16 July 2015
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Our markets

The integration of connectmty, products and services was
central to the Merger rationale for Carphone Warehouse and
Dixons Retail into Dixons Carphone, and we operate across
a vanety of distinct marketplaces such as mobile, consumer
electronics, and business to business operations via the
Connected World Services dvision

In mobile, the Group 1s well placed, i particular in the UK,
to offer mpartial advice on a vast array of propositions The
markets in which the Group operates are served by maobile
network operators and mdependent and generalist retailers

In the UK we have seen a major market withdrawal with the
exit of Phones 4u As a result our market share improved, in
particular in the higher value post-pay segments The Group
15 positioned to improve this further, as the only naticnwide
mdependent channel with multi-year contracts with all the
major MNOs

Mobile telephony has evolved rapidly, from simple mobile
devices to sophisticated hardware with advanced computing
functionality There i1s & wide choice of operating platforms and
network options for customers, which makes the Group's
expert and impartial proposition particularly relevant

MNOs across Western Europe have been investing
signuficantly in the development of their 4G network
infrastructures 4G technology facilitates much faster
downloads, providing comparable levels of performance to
many Wi-F1 networks, and providing & much better platform for
streaming than 3G MNOs have seen significantly increased
levels of data usage, a trend which we see continuing as
network quality improves, and more and more devices become
capable of communicating with one another MNOs will
continue to roll out ther 4G networks, with nationwide
coverage expected In the UK by the end of 2015

To benefit from 4G services, customers need 4G-enabled
devices and as 4G network coverage iImproves in Westem
Europe, there 1s an incentive for customers to upgrade thear
services, providing a stmulus to the replacement cycle as
penetration of 4G devices and tanffs increase After several
years of downward pressure on ARPU, ncreased data usage
provides an exciting opporturity for MNOs

The intemet plays an important part of customers' purchasing
joumey for mobile The majonty of customers research online
before making a purchase Online sales continue to grow as a
proportion of sales and represent between 5% and 20% of
total retail sales for the Group’s markets Customers continue
to value the advice available within stores, on the many
choices open to them

The electncal retal market can be sphit between specialist
electrical retailers, such as Dixons Carphone, and general
retallers which sell certain electncal goods as part of a wider
offenng The market can also be broken down into two distinct
distnbution channels ‘assisted’ and ‘unassisted’ In the
assisted channel, specialist retailers, such as Dixons
Carphone, help customers through the buying process in the
form of product advice, add-on services, delivery and
nstallation The unassisted channel, which includes single
channel intemet retailers as well as general retailers, tends not
to offer all of these services

Specialist electncal retallers are the predominant destination
for customers in the European consumer electncal market
Buying grcups, general merchants and independents also have
a retail presence through stores and / or online The market i1s
served by a relatively small number of global manufacturers
supplying goods to focal, regienal, national and iInternational
electncal retallers

We have seen some significant shifts in capacity in many of
our rmarkets in recent years with some mass merchandisers
reducing space for electncal products, some single channel
internet operators de-emphasising certan segments, as well
as some specialists exiting the market These shifts have
helped us to gain market share and it underpins our view that
a strong service led multi-channel operation satisfies both
customer and suppler needs while delivermg a sustanable
business as customer shopping habits continue to evolve We
beheve further consolidation will ocour In some of our markets

The intemet has established itself as a fundamental part of the
retall landscape It bnngs enhanced product information as
well as price comparability It s becoming an important part of
the buying process for customers, particularly for large ticket
discretionary products Larger retaiters, with an integrated
mutti-channel ‘bncks and chcks’ offer, with scalable distnbution
and systems, together with proven after sales service and
support are increasingly attractve to customers Qur
collect@store service, where customers can order on the
internet and collect from a convenient store at a tme to swit
them, and our pay&coflect service, where customers can
access a wider range of products than 1s typically avallable in
therr local store for esther home delvery or later collection from
the store, are both proving to be increasingly popular

The UK and Nordic markets have high broadband penetration
and a matunng online sales platform The ncrease in online
penetration provides us with the opportunity to increase both
the range of goads on offer and the avalability of product
information Our multi-channel approach 1s well placed to
explot synergies between our Internet sites and stores

Innovation brings new products with mproved functionality
that dnve sales growth These include 4K Ultra High Defimtion
and Smart TVs, wearable technology, tablets as well as
converging products that combine the flexibility of a tablet with
akeyboard Content, such as social media, apps, digital media
and cloud computing, also help to dnive hardware innovation
and replacement Product sales are driven by structural shifts,
such as analogue to digital and standard format through to
Uttra HD television In addition, mnovation drives new service
requirements, Including TV installation, data backup, computer
set up and instructional Showhow teach-ins In this
increasingly complex world we believe our assisted sales
model is best placed to help customers navigate the market
and to help them choose a complete solution that best meets
their needs

Dixons Carphone pl¢ Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 7
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Our markets

Electneal products, and in particular ‘brown goods’, are
predominantly discretionary purchases However, increasing
penetration of digital technology in the home dnives faster
replacement cycles as these products become less
discretonary The economic backdrop also deterrmines
whether customers trade up or down Accordingly, the
electncal market tends to grow at a rate which 1s at or
exceeding the economy during years of econormic growth
While the opposite can be true dunng a downtumn, this may
be influenced by new innovation and products

The rapid innovation cycle may lead to pnce deflation in ‘brown
goods’ and computing, but also dnve volume as products
become more affordable and replacement cycles accelerate
For larger ticket items, the low frequency of purchases hmits
the impact of pnce deflation on total market sales as
consumers typically trade up to higher specification products
Qur ‘Customer Joumeys' are designed to explain the features
and benefits of the latest technology to customers and help
therm understand the reasons for trading up to these newer
technologies

The sale of ‘white goods’ 1s underpinned by the replacement
cycle Due to hugher costs of repar, it often makes better
economic sense for consumers to replace ‘white goods’
outnight rather than to arrange for their reparr The sale of ‘white
goods s also dnven by the dynamics of the housing market
as new construction, house sales and refurtnishment tngger
new purchases

We are one of the largest specialist electncal retaling and
services companies in Europe with leading market shares in
the UK, Ireland, the Nordic region and Greece We benefit from
long established and wadely recogrised brands In each of our
markets there are varying numbers of specialist retallers who
compete n the assisted market While we do compete agamnst
general retallers, this is usually imited to certan lower pnce
categones as these retallers do not offer the full range of
products, assisted sale or the other services we are able

to provide

Technology and the digsed world increasingly embed
themseltves into our customers’ ives through social media,
online gaming, watching movies on the move, sharng pictures
with others, backing up files in the cloud or controlling energy
efficiency The latest technology allows our customers to do |
all this and more with tablets, Smart TVs and apps The
ecosystems behind the current digital revolution are simplifying |
our customers’ lves Customers come to us not just for the

enabling technology, but to find a solution

Developments in mobile broadband technology will continue to '
transform lives and curment industry developments suggest that
everyday objects will increasingly be connected to the intemet,
in an ‘intemet of Things' The 'Intemet of Things' means that
people can manage home secunty or heating, or domestic
electronics through therr smartphones This phenomenon will
not only drnive mobile data growth, but also machine-to-
machine data growth With smartphones at the heart of this
evolution we believe that the Group i1s well placed

Selling connected devices requires a range of experience and
processes that many retailers find mpossible to emulate It can
be an expensive, complicated and difficult process The Group
comhines the connectmivity and product expertise of the two
former businesses at a crucial stepping-stone in the
daveloprment of the ‘Iintermet of Things’

Connected World Services aims to leverage the specialist
skills, operating processes and technology of the business to
provide services to third parties looking to develop their own
connected world solutions CWS already provides managed
services to a number of businesses and I1s actively explonng
further opportunities Connected retailing has become one of
the five areas of expertise, along with services and support,
technoclogy platform, product solutions and MYNO

8 Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15




CWS is active in five different areas summansed as follows

Surte of services Why so complicated? Example services Extsting chients
Connected Multi-channel * MNO and suppter + Sales processes and Samsung
Retailing consultancy and support relationships propostion design  Sprint
for connected product
and service propositions, Complex propositions Store format design
ranging from specific + Exposure to fraud » Employee bluepnnt
managed services Co and reward model
. mplex rermuneration
through to full reta structures + Customer fulfilment
partnerships and loyalty
« Need for highly trained 4
consultants
Services and  Provision of insurance * Regulation * Insurance and clam BT
Support services, including policy | Exposure 1o fraud management RBS
admlnlstratlon, claims « Trade-ins TalkTalk
Partnier Aviva admunustration and * Reparrs manufacturer
fulfilment, and prowvision accreditation + Repairs
of techmical support .
solutions for connected Delivery
devices + Remote technical
support
Technology Provision of technology  + Capialintensive nimtial « honeyBee assisted
Platform platforms and managed stages sales tool
services to support * Requires interfaces to + Activation services
Partner complex transactions, networks
Accenture connections to service * Web solutions
providers and customer ¢ Tracking senalised stock Data ity suite
refationship management Credit checkin secu
9 + Customer
relationship
management
Product Leverages Dixons + Scale 1s key to buying + Commercial TalkTalk
solutions Carphone's scale and power relationships The Good Guys
commercial relationships, . .
enabling partner retailers ir::ges:pply of popular Scale advantages
to source hardware * Purchasing benefits
» Rapid product cycles
MVNO Leverage Dixons = Significant upfront * Virtual mobtle

Carphone's expertise In
MVNO builds to
aggregate services via
white label

investment in platform

network provision

Dixons Carphone pls Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15
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Strategy and business model

The Merger of Carphone and Dixons brought two market
leading businesses together with an unnvalled offer for the
new connected world, as mobile, electnicals and connectvity
increasingly integrate The Group now has a unique
independent position in the UK for mobile telephones, offenng
impartial and personal service via the pioneenng tablet based
assisted sales tool Pin Pont

Furthermore, as evidenced by recent announcements in
Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal, we continue to be
relentless in managing our business portfalio, focusing on
temtones i which we are the market leader and growing
market share

This enables us to dnve the Group forward from a position

of strength with a focus on four strategic prionties By focusing
on these we can deliver not only a better business for our
customers and colleagues, but also better retums for
shareholders

The strategic prionties are

1. Continue to enbance and drive successful
and sustainable retail business models in a
mult-channel world;

2. Complete the integration process and achieve
our syneray targets,

3 Leverage our scale, our knowhow, and our unique
asset base to dnve growth in new product areas
including growth in services; and

4 Continue to develop the Connected World 1]
Services model and establish it as a matenal
contnbutor to eamings

Looking at each of these in tum

1 Continue to enhance and dnve successful
and sustainable retail business models in a
mutti-channe! world

The way n which customers shop continugs to evolve

Our customers tell us that they want advice, to expenence v
products and services and to ensure they are making the night
choices, particularly as these are often major purchases and, in
the case of ‘white’ and ‘brown goods', that the customer will
own for several years The intemet ermpowers customers with
greater access to information including product knowledge
and pnce transparency In mobile, we are unigquely positioned
in the UK to provide independent advice, meeting customer
requirements for imparhality, comparability and flexiility, both
online and in-store with the Pin Point tool In consumer
electronics, single channel intemet operators have a different
model whose principal advantage Is structurally lower costs
and which have histoncally been able to offer competitive
pnces versus store based operators By focusing on those
aspects that we, as a multi-channe! specialist, can offer
customers and suppliers we can elminate the cost advantage
that pure play intemet operators have historically enjoyed As

a result we are able to ofier customers very competitive pnces
against our competitor set and still be more profitable

There are four distinct actvities that we believe are the key
strengths of our multi-channe!, service-based model and which
will support our competitive advantage going forward

Work closely with suppliers to hamess benefits available
to our bustiness model Supphers want to ensure that
customers not only choose their brands, but also
expenence the benefits of the latest products As a
multi-channel operator we work with our suppliers to
ensure we can explan the benefits of these products and
demonstrate them to customers in our stores and our
suppliers support us in this work in a vanety of ways

Focus on complete solutions for customers The Pin Point
tool enables the personalisation of the mobile customer
expenence Using tablets in store, we ask customers a few
simple questions to help them find the nght deal The tool
will identify the prefemed network via its coverage checker,
handset and operating system, check bundle cptions
including data requirements and ensure this 1s future
proofed In consumer electronics, customers buy products
in order to achieve something, such as washing clothes, or
entertaining the children This does not just mean buying
the hardware, but increasingly includes delvery,
explanation and peace of mind through product support
and after sales services, as well as accesscnes and
eventually, recycling The conversations our colleagues
have In store with customers gives us an opportunity to
explatn the benefits of these solutions and sell more of
themn than our single-channel competition

Dnve our service proposition We need to be able to stand
shoulder to shoulder with our customers and for them to
know they can come to our stores and get knowledgeable
advice and great service to help them buy the nght
product They need to be confident that we will solve their
problem quickly and efficiently Geek Squad and
KNOWHOW in the UK offer customers services and
technical support that can help them with their product
throughout its lifetime

Reduce costs The scale of our operations across stores,
ranges, logistics, distnbution, repairs and services means
that we can continually improve processes to reduce

costs We have removed a constderable amount of cost
from the business over the last few years by making the
business stmpler, easier to operate and more efficient and
we remain relentlessly focused on managing costs to make
our business more efficient

10 Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15




2. Complete the integration process and achieve
our synergy targets

At our intenm results we were pleased to announce that our
synergies plan was firmly on track We confirmed the total
figure of £80 million and that this would be achieved a year
earlier than anticipated in 2016/17

We are acutely aware that the bulk of the synergies are to be
realised over the course of the coming two years Whilst we
have made fantastic progress, including our head office
integrations in the Group / UK, Ireland and Sweden as well as
the rollout of the SWAS programme we continue to implement
our plans to achieve our synergy targets

3 Leverage our scale, our knowhow, and our unique
infrastructure to dnve growth in new product areas
mncluding growth in services

The Merger allows us to expand and strengthen our
proposition to customers, our service capability and our
refationshup with suppliers to underpin and dnve even greater
advantage in the markets in which we operate

The Group has many best practices in each of ts business
dnasions and we are shanng them across the Group, such as
the co-branded Elgiganten / Phone House stores in Sweden,
new store formats, use of Pin Point, supplier retationships and,
to a kmited degree, own brands

Growing complexity and interconnectvity of products means
that custorners are increasingly demanding help and support,
not just In choosing the nght product, but also installation,
connection, support and repair Our Geek Squad and
KNOWHOW services are at the forefront of this in the UK and
we have started to roll out our KNOWHOW services across the
Nordics

We must continue to innovate new services to help customers
and to remain relevant to the way products and connectity s
evolving Behind our end-to-end service operation we have a
comprehensive infrastructure, including technical phone
support, delivery, instaflation, repair and recycling We can
leverage ths infrastructure to widen our customer base either
to customers who bought their products through a third party
(for example, our fault&fix computer service}, or for business
customers By doing this we can increase the effictency of
using this infrastructure and deliver even better value services
to our customers

4. Continue to develop the Connected World
Services mode) and estabhsh it as a material
contnbutor to eamings

We can leverage the specialist skills, operating processes,
technology and infrastructure of the enhanced group to
provide services to third parties to suppont therr connected
world solutions

The consumer electronics and mobile phone retail landscapes
have evolved significantly over the last few years In particular,
the growth of smartphones, tablets and the speed of ntemet
access both in and out of the home, together with an
increasing number of connected devices, are altenng the way
people Iive their ives, commurucate and use technology This
applies to a number of market segments, including health,
securty, content and home management Linked to this
market development will be a need for a raft of new services
that will ensure that these technologies work

Dixans Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 11

Strategic report




Strategic report

Strategy and business model

Business model

Our business model, driven by customer insight, compnses
three pillars underpinned by a low cost operating modet

In order to ensure we understand what products and services
our customners want, how they use the products they buy from
us and what they think of the service they get from us, we use
extensive customer insight This includes discussions at
customer panels, interviews, home wisits and detailed surveys
We use this information to build our ranges, improve our stores
and services and for other business decisions This is
supported by mystery shoppers, exit surveys and customer
feedback Durning the year our UK and Nordics busmesses
made considerable progress in customer satisfaction metncs
as we continue to improve the business

Taking each of the three piliars in tum, our mede! can be
descnbed as follows

Mutti-channe!
The shopping tnp for customers 1s constantly evolving

Our objective 15 to provide our customers with a seamless
and personalised expenence where convenence, ease of
navigation and simplicity are key in attracting customers to
shop with us whether it 1s online, In-store or a combination
of both

We constantly am to develop and improve our customer
joumey whether via our assisted sales tool Pin Point or by
improving stores, making them easter to shop in, with for
example, iImproved nawgation, better signage, enabling
customers to interact with products before they buy, as well
as good advice on features and benefits frorm our colleagues
Our websites are an integral part of the customer shopping
Journey In recognition of how custorner trends are evolving we
have made it easter for our colleagues, in particular within our
CurrysPCWorld stores, to access products and extended
ranges In store

Our training programmes combined with our preduct leaming
centres and customer joumeys provide our colleagues with the
nght tools to understand customers’ needs and to provide
them wath the complete solution to properly meet those needs
We will continue to improve the training of our colleagues and
the ways in which we can make them experts in the products
we sell For example they have recently undertaken a new
training programme focusing on selling multi-play

Products

Combining our custorner nsight with our market strength we
can make sure we have the nght range of products and
services n our stores to surt customers’ needs Our scale and
relatonships with suppliers means that we can work with them
to showcase the latest technology, connectwity and products
1n our stores with areas dedicated to key supplers

In consumer etectronics, own-brand products enable us to
offer customers greater choice and access to a range of
products at competitive pnces We have defined a clear
‘good, better, best’ brand range including Currys and PC
World Essentials, Logik, iWantit, Advent, Goy, and Sandstrom
brands We see particular opportunities in the area of
accessones and essentials with, for example, our own range
of Sandstrom cables

After sales services and support

Our customers need help with therr products, whether 1t be
delivery and installation, help keeping thesr products up and
running or repair should things go wrong Our business in the
UK & Ireland sets the benchrmark for our services infrastructure
under our Geek Squad and KNOWHOW brands, the latter of
which Is also available across the Nordics

We operate the largest network of two-man delivenes in the
UK with an average of 50,000 deliveries per week enabling us
to provide customers with the convenience of next day delivery
in a four hour time slot or the option of a free delivery at a later
date We reparr more than 1 million handsets per year and
provide over 11 million insurance or service agreements, carry
out approximately 500,000 computing set-ups per year and
take 125,000 technical support calls each week

Our Geek Squad and KNOWHOW teams in stores, i our call
centres as well as field technicians, can provide set-up and
upgrade services and online fix and back up services Our
market leading range of help and support services ensure a
customer has the backing of expertise and support that keeps
therr technology up and running Qur state of the art reparr
faciity in Newark 1s able to repar and retum a laptop in seven
days Our network of field technicians offer ‘white goods’
reparr in a market we estimate to be worth around £500 million
avyear

Through ownership of the service infrastructure we can ensure
the quality of service delivered to customers This, we believe,
provides us with a significant competitive advantage in
meeting the needs of our customers, as well as a revenue
stream not readily avalable to single channel online and mass
market competitors
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Our resources

+ Customers

* People

= Supplers

» Distnbution and logistics
« Store portfolio

* Intellectual property

+ Energy

» Cash and caputal
Customers

We are dnven to provide unparalleled expertise and services to
hetp customers and businesses navigate the new digital era
and one of our key values s we put the customer first, always

To delwver on this value and to ensure we continue to respond
to customers’ needs, we must listen and respond effectively
to thern We have comprehensive customer research
programmes spanning a vanety of tools including exit surveys,
mystery shoppers and focus groups as well as effective data
gathenng through, for example, our *Happy or Not’ tools
launched in our Elkjep business and now introduced to
CurrysPCWorld Within our Carphone Warehouse stores,

our Each and Every Customer Counts programme and Net
Promoter Scores (NPS) are integral to our intemal reward
system We are pleased that customer satisfaction scores
across the business are at record levels

Through this research, managed intemally and reviewed dally,
weekly and monthly, we have developed a clear and detalled
understanding of what we are doing well and more importantly
of where we can target further mprovernents Customers tell
us that they need us to deliver a strong combination of *Value,
Choice and Service' across all our shopping channels and it is
clear from ther feedback that mere and more, they recognise
that we are doing this We will continue to deliver easier, more
exciting places to shop for customers whether that be in store,
online or a multi-channel combination of both

Listening to customers extends into how we approach the
sales process in store Our unique training programmes
combined with our customer journeys, ncluding Pin Pomt,
are designed to ensure customers leave our stores with a
complete solution that i1s nght for them Doing this is a key
part of our ongoing strategy and delivery of a sustainable
business model, as well as enabling us to differentiate our
offer from competitors

By mantaining our absolute focus on the customer and
delivenng what they want in a retad environment that is
constantly evohving, we will continue to attract new
customers and retain existing ones

People

Dixons Carphone 1s an orgarnisation spanning Europe, with
over 40,000 colleagues in over 2,300 stores, offices, call
centres and distnbution centres and one of our key pronties
following the Merger has been to build one cutture, one vision
and one future

To support this we have launched our company values

+ We put the customer first, always

» We stand together as one

* We act bravely, challenge convenhon and do the nght thing
* We know everyone can make a difference

* We believe anything 1s possible

This supports a ‘culture of discovery' and faces head on the
changing environrment in which we operate and supports us In
cultivating a high performance environment where each
employee performs to the best of therr abuiity, working together
to achieve to ther fullest potential Our people are key to our
success and it 1s essenbal that colleagues are innovative and
creative, customer-focused and great at bulding relatonships

We are focused on improving every possible aspect of the
shopping journey, we want our colleagues to become famous
for service and retain customers for life by baving exciting
new stores, the best range at great pnces and untangling

the shopping tnp We are making good progress, however,
we must never be satisfied and we can and must make
further improvements to delight custorners and to outpace
the competition

We are focusing on bullding a career development framework
that rewards customer centnc behaviour and instils a sense of
pnde in our colleagues We now provide tailor-made
development programmes and support further education
qualifications for our colleagues throughout the business

Our development programmes use modules, traming
workshops and a dedicated e-leaming intranet service that
helps provide the skills colleagues need to succeed at every
level and career stage We are also launching a dedicated
training academy later in the year

We use our sophisticated tracking and measunng processes,
ncluding regular mystery shops and exit surveys, to measure
individual and store performance, and to ensure we reward
appropnate behaviours We also use a balanced scorecard
approach, based on the belief that engaged teams deliver
great service, which, in tum, delivers results for the business
We measure the people element of our scorecard using a
colleague engagement survey, which runs twice a year

DOunng the year we launched the first Dixons Carphone
Sharesave scheme giving employees the chance to own
a part of the Company and share in its success

Supplers

With our market-ieading positions, growing reputation and
being increasingly seen as the ‘go to' location for all the latest
technology, our relaticnship with suppliers becomes ever more
important as well as ever stronger Product sourcing offices
continually monitor current and future product cycles with
existing and potential suppliers

In a complex muiti-channel environment, suppliers trust us
with therr new product releases and stock allocations, as they
appreciate the supenor service and advice offered by our
stores and indeed our websites, as well as the exciting
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Our resources

environments offered by our transformed stores in which
customers can expenence their brands and products

We work closely with suppliers of all sizes to help them detver
the nght product for customers, through the forecasting and
planning stages to ensure we deliver the nght levels of stock
for custormers at the nght tme  Both the mobile and electncal
industries are charactensed by a number of large global
manufacturers, who account for a large proportion of our sales
However, we also source products from a large number of
smaller suppliers We seek to mantain strong relationships
with all of these suppliers, not just to source the nght product
for customers, but also to ensure the Group can purchase

the appropriate level of stock on favourable terms While we
utiise the Group's scale and buying power through an
intemational buying team, we also maintan strong
relatronships at a local! level

We continue to refine our own-brand ranges to suit all budgets
and tastes Our most notable successes have been the launch
of our own Sandstrom cables brand alongside our Essentials
ranges as key entry levet products in our ‘goed, better, best’
ine-up These products are sourced by the Group's teams
based in the UK and Hong Kong in collaboration with
manufacturers in, for example, Asia

Distnbution and logistics

The Group sees distnbution as one of the keys to success in
maintaining highly competitive margins and delivenng
outstanding, market beating service to customers We operate
a centralised systern of distnbution centres for each of the
regrons In which we operate This delivers significant
competitive advgntages. including reduced operating costs,
reduced suppher delivery costs, reduced stock volumes in
store, increased flexibility as to where to deliver and when,
and a more efficient home delivery network for both us and
our customers

While continuing to reduce costs, we are also constantly
raising the bar, both in terms of successful delivery and
installation rates, but also the range and guality of services
we offer customers natonwide In our Nordic operations
{Jonkoping, Sweden) and the UK {Newark), we operate two of
the largest distnbution centres of thesr kind in Europe In the
UK alone we now make 50,000 delivenes per week, ncluding
some 500,000 installations per year

Store portfolio

We operate a wide vanety of stores to suit the local customer
demographwes We operate many high street locations, small,
very popular cutlets in airport locations and ‘'megastores’ up to
60,000 sq ft, n out-of-town locations

We constantly review our store portfolio to ensure we have
the nght store for customers in the most competitive locations
As part of this ongoing review and following the rollout of
Carphone Warehouse SWAS, in the UK & lreland we are
cumently tnalling 3-in-1 stores to help determine the end state
property portfollo Separately we also continue to transition
Currys and PC World stores to a 2-n-1 format in the UK &
Ireland These stores allow us to offer the best of both worlds
to customers, attracting new fooftfall and often at a lower cost

In the Nordic region as well as Greece and Spain we also
operate a number of franchise stores This amangement allows
our brands to be present in a wider range of catchments, while
increasing the volume of purchases and therefore buying
power of the Group

Intellectual property

Within our Connected World Services dvision we have
developed our pioneenng multi-channel assisted sales tool
Pin Point powered by honeyBee We are also utthsing our
intellectual property to assist third parties, such as Samsung
and now Spnnt, in connected retailing

In the UK & Ireland we operate through Carpheone Warehouse,
Currys and PC World brands, in the Nordics through its
vanous Elkjep and Phone House brands and in Greece
through Kotsovolos and in Spain through Phone House
These brands are extremely well-established and respected

in their markets The Group also has two strong service
businesses, KNOWHOW and Geek Squad, aming to delight
customers from end to end while generating significant new
business opportunities

As well as our retall and service brands outlined above, we also
sell a range of own brand products such as Sandstrem, Gojl,
Logik, Essentials and Advent Each of these brands have
specific target markets defined in conjunction with our
customer research findings

Energy

Saving energy 1s good for the business, good for customers
and of course good for the environment We take energy
efficiency extremely seriously and whilst we have already made
progress in a number of areas, we are investing in a wider
range of imtiatives to significantly reduce our consumption
going forward These include Vanable Speed dnves to optimise
the efficiency of in-store heating, ventilation and arr
conditioning systems and new efficient flucrescent highting in

a number of stores Efficient LED lighting has been tnalied in
back of house areas which we intend to roll out to further
stores and the 65,000 sq ft Customer Call Centre in Sheffield
has been upgraded to LED lighting throughout

Cash and capital

It remains the Group's policy to maintain a strong capital base
so as to mantain investor, creditor and market confidence and
to sustan the future development of the business Through
careful working capital and balance sheet management, a
focus on cost reduction as well as efficient use of capital,
management s focused on ensuring we deliver a sustainable
business with strong cash generation

As a Group we need to make the nght choices as to how each
division utihses or preserves cash, whether it be in determining
ranges and stock held in store, growing mobile share with
accompanying working capital utlisabon or managing retums
and related processes

14 Dixons Carphone ple Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15




Key performance indicators

Financial and operational

Definition Performancs
Total Growth In total Headline sales The ability to grow sales 1s an important 2014/15 2013/14¢
Headline measure of a brand’s appeal to customers and its competitive position £9,936m £6.752m
sales* '
tike-for- Like-for-like sales are calculated based on Headhne store and internet 2014/15 2013/14!
hke sales sales using constant exchange rates New stores are included where they 6% 4%

have been open for a full financial year both at the beginning and end of

the financial penod Sales from franchise steres are excluded and closed

stores are excluded for any penod of closure during either period

Customer support agreement, insurance and wholesale revenues along

with revenue from Connected World Services and other non-retail

businesses are excluded from hke-for-like calculations Revenue from

Carphone Warehouse SWAS are included in like-for-hke
Market In line with the Group's strategy to be the leading specialist electncal and  Market leading
posthon mobile retailer in Europe, this 1s an important measure of how well positions in

customers are being engaged by the Group’s brands in each market UK & Ireland

Retallng operations should be, or be capable of becoming, the number Nordics

one or number two specialist electncal retailer in thesrr market, measured

by market share Greece
Headline Continued growth of Headline EBIT enables the Group to invest in its 2014/15 2013114t
EBIT* future and provide a return for shareholders Targets are set relative to £414m £359m

expected market performance
Headline Continued growth of Headline profit before tax represents a measure of 2014/15 201314
profit before Group performance to external investors and shareholders Targets are £381m £318m
tax* set relative to expected market perfformance
Free Cash The Group defines Free Cash Flow as net cash generated from 2614/15 20137141
Flow* operations, less net finance costs, taxation and net capital expenditure £(112)m £280m

and excluding certain discrete items such as special pension

contributions The management of cash usage, in particular working

capital employed in the business, optimises resources available for the

Group to invest inits future growth and to generate shareholder value
Retum on The Group calculates ROCE on a pre-tax and lease adjusted basis The 2014/15 2013/14t
Capital retum 1s based on Headline EBIT, adjusted to add back the estimated 20% N/A
Employed nterest component associated with capitalising operating lease costs
{ROCE) Capital employed 1s based on net assets including capitalised leases, but

excluding goodwill, cash, tax and the defined benefit pension obligations

The calculation 1s performed on a moving annual total in order to best

match the return on assets in a year with the assets in use dunng the

year to generate the return
Shareholder

Dufinition Pertormance
Headline basic The level of growth in EPS provides a suitable measure of the financial 2014/15 2013147
earnings per  health of the Group and its abtlity to dehver retums to shareholders 25.5p 20 Sp
share* (EPS) each year The Group targets growth in EPS commensurate with growth

iIn eamings
Total This metric provides a relative performance measure over the longer term 3 Yeer Compound Annual Growth
shareholder  of the Group's ability to deliver returns for shareholders The Group Dixons Carphone pic 44%
return (TSR}  previously used the FTSE 250 index but in 2015 changed to measure FTSE 350 Index 12%

itself against the FTSE 350 index reflecting the Group's increased
market capitalisation

*  Headlne perforrnance measures are as defined in the Performance Review These have been reported on a pro forma basis as if the CPW
Euwrope Acquisition and the Merger had occumred at the start of the comparative penod

T Headliine figures for the year ended 29 March 2014 have been re-presented to exclude the results of discontinued operations
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Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

The Group recognises that taking nisks 15 an mherent part of doing business and that competitive advantage can be ganed
through effectively managing nsk The Group continues to develop robust sk management processes, integrating nisk
management nto business decision making Risks have evolved for the Group as a result of the Merger A comprehensive post
Merger nsk assessment has been undertaken resuiting in a revised set of principal nsks The pnncipal nsks and uncertainties,
together with therr potential Impacts, are set out in the tables below along with an itlustration of what 1s being done to mitigate
them The Group's overall nsk environment is relatively unchanged since last year, notwithstanding changes to specific nsks

Specific nsks and potential impacts

Pnncipal nsk Specific nsks Potential impacts

1 Dependence on + The Group is dependent on relatonships with key suppliers + Reduced revenue and profitabrity
networks and key
supplers to source products on which availability may be limited + Detenorating flow

Changes in Mobile Network Operator (MNO) strategies in
relation to the Group, or more generally, and / or therr performance,
could matenally affect the revenues and profits of the business

+ Reduced market share

2 Consumer enwironment -
and sustainable
business model

Failure 1o respond with a business model that enabies the
business to compete against a broad range of competitors on
senice, price and / or range in a changing economy

Failure to respond effectively to changes in the industry,
economic and / or compettor landscape

Failure to accommodate changes in consumer preferences
and behaviours

Some markets may not have the scale required to compete
effectively aganst increased competition, although we are
exiting from some of these

Reduced revenue and profitability
Detenorating cash flow

Reduced market share

Loss of competiive advantage

3 Greek Exit from « Possible exit of Greece from the Euro could lead to a detenoration +  Reduced revenue and profitability
the Euro
n consumer confidence and disposable income resulting in a . Detenoraing cash flow
significant iImpact on our Greek business, Kotsovolos
4 1T systems and + Failure to invest adequately and appropnately in IT systems and + Reduced revenue and profitability
infrastructure infrastructure, or an inability to effectively integrate IT assets . Detenorating cash flow
across the Group constrans the Group's ability to grow and / or enorating
adapt quickly + Loss of competitive advantage
+ Akey system becorres unavaillable for a penod of time « Restncted growth and adaptability
* Reputational damage
5 Information secunty + Major loss / breach of customer, colieague, or business » Reputational damage

sensitive data

Vulnerablity to attack, malware, and associated cyber nsks
owing to under investment in pecple, systems, and
safequarding processes

Financial penalties

Reduced revenue and profitability
Detenorating cash flow

Loss of competitive advantage
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Example mitigating actions and related strategic pnonties

Principal sk

1 Dependence on
networks and key
supplers

Example mitigating acuons Relatad strategic pnoates
New mult-year commercial agreements with all the major MNOs + Sustanable retall business model Ina
have been agreed this year, which closely align interests and mult-channel world
drives value for both of us

Continuing to leverage the scale of operations to strengthen
relationships with key suppliers and mantain a good supply
of scarce products

2 Consumer environment
and sustainable
business model

Strategic and business planning takes into account varying « Sustanable retal business model Ina
economic scenanos, with ongoing monitonng by finance and muit-channel world
senior executives

Close scrutiny of product performance, trading results,
competitor activity and market share

Use of customer insight / advocacy to monitor success of
initiative and actions

Continued focus on dnving cost improvements through both
merger synergy and “business as usual” cost-efficiency intiatives

Ongoing evolution of cur multi-channel proposition

Differentiation from compstitors through strategic partner
relationships, Inncvative propositions, and high quaity
customer serice

Working to leverage expertise and scale to bulld partnarstups with
other retallers and businesses through Connected World Services

3 Greek Exit from
the Eurg

A number of exit scenanos have been modelled in order + Sustainable retall business model in a
to understand and rmitigate the potential impact on the multi-channel world
Group's business

Review of local funding amangements including factoning of
debtor recevables

4 1T systems and
infrastructure

Sigruficant investment being made in [T systerns and infrastructure, + Leverage scale, knowhow and unique
supported by ngorous testing processes asset base to dnve growth

Individual systern recovery plans in place in the event of fa:lure
which are tested regularty, with full recovery infrastructure avarable
for cnlical systems

Long term partnerships with ‘tier 1’ apphcation and infrastructure
prowviders

5 Information secunty

Investment in information secunty safeguards, monitonng, in-house  + Sustainable retal business model In a
expertise and resources mulyi-channe! wortd

Committee compnsing senior management responsible for
oversight, co-ordination and monitonng of Information secunty
policy and rsk

COngaing traming and awareness programmes for employees
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Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

Specific nsks and potential impacts

Principal nsk Specific nsks

Patentiat impacts

6 FCA Regulation » Falure to manage the business of the Group in compliance with
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) regulation to which the Group
15 subject in a number of areas ncluding the mobnle insurance
operations of The Carphone Warehouse Limited

.

Reputational damage

Financiat penalties

Reduced revenues and profitability
Detenorating cash flow

Customer compensation

7 Colleague retention + The organsational structure and related accountabilites
and capabiity restrict the ability to run the business effectively and adapt
to market change

« Failure to attract, develop and retain quality and depth of
necessary feadership and management talent

Reputational damage
Reduced revenue and profitability
Detenorating cash flow

Loss of competitive advantage

8 Business continuity * A major inctdent iImpacts the Group's ability to trade and business
plans are not effective continuity plans are not effective resutting in an nadequate ncident
and major incident response

response 1S Inadequate

Reduced revenue and profitability

« Detenorating cash flow

Reputational damage

Loss of competitive advantage

9 Health and Safety

Faiure to effectively protect customers and / or colleagues from
injury or loss of Lfe

Employee / customer injury or loss of ife

Reputational darnage

Financial penalbes

18 Dixons Carphone plc Antnual Report and Accounts 2014/15




Example mitrigating actions and related strategic pnonties

Principel nsk

Example mitigating achons Related strategec pnorities

6 FCA Regulation

Sernor management perform oversight, co-ordination and monitonng + Sustanable retal business model na
of governance, ensunng regulatory comphance and adherence to multichannel world
policy and monitonng of mitigating actions

Intamal committees and control structures to manage requirements,
to ensure appropnate complance (¢ g undertakung qualty assurance
procedures for samples of mobile phone sales} and to react swiftly
should issues anse

Actwe monitonng of changes in legislation / regulation

7 Colleague retention
and capability

Ongoing review to ensure appropnate and effective roles, + Sustanable retal business model ina
responsibiihes, and accountabilities mutti-channel world

Defined and standardised performance management frarneworks
n place, with talent and succession plans maintained and reward
algned to attract and retain the best talent

Store structures which prowide a clear career path for colleagues,
retaining and developing the best retail talent

Bonus plans which include components relating to bioth busmess
and personat performance

Continued improvements in the quality of training courses
and developrment programmas with specialist focus on core
business areas

8 Business continuity
plans are not effective
and major incident
response I1s inadequate

Business continuity and ¢nsis management plans in place and + Sustainable retal business medel in a
tested for key business locations mutti-channel world

Disaster recovery plans in place and tested for key [T systems
and daia centres

Cnsis tearn appointed to manage response to significant events

Major nsks insured

9 Health and Safety

Dedicated team responsible for ensunng health and safety nsks « Sustanable retal business modelin a
are understood, controfled and momtored aganst appheable muth-channel world
regulations, who report on a regular basis to senior management

Clear policies and procedures are in place detaling the controls
required 1o manage health and safety nsks across the business

Quality checks and factory audits for own-brand products
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Performance review

Highlights 13 months to 2 May 2015

Group like-for-like revenue®™ up 6% (UK & Ireland up 8% and Nordics up 4%)
Strong profit performance

- Group pro forma Headline PBTY of £381 mullion (2013/14 £316 million), up 21%
- Group pro forma Headline basic EPS™® 25 5p (2013/14 20 5p)

— Toftal statutory profit of £97 million {2013/14 £48 million) after Non-Headline™ charges of £188 million (2013/14 £55 milion)
which include a loss from discontinued operations of £114 million (2013/14 £10 million}

Strong balance sheet with year end pro forma net debt of £260 milion®™

Final dividend of 6 Op (2013/14 4 Op) proposed, taking tota! dvidends for the year to 8 Sp (2013/14 6 Op), up 42%
year-on-year

Integration progressing well, expecting to deliver at least £80 million of synergies by 2016/17, one year ahead of plan
Disposals of non-core operations in France, Germany, the Nethertands and Portugal

Pro forma results - continuing business

Headling revenue Headline profit / floss)
Local

2014115 201314 cumency  Like-for-like™ 2014115 2013114

Note Srmullion £rmdion “ change % change Emillion £milon

UK & Ireland @ 6,451 6,011 8% 8% 306 242

Nordics (5} 2,718 2,895 4% 4% 86 102

Southern Europe {6 637 768 (10)% 5% 14 10

Connected World Services m 130 78 67% N/A 8 5

Group 9,936 9,752 6% 6% 414 359
Net finance costs {33) 43)

Profit before tax 381 316
Tax {88) (80)

Profit after tax 253 236

Sea notes on page 21 for basis of praparation
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Basis of preparabion - pro forma information

On 26 June 2013 the Carphone Warehouse Group plc acquired the 50% of CPW Europe which it did not already own from Best Buy Co Inc,
and on 6 August 2014 an all share merger of Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retal pic (the Merger) took place The information in the
tughlights and performance review sections refer, unless otherwise stated, to pro forma Headiine™ information for continuing businesses,
reflecting the results of both Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retail throughout both the current and comparative penods as if the CPW
Europe Acquisition and the Merger had occurred at the start of the comparative penod

The Group has changed 1ts year end to be the Saturday closest 1o 30 Apnl The current year end therefore compnses the 13 months to 2 May
2015 for the Carphone Warehouse business with a comparative period of the 12 months ended 29 March 2014 in kne with previously reported
results As such the current year includes an additional five weeks of results from the Carphone Warehouse business The prior penod results
of Carphone Warehouse have been restated to exclude the results of its retail cperations in France, Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal
which are treated as discontinued operations following the decision to exit these businesses

Pror year comparatives for Carphone Warehousa have also been restated to reclassify the unwind of discounts for the tme value of money
on network commissions receivable from pro forma Headline EBIT to interest, in ina with the treatment in the cument penod and with the
classification in the statutory results This item had a vatue of £9 milhon for the pnor year and the reclassification has the impact of reducing
pro furma Headhne EBIT

Current penod pro forma results for the Dixons Retail business comprise the 12 months ended 2 May 2015 with a comparative peniod of the
12 months ended 30 Apnl 2014

Notes

{1) Headline resuits exclude amortisation of acqusihion intangibles, merger integration and transaction costs, CPW Europe Acquisibon related
iterns, Phone House France operating and closure costs whiist it formed part of the CPW Europe joint venture, net interest on defined
benefit pension schemes and discontinued operations {comprsing Virgin Mobile France and Phone House operations in France,
Germany, the Nethertands and Portugal) Such excluded items are descnbed as 'Non-Headline' For further details see notes 4 and
24 to the Group financial statements

{2} Pro forma EPS has been calculated essuming the number of shares existing at 2 May 2015, adjusted for the number of shares held by the
Group ESOT, apply from the start of the current and comparative periods

{3) Like-for-like sales are calculated based on Headline store and intemet sales using constant exchange rates New stores are included where
they have been open for a full inancial year both at the beginning and end of the financial penod Sales from franchisa stores are excluded
and closed stores are excluded for any penod of closure dunng either penod Customer support agreement, insurance and wholesale
revenues along with revenue from Connected World Sanaces and other non-retall businesses are excluded from like-for-like calculations
Revenue from Carphone Warehouse SWAS are included in like-for-like Like-for-like revenue reflects performance for the Carphone
Warehouse business for the 13 months to 2 May 2015 compared to the 13 months to 3 May 2014 and for the Dixons Retall business for
the 12 months ended 2 May 2015 compared 1o the 12 months ended 30 April 2014

(4) UK & Ireland compnses operations in the UK and Ireland and the Dixons Travel business

(5) Nordics compnses operations in Norway, Sweden, Finland, Denmark, and Iceland Pnor o the announced disposals of operations in
Germany and the Nethertands which previously formed part of this segment, it was named Northern Europe

(6) Southern Europe compnses operations in Spain and Greece This now excludes the results of Portugal which are presented as
discontinued operations

{7} Connected World Services compnses the Group's B2B operation which leverages the specialist skills, operating processes and technology
of the Group to provide managed services to third parties looking to develop their own connected world solutions

(8) Pro forma net debt reflects the consolidated net debt of the Group at 2 May 2015 including net funds recognised within assets held for sale
of £53 milion
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Group

Group pro forma Headline revenue was up 2% to

£9,936 million (2013/14 £9,752 milhon} and up 6% on a
local currency basis, with both including a 2% benefit due to
an extra five weeks of trading from the Carphone Warehouse
business Like-for-like revenue growth was 6% reflecting
growth in our UK & Ireland, Nordic and Greek businesses,
partially offset by performance in the Spanish market The
difference between the total revenue growth on a local
currency basis (adjusted for the addtional weeks from the
Carphone Warehouse business) and like-for-like 1s
predominantly due to a reduction in stores

Despite operating in a highly competitive market place, the
Group has continued to grow market share and maintain stable
gross margm across the year

Pro forma Headline EBIT was up 15% to £414 million (2013/14
£3539 million) drniven by the strong operating performance in
the UK & Ireland Pro forma Headiine profit before tax was
£381 million 2013/14 £316 million} reflecting the improved
EBIT and a lower interest charge year-on-year following the
redemption of the bonds previously held by Dixons Retail n
August 2014

As a part of the Merger we cammed out a thorough analyss of
the opportunities that combining the two businesses could
brnng and, as previously communicated, our stated target of a
minimum £80 million of synergies by 2017/18 has now been
brought forward by one year to 2016/17 Integration of the two
businesses continues to progress well with 244 new Carphone
Warehouse SWAS now open and our head office teams
combined and operating as cne We are also rationalising
down to one single head office focation in each of the UK,
Ireland and Sweden and we have announced the integration
of our UK logistics and repair centres to the legacy Dixons
Retail site In Newark

UK & lreland

The UK & Ireland had a very strong year with pro forma
revenue up by 7% to £6,451 mullion (2013/14 £6,011 million)
including a 2% benefit of the additional five weeks of trading
from the Carphone Warehouse business Like-for-like revenue
for the year was up 8% reflecting strong performances in both
electncals and mobile and the rofl-out of the Carphone
Warehouse SWAS which have delivered strong revenue
growth on existing floor space, contnbuting 1% of the like-for-
lke increase The difference between the total revenue growth
(as adjusted for the additional five weeks of trading from the
Carphone Warehouse business) and ike-for-like predommantly
reflects a reduction in stores

Pro forma Headhine EBIT up 26% versus last year, to
£306 milion The business continued to gain market share
with strong sales dnving increased profitabiiity

The electncals business had a very positive year supported by
record advocacy and customer net promoter scores and our
pricing being at its most competitive ever The peak penod,
which now stretches six weeks from 'Black Fnday' into the
new year, was particularly strong with both small and large
white goods, as well as large screen TVs, selling very well

Cur mobile business in the UK & Ireland also performed wel!
Postpay volumes and market share continued to grow year-
on-year, dnven by the exit of Phones 4u and some very
successful product launches Dunng the year all the major
networks have moved the majenty of ther customers onto
4G tanffs These factors have helped drive a better customer
experience and have led to higher data usage

In May 2015, the Group launched 1D, a new mobile network
focused on providing users with increased contract fiexibility,
greater access to free data roaming and competitively pnced
4G tanffs The initial performance of D and the customer
response, so far, has been very promising indeed

Nordics

Nordics revenue, expressed in Sterling was affected by a
significant movement on foreign exchange rates in the region
As a result pro forma Headline revenue in the Nordics was
down 6% to £2,718 millon (2013/14 £2,895 milhon) Pro forma
Headline revenue on a local currency basis was up 4%

Nordics pro forma Headline EBIT was £86 million (2013/14
£102 million) reflecting a negative impact of foreign exchange
of £11 milion and the investments noted below

The Nordics business has had a sound year, continuing to
consolidate and grow its position as market leader in all of the
countries in which it operates The business has mvested in
vanous areas dunng the year to strengthen its market position
further and drive custorner satisfaction which 1s at an alf-time
hugh i each of its countnes

The team has launched co-branded Eigiganten Phone House
stores with very positve results In addibon the ‘Epoq’ kitchen
business has provided very encouraging results with strong
revenue growth, driving market share and apphance sales

We expect that this operation will also provide opportunibes
n smart home and integrated products

The Phone House operations in Sweden encountered tough
trading conditions dunng the year, but its integration with the
Elgiganten business has been swift, dnving synergy savings
and we expect both the businesses to benefit greatly from
the Merger
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Southemn Europe

Revenue expressed in Sterling was affected by a significant
movement on foreign exchange rates in the region Pro forma
revenue on a local currency basis was down 10% including

a 3% benefit of the additional five weeks of trading from the
Phone House Spamn business The difference between the
local currency revenue growth and hke-for-ike predominantly
reflects the closure of stores in Spain explained below

Southemn Europe pro forma Headline EBIT was £14 million
(2013714 £10 million}

The business in Greece delivered strong like-for-like revenue
growth dunng the year, with most categonies performing well,
in particular large screen TVs The strong performance in this
market saw the business retum to profitabiity dunng the year
We do however remain very mindful of the uncertain economic
and political situation in the country and the effect this may
have on our business The team have been very active In
planning for every contingency

Our busmess in Spain continues to operate in a tough
marketplace Although it has been negattvely impacted by
these pressures, we have a strong rmanagement tearm in place,
which continues to innovate and develop the business During
the year we reached agreement with Telefonica to distnbute
the products and services of Movistar in our stores which has
been a positive force We have also focused the business
model to a greater extent on franchise operations and reduced
our own store portfolio In total we closed a net 35 stores
dunng the year reflecting an increase of 20 franchise stores
and a reduction in own stores of 55 These activities resulted
In restructunng costs and the disposal of some non-core
assets all of which have been included within pro forma
Headline results

Connected World Services

Connected World Services (CWS) pro forma Headhne revenue
was £130 million (2013/14 £78 milhon) with the increase
predommnantly reflecting the revenue from our Samsung
Experience Stores which launched at the end of last year, In
addition to the benefit of the additicnal five weeks of trading
from the legacy Carphone Warehouse business Pro forma
Headline EBIT was £8 milhon (2013/14 £5 mullion)

The CWS management team has worked hard dunng the year
to grow its strong pipeline and to build on relatonships with
blue-chip partners including Samsung, Aviva, RBS and
TalkTalk It has alsoc continued to develop its omni-channel
platform, honeyBee

On 2 July 2015, CWS announced that it had entered into an
agreernent with Spnnt Corporation, a leading US mobile
network operator, to open and manage Sprint-branded stores
in the US CWS will supply retail expertise to Sprint who will
niially open around 20 retail stores, and if this tnalis
successful, the parties will progress to a second phase which
will involve CWS investing equally with Spnnt in a joint venture
to support roll-out plans of up to 500 stores In the US Duning
the second phase, Dixons Carphone has agreed to invest up to
$32 million to obtamn a 50% interest in the new venture Dixons
Carphone will also provide support across the whole of the
Sprint estate as part of a wider know-how shanng
arrangement We believe this I1s a very exciting opportunity

for the future and provides a platform for the Group to retum
to the US marketplace
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Net finance costs

Pro forma Headline net finance costs were £33 milion
(2013/14 £43 million) The reduction in financing costs was
pnmanly due to the redemption of the bonds previousty held
by Dixons Retal on 21 August 2014

Tax

The Headline pro forma rate of tax for the full vear 1s 23%
{2013/14 25%)} This rate is higher than the UK statutory rate of
21% predomnantly reflecting higher statutory rates in the
Nordics and certain non-deductible costs pnmanly in the UK

Statutory results

The explanation of the Group’s results presented above 1s on a
pro forma basis as f the group structure following the CPW
Europe Acquisition and the Merger had been in place
throughout the current and comparative penods Group results
as reported in the financial information are prepared on a
statutory basis, consolidating the resutts of CPW Eurcpe from
26 June 2013 and Dixons Retaill from 6 August 2014 These
results are summansed below

Headhne income statement - continuing operations -
statutory basis

Non-Headline items

Headline profit before tax 1s reported before Non-Headlne
charges of £89 mulhon (2013/14 £51 milhon) These charges
are analysed below and are reported on a statutory basis with
the Dixons Retail business only consolidated from completion

of the Merger on 6 August 2014
201415 21214
Emillion Lmiliion
Headline profit before tax —
continuing operations -
statutory basis 376 128
Merger related costs {41) -
Amortrsation of acquisition intangibles {35) (13)
Share of JVs - France exit - 23)
CPW Europe Acquisition - {15)
Net pension interest {13) -
Total profit before tax - continuing
operations - statutory basis 287 77

2014/15 2013447
Imiliion £mithan
Revenue 8,255 1,943
EBIT 400 137
Net finance costs {24} 9)
Profit before tax 376 128
Tax {91) (25)
Profit after tax 285 103
Basic EPS 297p 18 6p
Diluted EPS 287p 18 3p

(1} Results for 2013/14 have been restated to reclassify the results
of the operations in Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal as
discontinued operations

Headline profit before tax increased from £128 million to
£376 milhon predominantly reflecting the inclusion of a full
penod of eamings from CPW Europe and the inclusion of
Dixons Retall results from 6 August 2014 The tax charge
increased from £25 mithon to £91 milion reflecting the higher
pre-tax eamings descnbed above

This in turn resulted 1n an increase 1n basic Headline EPS from
18 6p to 29 7p for the penod This EPS reflects the growth in
profit after tax explained above but also the fact that the
number of shares in issue approximately doubled following
the Merger

Costs incurred in relation to the Merger include transaction
costs of £9 million, predominantly reflecting banking and
professional fees, and merger integration costs of £32 milion
pnmanly baing professional fees, employee severance and
property costs associated with the itegration process Further
integration costs will be Incured dunng 2015/16 as the
integration of the two businesses continues

The charge for the amortisation of acquisition ntangibles was
£35 mitlion (2013/14 £13 muillion) with the cumrent penod
including a full 13 months of amortisation of intangible assets
recognised following the CPW Europe Acquisition and, since
6 August 2014, the amortisation of intangible assets
recogrused as a result of the Merger

Net pension interest was £13 million reflecting the charge
ncurred in relation to the Dixons Retall UK pension scheme
following completion of the Merger

Non-Headlne items included within Dixons Retal total

results in the penod pnor to the Merger compnsed £11 million
n respect of the acceleration of share-based payment
charges which vested on the Merger, £12 million of merger
related professional fees and £5 mitlion of merger integration
planning costs committed to prior to completion of the Merger,
£42 million of debt restructunng costs in respect of early
repayment of the bonds previously held by Dixons Retall,

£5 million of prowvision releases refating to discontinued
operations and £4 milion of pension nterest costs As these
items were incurred prior to the Merger they do not form part
of the Group’s consolidated resuits
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Discontinued operations

On 16 May 2014 the Group announced that it had entered into
an agreement to sell ts interest in Virgin Maobile France and
completed the disposal on 4 December 2014 for gross
consideration of £104 million and generated a profit of

£87 milhon

Following the Merger, the Group put in place a strategy of
focusing on market leadership positions, while engaging in
cther markets through partnerships with its Connected World
Services division The Group camed out detailed strategic
assessments of its Phone House operations, which led to the
decision to exit certain markets

+ Cn 15 Apni 2015, the Group announced that it had agreed to
the sale of its operations in Germany to Drillisch AG, a
leading mobife virtual network operator In Germany The sale
completed on § May 2015

+ On 24 April 2015, the Group entered into an agreement to
dispose of a majonty stake (83%) in its operations in the
Netherlands to Relevant Holdings BV, a company set up by
the shareholders of Optie! which has extensive telecom
retaling expenence in the Dutch market The sale completed
on 30 June 2015

+ On 16 July 2015, the Group announced its commitment to
dispose of 1ts operations in Portugal following the
completion of a strategic review dunng 2014/15
Discussions, which commenced with potental acquirers
dunng 2014/15, are advanced and an announcement
confirming details of the disposal 1s expected in due course

The closure of the Phone House operations in France, which
was announced in 2013/14, was completed duning the year
ended 2 May 2015 and 1s therefore now treated as a
discontinued operation

Pror to the Merger, Dixons Retail agreed to sell its

operations in the Czech Republic and Slovakia (Central
Europe) The net assets held for sale associated with this
business were included within the farr value of assets and
habilties acquired through the Merger and the sale completed
on 11 August 2014

The above businesses have been treated as discontinued
operations and a net loss of £114 mitlion {2013/14 £10 midlion)
has been recogrised in relation to them Comparative
information has been restated to reflect this classification

Cash and movement on net funds

The information provided below 1s on a pro forma basis and
aggregates the net funds / (debt} and cash flows of the Group,
Dixons Retail and CPW Europe, as though Dixons Retall and
CPW Europe had been 100% owned by the Group throughout
the current and pnor penods, to enable a complete
understanding of cash flows

Free Cash Flow - pro forma basis

2014715 201314
Cmiflion Errllion
Headline EBIT 414 359
Depreciation and amorhisation 14 170
Working capital {366) 5
Capital expenditure {186) (142)
Taxation (65) (64)
Interest an (53)
Other items 13 11
Free cash flow before restructuring
items - continuing operations (96) 286

Restructunng costs (16) (6}
Free Cash Flow {112) 280

Pro forma Free Cash Flow before restructunng was an outflow
of £96 milton (2013/14 inflow of £286 million) The Group
expenenced a working capital cutflow of £366 millon (2013/14
inflow of £5 million) on a pro forma basis with the year-on-year
increase largely reflecting timing 1ssues associated with the
change of year end and the day on which month end fell, as
well as the unwind of certain supplier funding arrangements
previously 1n place

Capital expenditure in the period was £186 millon on a pro
forma basis (2013/14 £142 million}, wath the year-on-year
ncrease reflecting significant capital expenditure on honeyBee
and investment in relation to merging the two businesses

Restructunng costs in 2014/15 relate to Merger integration
costs and primanly reflect professional fees and employee
severance costs

Funding - pro forma basis

201415 201314
Ermuflion Emillion
Free Cash Flow - pro forma basis (112) 280

Dwidends (52) {30)

Merger transaction costs (o0} -
Acquisitions and disposals including

discontinued operations (41) (441)
Pension contributions (28) {20)
Other tems - (6)
Movement in net funds / (debt) -

pro forma basis (323) (217
Opering net funds - pro forma basis™ 63 280
Closing net {debt) / funds - pro forma

basis® (260) 63

(1) Opening net funds in the curent penod reflects net funds for
Carphone Warehouse at 29 March 2014 and for Bixons Retail at
30 Apri 2014 Opening net funds in the pror penod reflects net
funds for Camphone Warehouse (including CPW Europe) at
31 March 2013 and for Dixons Retail at 30 Apnl 2013

(2} Pro forma net debt reflacts the consolidated net debt of the Group
at 2 May 2015 including net funds recogrised within assets held
for sale of £53 milkon
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At 2 May 2015 the Group had pro forma net debt of

£260 rmillion compared to prior penod pro forma closing net
funds of £63 millon Pro forma net debt at the end of Apnl
2014 for both businesses was £181 million

Free cash flow was an outflow of £112 million 2013/14 mnflow
of £280 mulhon} for the reasons descnbed above

Merger transaction costs reflect professional and banking fees,
the cash cost of share option exercises as a result of the
Merger and the cost of redeeming the bonds previously held
by Dixons Retail

Net cash outflows from acquisitions and disposals in the
current year were £41 milion reflecting the first payment of
deferred consideration for the CPW Europe Acquisition and
cash outflows in discontinued operations Cash flows in the
pnor penod were £441 million predominantly reflecting cash
flows associated with the CPW Europe Acquisition, as well as
those associated with discontinued operations

The Group has a total of £875 million of commutted borrowing
facilities compnsing i} a £625 million multi-currency term and
revolving credit facility, and 1i} a £250 mullion revolving credit
facility, both of which mature in Apnl 2017 The £625 million
facility s split into two tranches a £400 million revolving
tranche and a term loan tranche of £225 million The term loan
was amortised by £25 milion dunng the pencd and 1s due to
reduce by a further £50 million on 30 June 2016 These
faciities mature in 2017 and we expect to complete refinancing
of our facilities dunng 2015/16

Goodwill

The goodwill of £2,629 millkon ansing from the Merger reflects
the fact that the value of Dixons Retarl 1s based on its cash
generating potentizl rather than its existing assets and the fact
that many of its key strengths, such as ils scale and expertise,
do not represent intangible assets as defined by IFRS

Pensions

The IAS 19 accounting deficit of the defined benefit section

of the UK pension scherne of Dixons Retal amounted to

£486 million at 2 May 2015 compared to £429 million at the
date of the Merger on 6 August 2014 The assumptions

used for determining the accounting valuation use a consistent
basis to that adopted within the financial statements of Dixons
Retail for the year ended 30 Apnl 2014 and which build from
the most recent actuanal valuation as at 31 March 2013, which
was completed dunng the penod being reported Contnbutions
dunng the penod under the terms of the deficit reduction

plan amounted to £28 million on a pro forma basis

{2013/14 £20 millron)

The deficit has increased largely as a result of the changes in
financial assumptions which determine labilities, partially offset
by an increase in the asset values

Dmidends

The Board declared an intenm cividend of 2 S5p per share, up
from 2 Op per share last year The intenm dividend was pad
on 23 January 2015

We are proposing a final dividend of 6 Op per share, taking the
total drdend for the year to 8 5p per share, a 42% mncrease on
the previous year (2013/14 & Op} The final dividend 1s subject
to shareholder approval at the Company’s forthcorming Annual
General Meeting The ex-dnidend date 1s 27 August 2015,

with a record date of 28 August 2015 and an intended final
dvidend payment date of 25 September 2015

Going concern

A review of the Group's business activities, together with the
factors likely to affect its future development, including
consideration of the contnuing uncertainty in Greece,
performance and position, are set out within this Strategic
report, including the nsk management section The financial
position of the Group, its cash flows, lquidity posttion and
borrowing faciibes are shown in the balance sheet, cash
fiow statement and accompanying notes to the Group
financial statements

The directors have reviewed the future cash and profit
forecasts of the Group, which they consider to be based on
prudent assumptions Based on these forecasts, the directors
consider that it 1s appropnate to prepare the Group financial
statements on the going concemn basis

Humphrey Singer
Group Finance Director
16 Juty 2015

28 D:xons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014115




Corporate responsibility

Dixons Carphone 1s committed to ligh standards of
corporate and soctal responsibiiity across the Group

We recognise good sustamnability practices make sound
business sense, helping us to achieve our corporate
objectives, fulfil our business plan and mmnimise costs

For Dmons Carphone, sustainabilty 1s about strengthening our
business by way of meaningful engagement with stakehalders,
reducing our mpact on the environment and benefiting the
communities in which we operate As we grow we will continue
to listen to, and leam from our stakeholders and stnve to
reward them with consistently transparent and positive
outcomes and expenences

What we care about
Qur pnonties are to

* Prowide a safe and healthy environment for employees,
customers and visitors 10 our sites,

+ Engage colleagues through rewarding workplace
environments and careers,

« Continually improve customer service and satisfaction levels,
* improve operational energy efficiency,
* Reduce our impact on the environment,

+ Cut costs and raise revenue through improved waste
recycling,

+ Enhance and promote our customer proposition in relation
to product reuse and recycling,

« Monitor and reduce carbon emissions,

- Offer safe and reliable own-brand products achweved as
a result of our expert technical knowledge with products
sourced from manufacturers which are audited against
our ethical requirements, and

+ Engage stakeholders through the support of community
actvity and chantable causes

QOur approach to sustainabilty means taking business
decisions that reflect these pnonbes, based on our values
and guided by our values and code of business ethics

People

Good people are pivotal to our success and therefore our
biggest nvestment They are both the foundation and face of
cur business and key to continued innovation and delivering
excellent service to our customers

We place a huge emphasis on attracting and retaining the nght
people We listen to, and work with, employees to help them
reach therr full potential while bulding a diverse, rewarding
ervironment where they feel empowered and inspired to help
us grow and succeed

We are working to be recognised as an employer of choice
and aim to reward colleagues faily, providing equal
opportunities, personal development and training

Our employee benefits packages are regularty reviewed to
rernain attractive and conducive to the recruitment and
retention of talented individuals Colleagues are encouraged
to participate in our SAYE Scheme to build a personal stake
in the business Owr first combined Dixons Carphone SAYE
scheme in the UK and Ireland was launched with 20% of
colleagues electing to join

We work to achieve high standards in employment practices
and have a comprehensive suite of employment policies and
procedures, which we regularly revew These policies include
guidance on being family fnendly through to colleague dispute
management, diversity and equal opportunities

We have a dedicated Corporate Responsibility function and
are a member of the UK Govemment's All-Party Parliamentary
Corporate Responsibility Group

Our Values

Cur culture supports the discovery of new and better ways of
working, two-way communication and the speedy resolution of
concerns and quenes

We are cultivating a high performance environment where each
employee performs to the best of therr ability, working together
to actueve untold possibilities

Our Dixons Carphone Shared Values are
We put the customer first, always
+ Everything starts with the customer

+ It's how we start every day, every conversation, every
new idea

s It’s how we win
We stand together as one
+ We love to win |t feels great

« We treat everyone on our team as family, our supplers
as partners

+ We act with humility, respect and kindness
We act bravely, challenge convention and do the nght thing

* We embrace the unknown, are pacey, ambitious, but
never reckless

* Never scared to fall, it’s how we leam

+ When faced with a difficult decision, we do the night thing
We know everyone can make a difference

= The best ideas come from unexpected sources

+ Great people with passion and determination

+ Do a great job and you'll feet you can buld an amazing
career at Dixons Carphone

We believe anything 1s possible

+ We make the s/mpossible possible, every day by achieving
the unthinkable

+ Opporturities always le ahead
» We enjoy celebrating success
» We're never complacent, *Great job  What's next?”
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Corporate responsibility

The Dixons Carphone Ethical Conduct Policy appfies to all
employees and relevant managers are required to sign an
annual statement to confirm their compliance

Our employees’ performance and engagement 13 measured via
a balanced scorecard, and alongside our values and strategy,
this scorecard is used to run our business, help us to make the
right decisions and recogrise success Thisisdoneata
company, market and on an indwidual level

One Dixons Carphone Team

One of our key prionties post-Merger 1s to bulld one cutture,
one vision and one future A major step towards this s locating
support centre colleagues in one site

The decision to choose Acton as our mamn support function
site was made based on a set of cntena which included square
footage, car parking facilites and access to public transport

We will refocate up to 1,000 colleagues from our Hemel
Hempstead site by November 2015, before the site closes on
31 December 2015

Qur Acton site remains fully functional while refurbishment
work takes place This i1s aided by the introduction of Smart
Working - a flexible approach to time spent in the office,
designed to dnve greater efficiency and effectiveness as well
as creating a more fluid working environment We are building
a workplace taillored for the needs of our people

'‘Change Champions' for each function have been identified
to help the move run smoothly and all colleagues have been
surveyed for thewr input and are being cormmuricated with
throughout the process

We are working to achieve the following design pnnciples
+ One Dixons Carphone Team

» Tech Enabled colleagues

*+ Flexibility and Healthy Work-Life Balance

* Improved facilities

+ A wvibrant working environment

Colleague Communications

We run a comprehensive colleague engagement programme
based on our belef that an engaged workforce will deliver a
great customer expenence, resulting n strong financial results
Our key aims for thes programme are to fully integrate our
workforce and insti! pnde in working for Dixons Carphone

September will see the launch of a colleague engagement
survey across the Group, administered by an external provider
Colleagues will have the opportunity to say how they feel about
working for Dixons Carphone and this feedback will be used

to develop iniatives to ensure our company I1s a great place

to work

In the UK & Ireland we are continung to integrate onfine
communications channels to provide modem and effective
platforms with an emphasis on collaboration and peer-to-peer
communication We will continue to produce ‘Connected’, a
hard copy employee magazine, which launched on the day of
the Merger and 1s a key channel! for shanng news and
company progress

Strengthening Capabilihes

To help our people to grow therr careers at Dixons Carphone
and develop the skills needed to perform well in their role and
help to grow our business we provide formal training, on the
Job expenence and management coaching

We have a leaming strategy to support our business sirategy
and individuals have regular one-to-ones and a formal review
twice a year with therr manager to assess thetr performance
and set clear goals and development plans for the year ahead

Across Dixons Carphone around 96,000 learming hours were
recorded last year with over 80% of this learning completed
online This year, we launched our Retail Academy for all new
store colleagues joining our business We alsec run talent and
leadership development programmes to develop high
achievers and to improve leadership skills across our
management population

Health and Wellbeing

Through the promotion of employee welibeing, we am to
create a happier, healthier and more productive workforce,
at the same time as reducing time off through sickness and
ensunng optimum levels of energy and resilience

Healthy Iving 1s encouraged through a number of inihatives
and facilibes On-site gyms are avarlable in many of our main
support centres and a new fitness centre 1s ptanned as part of
the refurbishment of our Head Office building in North Acton

Relaxation rooms where employees can watch TV, play pool,
play video games or take time out are provided in Support
Functions along with on-site restaurants offenng a range of
foods, which are reviewed regularly to ensure they offer a
balanced menu

Our Employee Assistance Programme, which is avallable 24/7,
1s avallable to all our employees and offers a range of
information about 1ssues such as stress and nutition

A number of products and services are also available to
support employees, such as private medical insurance This is
also available to ther close family at subsidised rates Dental
insurance and a Health Cash Plan are also avatlable at special
corporate rates for employees who wish to participate

Specific areas of the busmess also offer support in other ways
too For example, at our Support Centre in Acton a
physiotherapist comes i regularly and offers treatments to
employees at reduced rates
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Average to Awesome

This wellbeing intiative focused on twelve employees from
otr UK busmess with the aum of transforming therr overalt
aptitude to health and fitness. With the help'of a dedicated
pefsopal trainer and tallored nutrition plan, we recorded their
combined weight loss at 30 Tkg aver the 12 wesk penod
These employees developed a strong bond and have
continued positive changes to their lifestyle habits, resulting
in the easing of conditrons such as breathlessness and type
2 diabetes In Individuals, while all twelve are enjoying
increased energy levels and enhanced perfonmance We are
Tepeating this programme again in 2015 ntroducing the
latest wearable technology

Ly

Equal Opportumities

The Group 1s committed to equality of opportunity across all of
its employment practices throughout the Group We strive to
prevenrit unlawful discnmination in the workplace on the
grounds of sex, race, disability, sexual onentation, religion or
relgious belief, age, mamage and cwil partnership, gender
reassignment, pregnancy and matemity We promcte an
hanest and open environment and encourage colleagues with
concems to report issues to us ether directly through bne
managers or via an independent, confidential integnity line

Disability

We are committed to providing colleagues with equal
opportunities, from recruitment to training and development
We encourage applications from individuals with disabilities
who can do the job and candidates will be considered for
each role they apply for Every effort is made to retain
disabled colleagues in our employment includimg making
any reasonable readjustments to ther jobs, workplace

or envtronment

Diversity

We appreciate the benefits a diverse workplace brings,
including, but not restnicted to gender diversity and the
importance dversity plays in achieving the nght mix of skills,
knowledge and expenence our organisation needs to reach
its potential

Diversity in terms of age and gender remains a key
performance indicator Statistics for the UK, Ireland and
Nordics are as follows

All smployees Senlor managers Drrettors

Number % Nurnber %  Number %

Male 27803 71% 254  72% 10 77%
Female 11,157 29% 99  28% 3 2%

Customers

Every deciston we make 18 dnven by our ambition to provide
unparalleled expertise and services to help customers and
businesses navigate the new digital era

Each and Every Customer Counts progtamme

Our Each and Every Customer Counts (EECC) programme 15
supported by a full sute of customer insight measures, driving
daily, weekly and monthty improvements in our customer
expenence Each employee 1s accountable on some level for
our lead custormer measure Our NPS features in all our intemal
reward schemes and I1s central fo our company balanced
scorecard We have seen NPS improvements of 9% year

on year o March 2015

We run a weekly and maonthly EECC dash board with key
measures and targets laddenng up to NPS and completing our
omni-channel customer joumey Our customer Insight
programme collects feedback from over 850,000 customers
per year via each of our channels and touch points Feedback
mechanisms include mystery shopping, exit surveys and SMS
feedback via text messages immediately following a customer
purchase This programme allows us to track a further 15
customer KPIs, out of which seven hit or exceeded targets for
the year and a further four showed improvement

Our govemance programme for customer expenence sits at
executive and senior leve! within our business, underiining its
importance to our strategy and day to day thinking Weekly
Voice of the Custormer meelings are used to implement
mprovement plans when performance targets are not

being reached

We want to be the preferred brand and within our key target
market we have seen an 8% improvement year on year for the
three months to Apnl 2015 Our ulttrmate goal s to dnve both
preference and real loyalty with our customers Improving
customers' value for money 1s also cribical in a highty
competitive market and agam we have seen significant
improvements on value for money ratings across the year
within our key target customers, with a 16% imgrovement
year on year
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Customer retenbion 1s ancther measure we take very senousty,
reflected by beating our target by 6% Qur customer
expenence plan has identfied key areas for mprovement and
we have invested heavily to fix these We constantly
communicate with customers through dedicated panels and
every new infative starts with customer msight This year we
ran over 100 customer focus groups using a combination of
qualitatve focus groups and co-creaton sessions Large
quantitative and online surveys are also run for additional data
and customer review sites are tracked and used to inform how
we can continually improve

We have been recognised by customers and independent third
parties for the customer expenence we stnve to create for each
and every customer QOur rating on Trust Pilot 1s now 7.2/10
and 1s the highest in the mobite industry

Carphone Warehouse Customer Service Awards include
BT Retail Week Technology Awards Best Customer
Expenence for Pin Point, Mobile Industry Awards Best
High Street Retaler, Mobile Choice Awards Best High
Street Retaler, What Mobile Awards Best Services and
Reparrs for Geek Squad

KNOWHOW

At the KNOWHCW Caontact Centre in Sheffield we support
the UK & ireland retaul customer base on behalf of both the
Currys and PC World brands in every step of ther joumey
with our business

Pnor to purchase owr Sales team support with product
selection and advice, post purchase we have teams to support
every step of the way from Delivery enquines to Techmical
advice including our dedicated Careplan Tearn

Our team of over 1,300 colleagues support customers seven
days a week, with our Technical homeworking team covenng
365 days around the clock for support with PC and
connectivity 1ssues Across the teams n our busiest week this
year we handled enquines from over 300,000 customers and
have significantly improved our response hmes across all
areas of contact, with particular focus on our Social Media
and Email channels

We offer a great career path across Home Services, with
Apprenttcesiips in our Technical team, through to a Pathway
programme for all colleagues, giving all of our team an
opportunity to develop ther career, through to becoming an
expert colleague, before moving into coaching and line
management roles Many of our First Line Managers,
Customer Operations Managers and indeed our leadership
team have followed a career in such a way, there are no Iimits
to a career acrass our business

Woe ask our team to work with a simple three stage process
1 Understand the customer need or concem

2 Propose a solution product or service

3 Thank you and feedback

We work to ensure we are fair and reasonable in all proposed
solutions for our custormers and ask our team to always
constder how we can Improve our process to delver clear and
consistent responses

]

Across our E-Commerce and Insight teams we work with
Reevoo, one of the leading independert Customer Review
sites to share customer reviews of our services and over the
past § months we have scored 78% for Customer Service
from over 18,000 customer reviews

'

Contact Centres are known for working within a framework
built upon Average Handlng Time for a response and within
the KNOWHOW site we have changed the way we look at this
‘AHT’ measure We coach our colleagues on taking the
Appropnate Handling Time with every customer, allowing us to
train our colleagues to handle custormers more personally as
we stnve to never leave a customer to fend for themselves

We also provide SMS surveys to our customers across our
sites to define the Advocacy, Care and Knowledge scores for
our colleagues and use these as cntical KPls to improve
process and performance for the future

This year KNOWHOW and Carphone Warehouse colleagues
will work closely to understand their strengths and define the
future support modetling for our new business across our
entire Contact Centre Portfolio We now have over 2,500
Contact Centre colleagues supporting our customers

Information Secunty

The Group s commuitted to protecting both electronic and
physical Information from unauthonsed access, processing,
modification or destruction There are a number of pieces of
legislation relevant to information secunty to which the Group
adherss, including the Data Protechon Act 1998 and EU's Data
Protection Directive 95/46/EC The Group has a dedicated
information secunty team Secunty controls and awareness
remain an area of significant focus for the Board

Data protection

The Group has a responsibility to ensure all information 1s
collected, stored, processed and disposed of in a secure way
In the UK, we are required to adhere to the UK Data Protection
Act 1998 This legislation was enacted to brng UK faw in line
with the EU Data Protection Directive, which is applicable to
the rest of the Group’s European markets The European
Cornmission 1s In the process of implernenting a European
Data Protection Regulation which will supersede the Directive
Ahead of the adoption of the new regulation, the business 1s
working closely with the Group Data Protection Officer to
prepare for the changes in this area The Group 1s committed
1o the on-going moritonng of ts data protection pohices

and procedures, and the implementation of improvements
where necessary
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Environment

Energy Management

Dixons Carphone continues its advanced activities surounding
energy efficiency Our portfolio continues to be predominantly
supplied through half hourty metenng which allows us to
monitor our sites accurately, minimise wastage, optimise

our efficiency and invest with energy efficiency projects in
targeted areas

As we move into 2015/16, we are working to extend this
half hourty monitenng programme to over 600 Carphone
Warehouse stores

To realise immediate benefits, our energy efficiency
programme continues to utilise internal capital expenditure
funding for energy efficiency projects We continue to explore
new technologies and advanced strategies to assist m our
programme of energy reduction and through 2014/15, a further
£1 4 milion has been invested in new energy efficiency
imtiatives including

1 Vanable Speed dnves have rolled out to a further 80 Currys
and PC World superstores to optimise the efficiency of
their heating, ventilation and ar conditioning systems

2 New efficient fluorescent ighting has been fitted 1n
27 large Currys and PC World superstores

3 Energy-efficiency projects have been completed in an
additional 26 stores to further optirnise our energy usage
which include fine adjustments to temperature set points,
controlled heating and hghting strategies and the
installatien of hghting controls

4 Efficient LED highting has been tnalled in back of house
areas which we intend to roll out to further stores

5 The 65,000 sq ft Customer Call Centre in Sheffield has
been upgraded to LED hghting throughout

The resulting reduction in our energy consumpton from the
above initiatives will be approximately 7,000 mWh per annum
and will reduce our carbon emissions by over 3,500 tonnes of
CO: in the next year

Energy Efficiency Inthative

Dxons Carphone 1s dehghted to have been selected to
participate m the Department of Energy & Climate Change -
EDR {Energy Demand Reducton) pilot scheme This inthatve
15 inked to the large scale rollout of energy efficient LED
Iighting to one of our 750,000 sq ft Nationa! Distnbution
Centre buildings in Newark It represents our largest
investment in a single energy efficiency project to date and

1s on schedule to complete by September 2015

Our water leak detection programme continues through
consumption analysis to highiight iregulanties and ensures
optimum efficiency

Carbon Management

Dunng Phase 2, year 1 of the Carbon Reduction Commitment
(CRC} energy efficiency scheme, Dixons Carphone combined
reported emissions show a reduction against 2013/14 of
approximately 7% which represents a reduction in excess of
9,000 tonnes of CO:

Dixons Carphone will merge its reporting against the Carbon
Reduction Commitment (CRC) energy efficiency scheme for
2015/16 Reporting for 2014/15 will be completed in line with
previous years under Dixons Retall plc (CRC registration
number 8584817) and Carphone Warehouse Group plc
(CRC registration numnber 6030144)

Green Energy in the Nordics

We have made the decision to implement the exclusive

use of ‘Green Energy’ produced by hydropower and wind
turbines across our sites in the Nordics At present, energy 1s
denved from nuclear and oil (fossil) sources which generate a
GO, output of 42,604 tonnes per annum This inthative will
drarnatically reduce this figure Each store will receve a
certificate as proof of the environmental contnbution and we
will use this in national, regional and local rmedia to promote
our green profile

Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP)— due to the merger and the
associated challenges of identifying a complete baseline year,
the Group will not be participating in the Carbon Disclosure
Project for 2014/15 We are currently considenng whether to
respond to the CDP Climate Change Information Disclosure
questonnaire and the CDP Road to Pans 2015 Commitments
in 2015/16

Dixons Carphone plec Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 31

Strategic roport




Strategic report

Corporate responsibility

Mandatory Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Reporting

This section provides the emission data and supporting
information required by The Companies Act 2006 (Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013, Part 7
Disclosures Conceming Greenhouse Gas Emissions

This report covers the international operatons of the Group,
including the UK & Ireland, Nordics and Southem Europe
Operational control has been used to determine crganisational
boundary All scope one and two emissions are Included
except where noted

The GHG emissions for the Dixons Retall business are

2014/15 2013114
Tonnes of increase / Tonnes of
€O,  [decraase) CO:
Category / squrce of emissions emitted! % amitted™
Emissions from
combustion of fuel® 18,019 182% 15,239
Ermissions from operation
of any facility 3,132 T747% 1,793
Emissions from purchase
of electnicity 97,129 (45% 101,757
118,280 (0 4)% 118,789
201415 2013/14
Tonnes Teonnes
of CO» ol COy
emitted per  emitted per
1,000sqnt  1000sqH
of floor of flopr
area area"
Intensity measure 702 697

The GHG emissions for the Carphone Warehouse business
are

2014/15 2013/14
Tennes aof Increase / Tonnes of
CO.  (decrease) Co:
Category / source of emissions emitted™ % ermitted™
Ermissions from combustion
of fuel 3,058 336% 2,289
Emissions from operation of
any facility 548 72% 511
Emissions from purchase of
electricity 33,690 08% 33,408

37,206 30% 36,208

2014745 201314

Tonnes Tonnes

ot CO: of CO;

emitted per  emitted per

1,0008q#t  1000sqtt

of flaor of floor
area™ area™

Data
1770 unavaitable®

Intensity measure

{1) Exclusions compnse Franchises as they do not {all directty under
the Group's operational control Emissions from Carphone
Warehouse's retal operations in France have been excluded as an
agreement in principle has been reached for the sale of Dixons
Carphone’s operations in thus termtory Following Dixons
Carphone's announcements on 15 Apnl and 24 Apnl, business

nterests in Germany and the Netherlands have been included
w this 2014/15 GHG reporting, howaver will be excluded from
future reporting

(2) Emussions generated within properties occupied by the Group
but operated by the relevant landlord and refngerant data from
Normdics are excluded as data was not avalable (although this
1s estimated to be approximately 1% of total ermissions for
the Group}

{3) Emissions from the combustion of fuel compnises an increased
data set due to xentified wider scope from 2013/14

{4} Overall floor area of the Dixons Retanl business s estimated to be
16,845,934 sq it (2013/14 17,052,000 sq ft) and the calculations
use the methodology set out in DEFRA’s updated greenhouse gas
reporting guidance, Environmental Reporting Gurdelines {ret PB
13944), 1ssued n June 2013

{5) Woe have synchromised the emissions intensity measure for the
Carphone Warehouse portfolio to tonnes CO: emitted per
1,000 sq # of floor area for this reporting year As such,
an intensity measure companson against last year would be
difficult, however, this will allow data to be merged n future
Overall floor area of the Carphone Warehouse business 1s
estimated to be 2,106,753 sq ft and as with Dixons Retall, the
calculations use the methodology set out in DEFRA’s updated
greenhouse gas reporting gudance, Environmental Reporting
Guidelines (ref PB 13844}, 1ssued in June 2013

{6} 2014/15 Carphone Warehouse GHG reporting includes emissions
frem directly owned and leased vehicles, company cars, and
delivery fleats which were not included in 2013/14

Waste and recyciing

We have dniven sustainability and efficiencies through refuse
and recycling across the Group In the last year, 76% of
matenal generated by our stores now goes to recycling
schemes and not into fandfill

We now backhaul our recyciables from 386 CurrysPCWorld
stores, an increase of 239 stores year on year, to our recycling
machinery In Newark Stores retum these recyclable matenals
via the return leg of the delivery vehicles In addition to
cardboard, polythene and expanded polystyrene we recycled
from our stores last year, we have extended the programme to
include paper recycling As a group we arg now one of the
UK’s single iggest recyclers of expanded polystyrene

We have increased the volume of card, expended polystyrene
and polythene recyclate processed from our customer service
centres and Newark sites by 25% or 1,347 fonnes

In the Nordics we participate in natonal take-back schemes,
in addition to handling waste at store and home delivenes
There are also stnet procedures in place for sorting and
reporting in all markets

Waste Electncat and Electronic Equipment (WEEE)

Over 66,000 tonnes of WEEE was recycled in 2014/15, which
15 an increase of 5,000 tonnes (8%) on 2013/14 Our volume
reprasents over 15% of the total UK WEEE market We
recycled over 1 2 million white goods last year and backfilled
over 10,000 trailers that would have returmed to base empty

We have allowed a wide range of re-use companies and FRN
chanties access to all 16 of our CSC depots to select white
goods units they feel are reuseable resulting in over 60,000
units last year being diverted from a scrap yard for destruction
to be cleaned, refurtished and reused, for example, by low
income families in many different regions of the UK Not onty
1$ there a social benefit to reuse, it also has an environmental
benefit and saved around 6,000 tonnes of carbon
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The Group processed 16,381 handsets and 248 non-mohila
items, with the proceeds paid nto the CPW Foundation to
support chantable actwity

The total WEEE collected in the Nordics 1s 93,606 tonnes with
a recovery rate of 77% matenal, 22% thermic / incineration
and 1% landfill

Transport and Delivery

Our Home Delivery Fleet continues to grow in response to
increasing demand We camed out 1,426,577 delivenes in
2014/15 by our operated fleet compared to 857,630 In

2013/14 The fleet covered 19,871,184 km which is an increase
of 32 8% year on year, with CO; ermissions at 9,311 tonnes, an
increase of 44% on last year These increases are due mainly
to the higher proportion of delivenes camed out on our own
operated fleet versus fleet operated by our franchises, in
companson to last year

We took delivery of a further fifty 7 5 tonne Euro 5 vehicles -
the last batch we will procure before switching to the new Euro
6 vehicles in line with new emissions legislation These vehicles
have been fitted with forward facing cameras and tracking
which has also been rolled out to our white goods reparr vans
to help us with accident reduction initiatrves  Also this vear, we
consobdated the Carphone Warehouse branch delivery fleet
with a specific element of the Currys and PC World branch
delivery network utiising the existing fleet, enabling us to
realise some of the benefits of the combined network

Combined DHL Fleet
Although our carbon emissions are up year on year, we have
driven efficiencies on the combined DHL fleet

Fleet emissions are at 16,311 tonnes for 2014/15, this 1s an
ncrease of 11% year on year with miles driven also up 11%
at 14,041,859 Transported volume 1S up by 12% year on year
and 31% over two years Cube detivered per mile driven has
decreased by 1 14% Overall combined trailer fill is up by
103m? per vehicle year on year or 1 79% This efficiency has
saved an additional 500 road tnps

For 2015/16, we will look to capitalise on year on year and two
year performances and progress A complete review of the
existing tractor and trailer fleet has been undertaken and we
will rernove and replace older traslers We will also introduce
more premium cube trafers into the network with a greater
carrying capacity and are involved in on-going discussions

In relation to tractor units As part of our on-going Network
Design review for 2015/16, strategic locations will be
introduced to allow us to reduce our stem mileage from

the central distnbution point tn Newark

In the Nordics, the number of kilometres dniven from our
Nordic Distnbution centre to stores 1s 11 85 million which
15 up 2 5%

Suppher relationships

We are committed to upheolding and respecting human

nghts While we do not operate a separate human nghts policy,
these values are reflected in our equal opportunity practices
throughout the Group and in our ethical policies and

processes We expect all our suppliers to operate in a far

and honest way towards ther employees and those wath
whom they do business

Chanty and Community

Strategic report

We am to be a responsible member of every community
we do business in, whether it's by match-funding employee
fundraising, community instiatives or chanity partnerships, we
will implement new 1deas to make a positive impact locally

The business contnbuted a total of £935,000 to chantable
causes in the UK & lreland and a further NOK 1 @ million |
(£154,000} in the Nordics

Get Connected |
Dixons Carphone continued Carphone Warehouse's long term

support of Get Connected This registered chanty is the UK's

only free, confidential helpline for under 25s who need help

with any 1ssue, providing support and counselling for those

experencing problems with mental and emotional health

Young people can access Get Connected by phone, email,

web-chat or text They may also use WebHMelp 24/7, the onling

help directory

Last year we raised £323,000 for Get Connected through
activities such as Carphone Warehouse Race to the Stones,
a supplier quiz, Give As You Eam and indmdual colleague
fundraising The majonty of these funds were raised through
the Dixons Carphone Chanty Dinner and Auction

In 2014/15 Dixons Carphone also contributed £160,000
to accommodate the Get Connected helpline service In
office space

We have worked closely with Get Connecled to reduce ther
dependency on our business As a result, the chanty has I
secured funding from The Cabinet Office and The Department
of Education and continues to grow its trading mcome

In response to business dermand, Get Connected now offer
remote helpline volunteenng opportunities for local
commurities and employees, including those with mobilty
restnctions who are prevented from participating in many
traditicnal forms of volunteenng

In 2014/15, Get Connected helped 250,000 children and young
people in cnsis which s an increase of 100,000 year on year

Dixons Carphone Foundation Chanty Dinner and Auction
March 2015 saw our first joint fundraising event in aid of our
new Dixons Carphone Foundation This event was supported
and attended by suppliers and partners from across the
business, raising a record breaking net total of £427,000

Thss figure includes a donation of £213,000 by Dixons
Carphone after we pledged to triple the income taken

dunng the live Auction

From these proceeds, Get Connected received £214,000,
Tablets for Schools wili recetve £200,000 with £14,000 being
paid into the Foundation to support causes that leverage
technology to address social 1ssues
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Tablets for Schools

We believe the use of technology in education can inspire
children with a Iifelong love of leaming, motivate them to know
rmore and empower independent thinking Tablets for Schools
1s a registered chanty behind the largest independent research
programme in the world into the use of 1 1 technology to
transform education

The real benefits have been defined, the mayor issues for
schools uncovered and robust data around pedagogy,
attainment, cost savings and the impact on behaviour /
attendance Is being gathered

In 2014/15 Dixons Carphone continued its support of the work
of this chanty, donating a total of £210,000 The Company also
made the chanty a loan of £150,000 in heu of ncome from our
Chanty Dinner and Auction

In January 2015, Tablets for Schools refaunched as
Techknowledge for Schools with the aim of helping schools
by providing a united wision and blueprint for the successful
deployment of technology in education to transform
learning outcomes

The Dixons Carphone Foundation

The Foundation s a fundrarsing account established under the
Charities Aid Foundation (registered chanty number 2588389)
for the benefit of the chanty or chanties selected by Dixons
Carphone and approved by the Chanties Aid Foundabon

This account was set up in March 2015 to deliver our ambxtion
of making lives better through technology The Dixons
Carphene Foundation will also facilitate employee match-
funding applications and one off donations to emergencies and
disaster funds

Through the Dixons Carphone Foundation, employees can
apply for support with sponsorship The Foundation will match
the amount an employee has raised for their chosen chanty by
up to £100 or £300 for a team fundraising for the same event
In 2013/14 we donated £36,000 to a vanety of causes through
the CPW Foundation

We are in the process of closing the CPW Foundation and
transfernng the balance of £41,000 to the new Dixons
Carphone Chanties Aid Foundation (CAF) Account

The DSG intermational Foundation

The DSG intemational Foundation i1s a chanty i s own nght,
registered with the Chanties Commussion For the ime being
we will continue to operate chantable activities through our
new CAF account Dixons Carphone Foundation

Dunng 2014715, a total of £73,000 was transacted through the
DSG intemational Foundation for Children in Need The
balance of this account stands at £18,000

Give As You Eam

We encourage employees to contnibute to chanties of their
choesing through our payroll giving scheme In 2014/15 Bixons
Carphone employees donated a combined total of £49,000
benefitting a wide range of causes

Other chantable support

Dixons continued therr support of Children in Need enabling
colleagues across our store, service and logistics networks
to get behing fundrarsing efforts for a nabonally branded
fundraising event that supports causes across the UK and
local to therr places of work As a result of a number of
activities, total fundraising and donations to Children in
Need were £75,000

Senior Dixons Carphone executives took to the tennis courts
for a chanty tennis toumament at The Queens Club raising
£50,000 for the Dallagho Foundation and therr work to inspire
and change the lives of young people through sport

Our Sheffield Contact Centre supported the live Comic Relief
television appeal by taking donation calls 150 colleagues,
fnends and family gave up therr free time to take £62,000

in pledges

The Company responded to the Ebola Cnsis at the request of
the World Health Orgamisation (WHO) through the provision
of 200 fully functioning smartphones, allowing WHO field
operatives to collect key data in real tme in Sierra Leone,
Guinea and Libena The gift in kind value to our business

was £20,000

Carphone Warehouse Race to the Stones

On 19 and 20 July 2014 over 1,600 public participants ran,
trekked or walked 100km from Chmnor in Oxfordshire along
the Ridgeway to the ancient stone circle in Avebury This was
the first tme Carphone Warehouse sponsored a chanty
sporting event and over 130 employees signed up to get fit
and raise over £45,000 for cur chanty partner, Get
Connected Sponsorship of this event continues for 2015
as the Dixons Carphone Race to the Stones Qver 250
employees from across Dixons Carphone will take part,
many of them tnalling wearable technology for training
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Spnng Onhne

This inihative run by the chanty Digital Unite, aims to help the

6 4 milhon people who are digitally excluded in the UK
Carphone Warehouse's sponsorship in 2014 enabled this work
to continue and amphfied the work of the chanity resulting in

a 426% increase (32,800 views) I traffic to our branded
smartphone and tablets area of the Digital Unite website

We saw a five-fold increase in store partictpation year on year
providing us with the opportunity to engage with the over 50's
and establish trust i a rapidly expanding market with no
previous brand loyalty The Spnng Online taster sessions
created a unique way in which to show prospective customers
how to use products through employee engagement and
initrated an advocacy through staff, attendees, event holders
and communities across the UK

Outside the UK

Elkjop continues to support the Red Cross Water for Life
(Vann for Livet}) project and donated approximately NOK

1 9 muflion (£154,000) to the Red Cross Water for Life Project
dunng 2014115

Key Performance Indicators

The performance critena reported above are largely focused
on the Group’s UK & Ireland and the Nordics businesses which
represent 92% of the Group revenues from continuing
operations in the period

This strategic report was approved by the Board and signed
on its behalf by

& .
Sebastian James Humphrey Singer
Group Chiet Executive Group Finarce Director
16 July 2015 16 July 2015
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Board of directors

Sir Charles Dunstone - Chairman N

Sir Charles Dunstone 1s the Chairman of Dixons Carphone and
the Nominations Committee He 1s the founder of Carphone
Warehouse and was chairmnan of Carphone Warehouse since
28 January 2010 He was chief executive officer of Old
Carphene Warehouse from 1989 to 2010 where he led its
growth to become one of Europe’s largest independent
telecommunications retailers Sir Charles was also appointed
chairman of TalkTatk in 2010 He was a non-executive director
of Daily Mail and General Trust pic from 2001 untd 2012 and a
non-executive director of Independent Media Distnbution Plc
{now Independent Media Distribution Limited) from 2002 until
2011 Sir Charles has been chaiman of The Pnnce's Trust
since 2009 and a mermnber of its Council since 2000 Sir
Charles s a partner in Freston Road Investments LLP and
also chairman of Royal Museums Greenwich

Roger Taylor — Deputy Chairman R

Roger Taylor s the Deputy Chairman of Dixons Carphone and
was appointed deputy chairman of Carphone Warehouse on
24 July 2013 From 28 January 2010 to 24 July 2013 he was
chief executive officer of Carphone Warehouse Dunng this
time he was responsible for new business development,
strategic intiatives and investor relations He was chief
financial officer of Old Carphone Warshouse from 2000 to
2010 where he played a key role in the growth of Old
Carphone Warehouse across Europe and the construction and
completion of the transactions with Best Buy He was also a
director of Virgin Mobile France until its sale in 2014 and non-
executive deputy chairman of TalkTatk from 2010 untl 2012

In addition Roger 1s a partner in Freston Road Investments LLP
which invests in a number of private businesses including
Student Castle Ltd, Five Guys UK Ltd and Housesimple Ltd
amongst others

Sebastian James - Group Chief Executive

Sebastian James was apponted Group Chief Executive of
Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of
Dixons Retail with Carphone Warehouse He joined Dixons in
April 2008 and held vanous roles, including group operations
director pnor to his appointment as group chief executive in
February 2012 Before joining the Dixons Group, Sebastian
was CEQ of Synergy Insurance Services Limited and gained
wide retall expenence as strategy director responsible for
developing and implementing the tumaround strategy at
Mothercare He started his career at The Boston Consulting
Group Sebastian 1s also a non-executive director of Direct Line
Insurance Group plc and trustee of the chanties Save the
Chuldren and Techknowledge for schools

Andrew Harnson - Deputy Chief Executive

Andrew Hamson was appainted Deputy Chief Executive of
Dhxons Carphone on 6 August 2014 Before this, Andrew had
been with Carphone Warehouse since 1995 and became a plc
board member 1n 2008, a role he held until the formation of the
joint venture with Best Buy in 2008 Andrew played key roles in
establishing the TalkTalk business and in expanding the highly
successful Best Buy Mobile operation in the US He also
retained responstbility for both the Carphone Warehouse

and Phone House operations and, in 2010 he was apponted
Chuef Executive Officer of the Best Buy Europe joint venture
Following the ending of the joint venture in 2013, Andrew
became Group Chief Executive of Carphone Warehouse plc
Andrew 15 a trustee of both Techknowledge for Schools and
Get Connected

Humphrey Singer - Group Finance Director

Humphrey Singer was appointed Group Finance Director of
Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014, upon completion of the
merger of Dixons Retail and Carphone Warehouse He was
appointed group finance director of Dixens Retail in July 2011
and joined the Dixons board in September 2011 Since joining
the Dixons Group in 2007, he has held a number of finance
roles, namely finance director of Currys, group financial
controller and finance director of the UK & Irefand dmwision
Pnor to joning the Dixons Group, he was finance director of
Coca Cola Enterprises (UK} Ltd and prior to that also held a
number of finance roles at Coca Cola Enterpnises (UK) Ltd
and Cadbury Schweppes plc

Katie Bickerstafte - Chief Executive UK & Ireland

Katie Bickerstaffe was appointed an exectitive director of
Pixons Camphone on 6 August 2014, upon completion of the
merger of Dixons Retall and Carphone Warehouse She
retained her responsibilities as chief executive of UK & Ireland
for the Dixons business on merger and from 1 May 2015
assumed responsibiity for tha whole UK and ireland business
Katie joined the Dixons Retall plc board on 20 February 2012
and was the chuef executive of UK & Ireland for the Dixons
Group She joined the Dixons Group as director of marketing,
people and property In June 2008 In addition to her executive
posttion she 15 also non-executive director of Scottish and
Scuthem Energy plc Previously, Katie was managing director
of Kwik Save Ltd and group retall director and group HR
drrector at Somerfield ple Her earlier career included roles at
Dyson Ltd, PepsiCo Inc and Unilever pic

Graham Stapleton - Chief Executive Carphone Warehouse
UK & Ireland

Graham Stapleton was appointed an executive director of
Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014, upon completion of the
merger of Dixons Retail and Carphone Warehouse He has
retained his responsibilities as chief executive officer of UK &
Ireland for Carphone Warehouse He joined the Carphone
Group in 2005 and has held a variety of board posttions in both
the UK and Europe Graham s also a Trustee at the children's
chanty Make a Wish Previously Graham worked for Kingfisher
plc and Marks and Spencer plc
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John Gildersleeve
Independent non-executive director R N

John Gildersleeve 1s non-executive director of Dixons
Carphone and 1s Chair of the Remuneration Committee He
joined the Carphone Warehouse board on 28 January 2010
and was non-executive deputy chairman untit July 2013 He
was a director of Old Carphone Warehouse untl 2010 and
non-executive chaman from 2005 He was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Briish Land Company PLC in
September 2008 and became charman in January 2013 He
has been a non-executive director of TalkTalk since January
2010 {Deputy Charman since 16 May 2013) and was
previously an executive director of Tesco ple untl he retired
in February 2004 He is also a non-executive director of
Pick n Pay Stores Limited, which is isted on the Johannesburg
Stock Exchange in South Afnca John is also non-executive
deputy chairman and senior independent director of Spire
Healthcare Group plc

Andrea Gisle Joosen
Independent non-executive director R N

Andrea Gisle Joosen was appointed as a non-executive
director of Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014, upon the
completion of the merger of Dixons Retall and Carphone
Warehouse Andrea joined Dixons Retail ple as a non-
executive director on 1 March 2013 She 1s currently chairman
of Teknikmagasinet, a non-executive director of ICA Gruppen
AB, James Hardie Industnes plc, Mr Green & Co pic and
BillerudKorsnas AB Former roles include non-executive
director of Lighthouse Group, chief executive of Boxer TV
Access AB in Sweden and managing director (Nordic region) of
Panasonic, Chantelle AB and Twentieth Century Fox Her early
career Involved several semor marketing roles with Procter &
Gamble and Johnson & Johnson

Tim How
Independent non-executive director R

Tim How was appointed as a non-executive director of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014, upon completion of the merger of
Dixons Retaill and Carphone Warehouse Tim joined Dixons
Retail plc as a non-executive director on 8 September 2009
and became senior Independent director on 9 May 2012 He
holds a vanety of external board positions, including chairman
of Wobum Enterpnses Limited, serior independent director of
Henderson Group plc and the Norfolk and Norwich University
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Chairman of Roys
(Wroxham} Limited Former roles include chairman of Rayner
and Keeler Limited and Enotna Wine Group, and non-executive
director of Peabody Capital plc Tim served as chief executive
of Majestic Wine plc, where he led the management buy-out of
the business and subsequent Alterative Investment Market
(AIM) fiotation Prnor to this, he was managing director of
Bejam Group plc

Jock Lennox
tndependent non-executive director A

Jock Lennox was appointed as a non-executive director of
Dixons Carphone on 6 August 2014, upon completion of the
merger of Dixons Retail and Carphone Warehouse and 1s Char
of the Audit Committee Jock joined Dixons Retail plc as a
non-executive director on 10 January 2012 He s a Chartered
Accountant and has extensive accounting and finance
expenence having worked for over 30 years (20 years as a
partner) for EY (formerty Emst & Young) where he led a number
of relationships with International clients and held a number of
leadership positions in the UK and globally He retired from EY
n 2009 and has subsequently acted as a non-executive
director of a number of companies He was also a council
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland
He is cumrently a trustee of the Tall Stups Youth Trust and non-
executive director of A&J Mucklow Group ple, Enquest plc and
Hill and Smith Holdings plc He 1s sentor independent director
of Oxford Instruments plc

Baroness Morgan of Huyton
Independent non-executive director A

Baroness Morgan of Huyton i1s a non-executive director of
Dixons Carphone and joired the Carphone Board as a non-
executive director on 28 January 2010 She was a non-
executive director of Old Carphone Warehouse from 2005 to
2010 From 2001 to 2005, she was director of govemment
relations at 10 Downing Street Pror to this, Baroness Morgan
was political secretary to the Pnme Minister from 1897 to 2001
and was appointed Minister for Women and Equalities in 2001
In 2006, she was appointed as a board member of the Clympic
Delvery Authonty She is an advisor to the board of the
children's chanty ARK and a member of the advisory
committee of Virgin Group Holdings Limited She was
previously chair of Ofsted

Gernry Murphy
Independent non-executive director A

Gerry Murphy 1s a non-executive director of Dixons Carphone
and joined the Carphone Board as a non-executive director on
2 Apnl 2014 He s a former Deloitte LLP partner and was
leader of its Professional Practices Group with direct industry
experience in consumer business, retail and technology, media
and telecommunications He was a member of the Deloitte
board and chairman of its audit cormnmittee for a number of
years and also charman of the Audit & Assurance Faculty of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
Gerry was appointed as a non-executive board member of the
Department of Health on 1 August 2014 and a non-executive
director of Capital & Counties Properties pic on 1 March 2015

Key:

N Nominations Committee
A Audit Committee
R Remuneration Committee
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Corporate Governance report

Chairman’s introduction

It 1s with great pleasure that 1 present to you my introduction

to the Corporate Governance section of the first Annual Report
and Accounts as Dixons Carphone plc The bnnging together
and alignment of two great businesses with a joint strategy and
direction 1s truly exciting but it 15 never more important than
now, in this tirme of change, that our corporate governance
practices and procedures are well designed and implemented
It1s my intention to set out how the Company has embraced
good corparate govemnance practice and how we will use

this to form a stable foundation to the buitding of

shareholder value

Corporate Governance

Good corporate govemance 1s at the heart of any well-run
business We receive a corporate govemnance update at every
other board meeting from our internal experts and have
reviewed and updated our policies and procedures, following
the Merger, to comply with the latest best practice standards
We have clearly differentiated the roles of Group Chief
Executive (to run the business) and Chainman (to run the
Board} Cur role descnptions {including that of the Senior
Independent Director) and our other board peolicies, such as
diversity, tme commitment, external appointments and
extemal advice have all been renewed and refreshed The
Board will look to adopt the 2014 version of the UK Corporate
Governance Code and will report agaunst it in its 2015/16
annual report and accounts The Board, in conjunction

with the Audit Committee, 1s considering the business
viability statement

Board composition and rcle

The members of the Board were announced at the time of the
Merger and remain the same except for the departure of John
Allan Consideration 1s cumently being given to replacement for
John Allan as Senior Independent Director and the Board will
update shareholders once a decision has been taken The
resignation of the Senicr Independent Director (SID}, coming
swiftly as it did following the Merger, has illustrated the need
for succession planning which will have an increased focus
over the next year

The Nominations Commuttee reviews each year the
composition of the Board, including the independence and
commitment to the Company shown by the non-executive
directors dunng the year That review also includes gender,
professional and international diversity The Board has three
fernale directors, one of whom is based out of the UK and
provides strong support on matters relating to the European
business Following this year's review it was concluded that
the Board had all necessary skills and expenence to discharge
its duties fully and to challenge management effectively
where necessary

The Board and Committee Structure

As part of the annual reviews, the non-executive directors were
asked to confim that they continue to have enough time to
dedicate to company business and all have formally done so
As a unitary board the directors acknowledge their joint
responsibility for our success We have clearly differentiated
the roles between executive management running the business
and our non-executives, who provide the appropnate ievel of
scrutiny In this way, the Board works together to challenge
and interrogate as well as support each other with the am
being effective decision making, leadership and accountability
for all aspects of the business

Induction

Following the Merger, each director was given the opportunity
to get to know each side of the business, through a
combination of formal presentations, store visits and informal
discussions The Audit Committee had its own induction
process Including access to auditor’s reports and full
supporting documentation for both sides of the business which
provided an excellent understanding of the inherted position

Board evaluation

The Board agreed that an internal review would be appropnate
for the Board evaluation this year It was conducted by the
Company Secretary and took the form of a questionnaire
completed by all Directors on several aspects of the Board and
its organisation The main finding was that the Board had
come together well n support of the business and that there
was an atmosphere of openness enabling effective challenge
and debate In 2016 the external board evaluation 1s due for
Dixons Carphone This timing will provide the newly merged
Board and its procedures ample time and opportunity to
embed fully, with the next evaluation process providing
valuable insight and results which will be reported to
shareholders in the 2015/16 annual report and accounts

Committee structure

The main board committees are the Audit, Nominations and
Remuneration Committees, and a section of this report is
dedicated to each of them Beneath Board level there are
further management level committees which report back to
the Board as necessary

Conclusion

We have a strong, balanced board supported by sound
policies and procedures and | believe it 1s well placed to
take the cpportunities that the future will bnng 1look
forward to meeting you, along with my fellow directors,
at this year's Annual General Meeting

(It P

Sir Charles Dunstone
Chawrnan
16 July 2015

[ Dixons Carphone plc Board I

|

Audit Committee (page 47) I

[ Nominations Comrmittee {page 52)—| | Remuneration Committee (page 54) l
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Corporate Govemance statement

The Board confirms that dunng the penod ended 2 May 2015
and as at the date of this Annual Report and Accounts, the
Company has, except to the extent stated below, beenin
complance with the 2012 UK Corporate Govemance Code
{the Code)

It 1s noted that the Company has not had a named director
operating as Senior Independent Director (SID) since the
resignation of John Aflan Duning that time the remaining
independent directors have all been available to discuss tems
with the Chairman as necessary and to discuss matters with
shareholders should this be required The Company 1s
currently considenng the replacement for John Allan and

will update sharsholders once the ongoing exercise has

been completed

Ttus report, together with the Directors' report and the reports
from the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration Committees
together provide details of how the Company has appled the
principles and comphed with the provisions of the Code during
the year The Code can be obtained from the Financial
Reporting Council’'s website, www frc org uk

Board responsibiiities

The overnding responsibility of the Board 1s to provide clear,
entrepreneunal and responsible leadership to the Group within
a framework of efficient and effective controls so as to allow
the key 1ssues and nsks facing the business to be assessed
and managed

Composition of the Board

The Board has 13 members, six of whom are considered by
the Company to be independent non-executive direclors
These drrectors are John Gildersleeve, Andrea Gisle Joosen,
Tim How, Jock Lennox, Baroness Morgan of Huyton and Genry
Murphy Half the directors excluding the Chairman are
therefore considered to be independent in accordance

with the Code

It 1s noted that John Gildersleeve was a non-executive director
of Old Carphone Warehouse for more than nine years but the
Board does not believe this affects his Independence having
given detaled consideration to his performance and the extent
to which he has shown himself to be independent of
management i thought and action dunng the penod under
review As aresult, the Company confirms that John
Gildersleeve continues to show independence in his

scrutiny and challenge to the Company and directors and
therefore contnues to be classified as an independent non-
executive director

Each of the directors will stand for election / re-election at the
Company's Annual General Meeting Biographical information
15 shown on pages 36 and 37

The dnision of responsibility between the Chairman and the
Group Chief Executive 1s formally defined, set out in wnting
and is reviewed by the Board on an annual basis, as it was on
9 March 2015 The Chairman is responsible for the overall
operation, leadership and governance of the Board The Group
Chief Executive 1s responsible for the executive management
of the Group's business and for implementing the Group’s
strategic and commercial objectives

Corporate Governance

The role of the SID 1s to support the Chaimman and be available
for approach or representation from shareholders who feel they
are unable to raise issues with the Chaiman directly Since the
resignation of John Allan the Board has operated wathout a
SID The Board has a strong hine up of ndependent non-
executive directors who have all been avallable for the
shareholders to contact in absence of a formal SID Under the
role of the SID, which 1s clearly defined, set out in writing and
reviewed annually by the Board, the SID also discusses, with
the Chairman the results of his performance review This role
was undertaken by Jock Lennox for the 2015 review

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 39




Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance report

Reserved matters

There are documented schedules of matters reserved to the
Board and matters delegated to Committees of the Board
Such reserved matters include

» approval of published financial statements and
dividend policy,

= declaration of mtenm and recormmendation of
fina! dvidends,

« approval of budget and strategy,

» appomntment and remuneration of directors, company
secretary and other senior executives,

+ approval of major acquisitions and disposals,
« approval of authonty levels for expenditure,

« approval of Group policies, and

« approval of treasury / intemal control and nsk

management policies
Board attendance

The Board held two strategy sessions in addition to meeting on
ten scheduled occasions dunng the penod under review

Member Appointed Resigned  Attand
Charles Dunstone 100f10
Roger Taylor 100f 10
Sebastian James 6 Aug 2014 7of7
Andrew Harnson 100of 10
Humphrey Singer 6 Aug 2014 7of7
Katie Bickerstaffe 6 Aug 2014 7of7
Graham Stapleton 6 Aug 2014 7of7
John Gilderslesve 100f10
Andrea Gisle Joosen 6 Aug 2014 7of?7
Tim How 6 Aug 2014 7of7
Jock Lennox 6 Aug 2014 7of7
Baroness Morgan

of Huyton® 9of 10
Gerry Murphy 100f 10
Former Directors
John Allwood® 6 Aug 2014 30f3
John Allan®@ 6 Aug 2014 17 Feb 2015 Gof6
Nigel Langstaff 6 Aug 2014 3of3

{1} Baroness Morgan of Huyton missed one scheduled meeting due
to a prior comritment that had been amanged before the Merger
and the subsequent change of Board dates

(2) John Allwood was the Senior Independent Director untl his
resignation when John Allan took on this role until tus resignation
on 17 February 2015
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Committee members

There are three main Board Committees Audit, Norminations and Remuneration The Committees are provided with sufficient
resources via the Gomparry Secretary and, where necessary, have direct access to independent professional advisors to

undertake their duties
Audit Nominations Remuneraton

{page 47) {page 52) {page 54
Sir Charles Dunstone C
John Giidersleeve M C
Andrea Gisle Joosen M M
Tim How M
Jock Lennox ol
Germy Murphy M
Baroness Morgan of Huyton M
Roger Taylor M
Former Directors
John Allwood {resigned 6 August 2014) C M
John Allan {resigned 17 February 2015) M M

C-Char M-Member

Board governance matters

The Chaman is responsible for ensurng that all directors are
properly briefed on 1ssues ansing at Board meetings and that
they have full and timely access to relevant information The
Company uses an electronic board paper system which
enables the fast dissermination of quality information in a safe
and secure manner All Board papers are sent out on a timely
basis with sufficient information for the directors to be able to
discharge therr dutes Formal minutes of the Board and
Committee meetings are prepared by the Company Secretary
and approved by the Board / Committees at therr next meeting

The Charman meets regularly with all the non-executive
directors, usually on an evering pnor to a Board meeting when
board dinners are held This provides the opportunity to
discuss amongst other matters, corporate strategy and
business performance

The Board holds meetbings at a vanety of the Group's locations
to help all Board members gain a deeper understanding of the
business This also provides senior management from across
the Group with the opportunity to meet the Board Whilst no
visits took place for the penod under review, in May 2015, the
Board held a meeting at its distribution centre in Newark and in
June 20115 held another meeting at its headquarters in Norway
This enabled the Board to meet members of the team and
senior management and to visit stores and other elements of
the Group's business

New directors appomnted to the Board receive a tailored
induction programme, together with guidance and training
appropnate to therr level of previous expenence Each director
1s given the opportunity to meet with senior management and
store colleagues and to visit the Group's sites both in the UK
and overseas This enables famillansation with the businesses,
operations, systems and markets in which the Group operates
New directors are also encouraged to meet with the Group’s
auditor and adwvisors

The Board receives an update on corporate govemnance best
practice at every other meeting

Performance evaluation

The intermnal annual review of Board effectiveness and the
balance of skills, knowledge and expenence of the directors
was conducted as usual during the period under review In
addition, the Code recommends that the performance of the
Board be reviewed extemally every three years The last
extemnal review of the Company was carried out by NJMD
Corporate Services in May 2013, therefore the next extemal
evaluation 1s due in 2016

The intermal review this year involved

+ individual directors responding to separate questionnaires
which were collated by the Company Secretary The results
were then presented to and discussed by the Board and a
plan of acticn established to address any areas of
improvement The areas covered included, but were not
limited to, the roles of the executive and non-executive
directors, the Board, Board Committees, the Chairman,
preparation for and performance at meetings, the
effectiveness of each director, leadership, culture and
corporate governance As part of this evaluation, the
Chairman discussed any personal development needs
that were identified with each director;

* In the absence of a SID at the tme of the performance
evaluation, Jock Lennox reviewed the results of the
performance evaluation questionnaire completed by all of
the directors apart from the Chaiman on the Chaiman’s
performance He then discussed the results of that review
with the Charman and an action plan was prepared The
Board i1s of the opinion that the Chairman had no other
significant commitments dunng the year that adversely
affected his performance in his role and that he continues to
lead the Board effectively whilst creating an atmosphere of
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open discussion where challenge and debate 1s welcomed,
and

» The Commuttees each performed a self-evaluation of their
obligations on the basts of a detatled questionnaire relating
to each area of responsibility No major areas for action were
identified

Following the results of the evaluation, the Board confirms that
all directors continue to be effective and demonstrate a
commitment to the role, including having tme to attend all
necessary meetings and to carry out other appropnate duties

It was noted that one area for greater emphasis coming out of
thus review was succession planning At the tme of the Merger
careful consideration was given to what skills were needed to
best lead the Group during this penod of integration The
Board was appointed accordingly With the integration well
underway, the evaiuation found that more emphasis now
needs to be placed on succession planning for these cntical
board roles

Capital and constitutiona! disclosures

Information on the Comparny’s share caprtal and constitution
requrred to be included in this Corporate Governance
statement are contained on page 45 of this report Such
information 1s mcorporated into this Corporate Govemance
statement by reference and 1s deemed to be part of it

Risk and intemal controls

Risk management

The Group has established a nsk management programme
that assists management to identify, assess and mitigate
business, financial, operational and compliance nsks The
Board views nsk management as integral 1o good business
practice and protectmig the best interests of shareholders
Executive management of the Group has direct responsibility
for the nsk management programmes of their businesses The
Board's focus 1s pnmanly on reviewing the effectiveness of
these processes, rather than mvolving tself in the processes
themselves Specific controls and processes are detailled
further below

The Group's nsk management framework ams to

« assist management to iImplement effective means of nsk
identification, assessment and mibigation,

+ nstil a nsk-based approach and awareness into the Group's
culture,

+ encourage accountability for identfying and managing the
nsks spectiic to ine managers’ respective areas of the
business, and

« create and implement nsk management strategies which
address all types of nisks

The Group maintains a nsk register the pnncipal nsks of which
are set out on pages 16 to 19 Senior managers within the
business are responsible for managing and menitonng the
nsks identified within their areas, and dentifying new nsks as
they anse Each nsk identified I1s ranked according to a score
based on the hikelihood of an event occurmng and its impact
on the business should it occur due to erther faillure or absence
of mitigating controls Mitigating controls in place are also
documented

internal control

As in any business, the Group faces a number of nsks and
uncertainties on a dally basis, and a detalled internal control
framework exists so as to mitigate these nsks and protect the
interests of shareholders The directors have overall
responsibiiity for the Group's systems of internal control and
for reviewing effectiveness, and they discharge this
responsibility by performing the following

+ determining the Group's nsk appetite and tolerance,
+ overseeing the nsk management strategy, and

+ ensunng that management implements effective systems
of nsk identification, assessment and mitigation

The Board delegates to executive management the
responstbility for desgning, operating and monitoring these
systems The systems are based on a process of identifying,
evaluating and managing significant nsks and include the nsk
management processes set out above

The systems of intemal control described in this report were In
place throughout the period under review and up to the date of
approval of the annual report and financial statements The
effectiveness of these systems s penodically reviewed by the
Audit Committee in accordance with the Code, and the other
good practce guidance 1ssued by the FRC in relation to
intemal control These systems are alsc refined as necessary
to meet changes in the Group's business and associated nsks
They can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against matenal errors, losses, fraud or breaches of laws

and regulations

The Company has conducted an annual review of the
effectiveness of the systems of nsk management and intemal
control n operation dunng the year and up to the date of the
approval of the Annual Report and Accounts which was
approved by the Audit Committee and the Board

At each of its meetings the Audit Committee reviewed and
considered reports on the status of the Group's nsk
management systems, findings from reviews of internal
controls and reports on the status of any weaknesses in
internal controls identified by the intemal or external auditors
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Intemal audit

The Group has an intemal audit department which conducts
reviews of selected business processes each year The internal
audit programime for 2014/15 consisted of reviews across a
range of areas documented and pnontised in the Group's
internal audit plan, which was prepared and approved with
input from management and the Audit Commuittee The plan Is
designed each year to test the robustness of mitigating
controls and procedures are designed to identify any areas of
improvement Part of the approval process of this plan involves
the Audit Committee’s consideration of alignment of the plan
with the principal risks faced by the Group As such this plan
was revised and re-presented to the Audit Committee again
following the Merger to capture the key nsks of the

combined Group

The Audit Committee Chairman receives and reviews all
reports from the intemal audit department detailing its material
findings from testing performed and any recommendations for
improvement The Audit Committee receves a summary of
these reports at each meeting, with the full reports available to
all members on request The progress and implementation of
ensuing action plans are tracked to completion by the intemal
audit department, and follow up procedures performed where
additional controls have been put in place to ensure that the
new controls have been implemented effectively

The Audit Committee considered the effectiveness of the
internal audit department through holding discussions with
management, considenng the quality of reports submitted to
the Committee, the timelingss of the clearance of action ponts,
and the perceived impartiality of the audit team itself The
Commuttee concluded that the internal audit department has in
all respects been effective during the penod under review

Authonsation of conflicts of interest

The Company has procedures in place to identify, authonse
and manage conflicts of interest which have operated
effectively Potential conflicts are approved by the Board or
two independent directors where authonsation i1s needed
quickly and then reported to the man Board at its next
meeting A register of directors’ conflicts s maintained

Communication with investors

The Board supports the initiatives set out in the Code and
the Stewardship Code and actively encourages engagement
with major institubional investors and other stakeholders |t
beleves that it 1s important to explain business developments
and financial results to the Company’s shareholders and

to understand shareholder concens The pancipat
communication media used o impart information to
shareholders are news releases (Including results
announcements}, mvestor presentations and

company publications

The Group Chief Executive has lead responsibility for investor
relations He 1s supported by a dedicated investor relations
department that, amongst other matters, orgarnses
presentations for analysts and institutional investors There

15 a full programme of regular dialogue with major insttutional
shareholders and potential shareholders as well as seli-side
analysts In all such dialogue, care 1s taken to ensure that no
pnce sensitive nformation 1s released

The Chaiman ensures that the Board receves regular updates
at Board meetings on investor relations matters The Board
also receves penodic reports on mvestors’ views of the
performance of the Company The Chairman and non-
executive directors, are available to meet with major
shareholders, if such meetings are required and the Chaiman
of the Remuneration Committee communicates with major
shareholders on matters of remuneration and has conducted
vanous remuneration consultations dunng the penod under
review For rmore information on the remuneration
consultations, please refer to the Remuneration report

on pages 54 to 74

The Company s committed to commurication with all of its
mernbers, whether institutional investors, pnvate or employee
shareholders The Company reports formally to its members
when its full year and half year results are published These
results are posted on the investor relations part of the
corporate website in addtion to other external announcements
and press releases

The Company also communicates with shareholders through
the annual general meeting, at which an agcount of the
progress of the business over the last year 1s given 1n addiion
to a review of current 1ssues  This also provides the opportunity
for shareholders to ask questions The directors, including the
chairmen of the Audit, Nominations and Remuneration
Committees attend the annual general meeting In accordance
with the Code, formal notification of the Company's annual
general meeting 1s sent to shareholders at least 20 working
days in advance of the meeting

Further financial and business information 1s available on the
Group's corporate website

Sir Charles Dunstone
Chasman
16 July 2015
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Corporate Governance statement

The Corporate Governance statement as required by Rule

7 21 of the UKLA's Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTRs}
15 set out on page 39 of this Annual Report and Accounts Al
informaticn detailed in the Corporate Govemance statement 1s
incorporated by reference into this Directors’ report and 1s
deemed to form part of this Directors’ report

FCA'’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules

For the purposes of DTR 4 1 5R {2 and DTR 4 1 8, this
Directors’ report and the Strategic report on pages 2 to 35
cormpnse the management report

Employee involvement

The Group places significant emphasis on its employees’
involverment in the business at all levels Managers are
remunerated according to results wherever possible and
employees are kept informed of 1ssues affecting the Group
through formal and informal meetings and through the Group’s
internal publications The management team regularly
communicates matters of cumrent interest and concem with
employees Further information on employee engagement Is
included in the repont on corporate responsibility on pages 27
to 29 Details of the Group’s employee share plans are
contained in the Remuneration report

Employment of disabled people

It i1s the Group's policy to encourage application for
employment from disabled people and to assist with their
trasning and career development, having regard to particular
aptitudes and abilthes Every endeavour 1s made to find
suitable alternative employment and to retrain any employee
who becomes disabled while serving the Group

Information on greenhouse gas emissions

The information on greenhouse gas emissions that the
Company 1s required to disclose is set out on page 32 of this
Annual Report and Accounts This information s incorporated
into this Directors’ report by reference and 1s deemed to form
part of this report

Donations

No political donations were made dunng the penod by
the Group

Change of name

On 6 August 2014 the Company changed its name from
Carphone Warehouse Group Public Limited Company to
Dixons Carphone plc

Directors

The names, biographies and dates of appointment of the
current Board of directors are provided on pages 36 and 37
Former directors include John Allan {appointed 6 August 2014
and resigned 17 February 2015}, John Allwood {resigned

6 August 2014) and Nigel Langstaff (resigned 6 August 2014)

With regard to the appointment and replacement of directors,
the Company is govemed by its Articles of Association, the
Code, the Companies Act and related legislabon The Articles
themselves may be amended by spectal resolution of the
shareholders The Board has the power to appont new
directors to fill a vacancy as long as the total number of
Directors shall not exceed the maximum of 15 as set out in the
Articles Any director appointed by the Board will be appointed
untl the next annual general meeting where they shall stand for
re-election by shareholders

In line with best practice and the Code, the Company has
determined that all directors will retire and offer themselves
for election or re-election at the 2015 Annual General Meeting
Tha Remuneration report provides details of apphicable service
agreements for executive directors and terms of appointment
for non-executive directors Each of the directors proposed
for re-election are being unanmousty recommended for
re-election / election by the Board by virtue of therr skills,
experience and contnbution to the Board This
recommendation follows a performance evaluation of the
Board and the contribution of individual directors

Dunng the year, no director had any matenal interest in any
contract of significance to the Group's business Their
interests, ncluding those of any connected persons, In

the shares of the Company are outlined in the Annual
Remuneration report

Subject to the Company’s Articles of Association, the
Companies Act and any directions given by the Cormpany

by special resolution, the business of the Company will be
managed by the Board who may exercise all the powers of the
Company, whether relating to the management of the business
of the Company or not The matters reserved for the Board are
detailed in a specific schedule, which 1s reviewed annually and
details are prowded in the Corporate Governance report

Directors’ mdemnies and nsurance

The Company has made qualfying third party indemnity
provisions {as defined in the Companies Act 2008) for the
benefit of its directors duning the year; these provisions remain
i force at the date of this report

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association, and
to the extent permitted by law, the Company may indemnify its
directors out of its own funds to cover habilities incurred as a
result of their office The Group holds Directors’ and Officers’
Liability Insurance cover for any clam brought against directors
or officers for wrongful acts in connection with therr positions
The insurance provided does not extend to clams ansing from
fraud or dishonesty

Information required by Listing Rule 9 8.4R

There 1s nc information required to be disciosed under Listing
Rule 9 8 4R

Directors’ responsibilities

The directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements
contained within this Annual Report and Accounts and the
directors’ confirmations required under Disclosure and
Transparency Rule 4 1 12 are set out on page 75
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Capntal structure

The Company’s only class of share is ordinary shares Detalls
of the movements in issued share capital dunng the year are
provided in note 21 to the Group financial statements The
voting nghts of Dixons Carphone plc shares are identical with
each share carmying the nght to one vote Dixons Carphone plc
holds no shares in treasury and did not make any market
purchases of its own shares dunng the year under review

Detalls of employee share schemes are provided in note 5 to
the Group financial staterments The Carphone Warehouse
ESOT held 791,100 shares on 2 May 2015 (2014 4 9 milion
shares) and the Dixons Retall pic ESOT held 151,829 shares
Both ESOTs have waived therr nght to receive dvidends

Restnctions on transfer of secunties of the Company

There are no specific restnctions on the size of a holding nor
on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the
general provisions of the Articles of Association and prevailing
legislation The directors are not aware of any agreements
between holders of the Company's shares that may result in
restnctions on the transfer of secunties or on voting nghts

No person has any special nghts of control over the
Company's share capital and all Issued shares are fully paid

Change of control - signfficant agreements

The Company does not have any significant agreements which
contain change of control clauses other than for its borrowings
Further details are disclosed in note 17 to the Group financial
statements Such information 1s incorporated into this Directors’
report by reference and 1s deemed to form part of this report

In addition, provisions under the rules of the Company’s share
incentive schemes may cause options and awards granted
under these schemes to vest and become exercisable in the
event of a change of control

Significant shareholdings

At 2 May 2015, the Company had been notified, in accordance
with Chapter 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of
the UK Financal Conduct Authonty, of the following interests
of over 3% in the voting nghts of the Company

Dmidend

The Board has proposed a final dwvidend for the year ended
2 May 2015 Details of this and other dividends pard for the
year are as follows

13 months Year

ended ended

2May 2015 29 Mar 2014

{ntenm dvidend 2.5p 20p
Final dmidend 60p 4 0p
Total ordinary 8 5p 6 0p

Number of Parcentage of
Name sharas shara capital
BlackRock, Inc 64,226,251 558%
Standard Ufe Investments 57,001,657 4 95%
D P JRoss 56,388,699 4 85%

At 16 July 2015 no change in these shareholdings had
been notified

Directors’ interests in the Company's shares and the
movements thereon are detalled in the Remuneration
reporton pages 71 to 73

The nght to receive any dividend has been wawved n part by
the Trustees of the Company's Employee Share Ownership
Trusts over a combined holding of 942,929 shares

Issue of shares

In accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006,
shareholders can authonse the directors to allot shares in the
Company up to one third of the 1ssued share capital of the
Company Accordingly, at the 2014 annual general meeting
shareholders approved a resolution to give the directors
authonty to aliot shares up to an aggregate nommal value of
£192,022 59 The directors were also authonsed to allot shares
In relation to the Merger up to an aggregate nominal amount
of £576,067 77

The directors have no present intention to 1ssue ordinary
shares, other than pursuant to obligations under employee
share schemes This resolution remains vahd until the
conclusion of this year's Annual General Meeting when

a resolution will be proposed to renew the authonty

Authonty was given by the shareholders at the 2014 annual
general meseting to purchase a maximum of 57,606,776 shares,
such authority remaining vald for 15 months or unti the
conclusion of the Company’s 2015 Annual General Meeting
The authonty was not exercised dunng the penod or pnor to
the date of this report The Company will seek the usual
renewal of this authonty at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting but has no current intention to make such purchases
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Use of financial instruments

Information about the use of financial instruments 1s given
In note 25 to the Group financial statements

Audrtor

Each dtrector at the date of approval of this Annual Report and

Accounts confirms that

«  so far as the director 1s aware, there 1s no relevant audit
mformation of which the Company’s auditor 15 unaware,
and

+ the director has taken all the steps that he / she ought to
have taken as a director in order to make himself / herself

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company's auditor 15 aware of that information

This confimation is given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006

Delostte LLP have expressed ther wilingness to continue in
office as auditor and a resolution to re-appomnt them will be
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

Certain information required to be included in this Directors’
report may be found within the Strategic report

By Order of the Board

RN -

Nige! Paterson
Company Secretary
16 July 2015
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Audit Committee report

Chairman’s statement

Introduction

| present to you the report of the Audit Committee, the first of
the merged Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retail In this
covenng letter | have set out our key areas of activity within
our overarching objective of ensunng that the systems and
controls relating to the financial management and reporiing
of Dixons Carphone plc are appropnate

The Merger has been a significant undertaleng The actwities of
ntegration to create the new organisation have had a major
bearing on our work We have focused on ensuning that,
notwithstanding the significant change that has been taking
place, the Group has the appropnate intemal control and nsk
management systems in place to satisfy the financial reporting
and management requirements We are grateful to our financial
management and internal and external auditors for the
unstinting efforts they have made in this regard

Merger and induction

All members of the Audit Committee were previously members
of the Carphone Warehouse or Dixons Retal audit committees
We have therefore had the benefit of significant expenence of
the legacy businesses

We recogrused that we needed to inform the committee
members about the entire merged group so embarked upon
an early induction process This involved shanng papers on
key judgements and significant accounting policies in the
legacy busimesses, arranging bnefings with management on
topics relating to 'the other side’, and participating in broader
induction actities on strategy, store visits and the ke Each
commitiee member was encouraged to request any further
induction information that they required

Key activities
In addition to assimilating the various sources of informaton on
the Group, the Audit Committee’s work included the following

» considered reports by management on how the financial
organisation would be structured and how the financial
reporting would be prepared in the short and longer term,

+ debated the accounting and financial reporting for the
Merger, recenving reports from financial management and
the extemal auditor to support the conclusions reached,

+ approved the formation of the merged intemal audit group
and the plan of work,

+ requested and considered a review by internal audit,
supported by the appropnate commercial management,
on the supplier rebate terms and processes across the
Group, the review concluded that the accounting being
adopted 1s satisfactory,

+ recewved presentations from management on topics from
the nsk agenda ncluding IT strategy {iIncluding secunty and
control} and HR, and

= considered the vanous corporate transactions that have
taken place in addition to the Merger, the accounting for
these and overall that the financial reporting for the Group
i1s famr, balanced and understandable

Looking ahead

It has been a busy year for the Group with much of the
financial reporting pronty bemng on the Merger itself and the
need to maintain a controlled environment across the legacy
busmesses

The Group's actvity will now tum to bislding the longer term
systems, processes and orgamisation as well as conforming
with the new requirements of the 2014 UK Gorporate
Govemnance Code and the FRC Guidance on Risk
Management, Intemnal Control and Related Financial and
Business Reporting This will include adopting the longer term
viabiity statement for the first ime The development of the IT
strategy and control framework will remain an area of focus for
the committee in the year ahead

| will be In attendance at the Annual General Meeting and will
be avallable to talk to you then In the meantime if you have
any questions please do get in fouch

/}ack lA—R/V\Mj

Jock Lennox
Charman of the Audit Committee
16 July 2015
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Members

In comphance with the Code, the Committee compnses
exclusively non-executive directors, who, along with their
atterddance at scheduled meetings, are set out in the table
below

Meetings

The Commuittee met three scheduled tmes with one
additional ad-hoc meeting called duning the penod Since
the year end there have been two further Committee
meetings All ehgible members attended each of the
meetings during which they were a member of the
Committee, except as outlined below The Group Chief
Executive, Group Finance Director, Group Director of
Intemnal Audit, other senior managernent and
representatives of the Company's extemal auditor (Deloitte
LLP) attended the Audit Committee meetings by invitation

Scheduled
Current members Meotings
Jock Lennox!™ 20f2
Baroness Morgan of Huyton® 20f3
Gerry Murphy 30f3
Former membors
John Allant & 20f2
John Allwood “ 1oft
John Gildersieeve® 1of1

(1) Appointed 6 August 2014

{2) Baroness Morgan of Huyton missed one scheduled meeting
due to a pnor commitment that had been aranged before the
Merger and the subsequent change of commitiee dates

{3) Resigned 17 February 2015

{4} Resigned 6 August 2014

5) Resigned from the Committee - 6 August 2014

The Board 1s satisfied that the Chairrman of the Committee, a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland,
meets the requirement for recent and relevant financial
expenence The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the
Committee and attends all meetings The Committee's
deliberations are reported by its Chaiman to the following
Board meeting and the mmnutes of each meeting are circulated
to all members of the Board following approval

At each meeting there may be a discussion between the
Committee members and the external auditor without the
presence of management in order to allow discussion of
pnvate matters which the auditor may wish to raise
QOccasionally a discussion may be held between Committee
members, the external auditor and the Group Director of
Intemnal Audit if appropnate

In undertaking its duties the Committee has access to the
services of the Group Finance Director, his team and the
Company Secretary, as well as external professional advice
as necessary In addition the Chairman meets with the
external auditor outside of formal meetings and without
management present

Extermal advice

The Board makes funds availlabile to the Committee to enable it
to take independent legal, accounting or other advice when the
Committee believes it necessary to do so

Responsibilities

The Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight
responsibilites by achng independently from the executive
directors There 1s an annual schedule of items which are
shared across the meetings dunng the year to ensure the
Committee covers fully those items within its terms of
reference These tems are supplemented throughout the year
as key matters anse

The Commuittee has the following principal duties

* monitonng the integnty of the half year and full year financial
statements and any formal announcements relating to the
Group's financial performance,

+ review the resufts and conclusions of work performed by the
external auditor,

adwising the Board on whether, as a whole, the Annual
Report and Accounts 1s far, balanced and understandable,

reviewing significant financial reporting judgements

reviewing the Group’s financial controls and internal control
and nsk management systems,

monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company's internal audit function,

+ making recommendations to the Board in relation to the
appontment of the extemal auditor,

+ reviewing and monitonng the relationship with the external
auditors, Including ther Independence, objectwity,
effectiveness, remuneration and terms of engagement,

+ considenng whistleblowing arrangements by which
employees may raise concems about possible impropneties
in matters of financial reporting or other matters,

» any specific topics as defined by the Board, and

+ refernng matters to the Board which, in its opinion, should
be addressed at a meeting of the Board

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are reviewed
annually by the Board and are avallable on the Group's
corporate website (www dixonscarphone com)

Key matters considered dunng the year

Accounting and financal reporting matters

The Commuttee 1s responsible for monitonng the integnty of the
half year and annual financtal statements in conjunction with
both senior management and the extemal auditor Following
the Merger, management presented the Cornmittee with the
accounting polcies and practices of both legacy businesses
These were then debated and a combined set of policies and
practices agreed with no significant adjustments required in
respect of either business Dunng the period ended 2 May
2015 consideration was given to the following matters

+ the suitability of the Group's accounting policies and
practices,
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» comphance with financial reporting and governance

standards,

« areas where significant levels of judgement have been

mformation necessary for shareholders and other users of

applied or tems which have been discussed with the the accounts to assess the Group's performance, business
external auditor: model and strategy To assist with discharging these
’ responsibibities, the Corrmittee considers documents
* updated accounting and corporate governance regulations, prepared by management and reports received from the
and

external audrtor on the outcomes of their annual and half
year audit procedures

The Committes received reports and recommendations from management and the external auditor setting out the significant
accounting 1ssues and jJudgements applicable to the following key areas These were discussed and challenged, where
appropnate, by the Committee Following debate, the Commitiee concurred with management’s conclusions

+ whether the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whale,
1s fair, balanced and understandable and provides sufficient

Matters of significance and
areas of judgement

How the 1ssue was addressed by the Committee

Revenue recognition

Revenue recognition 1s considered to be a cntical accounting policy and the judgements are set out n
note 1 u} of the Group financial statements Key components of judgement are in relation to the
recognition of network commission recevable and also n relation to customer support agreements

The Committee reviewed management's assessment of these policies with reference to contractual
terms, the Group's histoncal expenence of cusiomer behaviour and information receved from third
parties as well as histoncal clams data in respect of customer support agreements

Accounting for the Merger

The Committee discussed, challenged and assessed the assumptions made in relation to valuing the
assets and habilities acquired as part of the Merger which concluded in net Yabilities acquired of

£647 million In addition, the Committee reviewed the consideration for the Merger transaction and the
allocation of goodwill between the different Cash Generated Umits acquired

This valuation exercise included external as well as internal valuations which incorporated management
judgement The Commuittee reviewed and, where relevant, challenged the methodologies used in
calculating the farr values which have been recognised as set out in note 23 to the Group financal
statements

Disposal accounting

The Comrmittee reviewed the Judgements taken in the calculation of gans and losses made in respect of
the disposal transactions of Virgin Mobile France as well as the operations in Germany, the Netherlands
and Portugal The Committee also assessed the appropnateness of their treatment as assets held for
sale then further as discontinued operations as concluded by management, as set outin note 24 to the
Group financial statements

Supplier funding

A number of arrangements exist relating to supplier funding across the Group, including promotional
support and volume rebates This topic receved increased focus by management which culminated in
a presentation to the Committee from the Group Director of Intemal Audit Additional testing in this area
was also carmed out by the external auditor The Committee challenged and debated with management
its approach to supplier funding and its recognition and accounting treatment and no major 1ssues were
noted Further information in relation to supplier funding can be found in note 1 u) to the Group financial
statements

Inventory provisioning

Inventory 15 a significant balance for the Group, as set out in note 12 to the Group financial statements
and contams managenal judgement for such items as obsolescence and shiinkage As part of the
general committee procedures managenal judgement was assessed and no major 1ssues noted

Impaiment testing of goodwilt and
intangible assets

Sgnificant goodwill and acquistron intangibles were recognised as part of the accounting for the Merger
which compnsed goadwill of £2,629 million and acquisition intangibles of £373 milion The Comrruttes
considered the judgements which had been made in relation to the values held in the balance sheet, in
addition to the methodology used in assessing the supportability of the year end goodwill balance and
assessing for any potential impaiment A sensitivity analysis was then reviewed regarding the impact

of a reasonably possible change in the key assumptions These assumptions are set out in note 9 to the
Group financial statements
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Matters of significance and
areas of judgement

How the i1ssue was addressed by the Committee

Faur, balanced and understandable

As part of this assessment, as well as evaluating the narrative reporting attnbutable to the Headline
results and financial position of the Group, the Commitiee reviewed the key judgement concemning the
classificabon of items between Headline and Non-Headline, including consideration of the £89 million
pre-tax Non-Headine charges This assessment considered whether items fell within the Group's
definiion of Non-Headline as well as the consistency of treatrment of such items year on year

This assessment was central to the Committee’s consideration of the integnty and sufficiency of
information disclosed in the Annual Report and Accounts along with other salient matters to ensure that,
taken as a whole, 1t 1s farr, balanced and understandable and explains the Group's performance,
business model and strategy This included an assessment of narrative reporting to ensure consistency
with the financial reporting section

Taxation

The Group operates across multiple tax junsdictions The complex nature of tax legistation in certain
junsdictions can necessitate the use of judgement In addition, management also uses assumptions and
|udgements to assess the likelihood of utiisation of available tax losses

The Committee also reviewed judgements and assumptions conceming any significant provisions,
ncluding progress made on matters being discussed with tax authonties and where applicable advice

provided by extemal advisors

Going concem

The Comrmittee was presented with an assessment of the Group's future cash forecasts and profit

projections, available facilities, facility headroom, banking covenants and the resuits of a sensitivity
analysis performed, including having regard to the current uncertainties in the Greek economy The
Comemttee discussed this with management in addion to management’s analysis which was performed
with reference to budgeted revenue and earnings levels for the coming years The Committes was
satisfied that the gowng concem basis of preparation continues to be appropriate for the Group

Internal control and nsk managerment

The Commuttee 1s responsible for reviewing the Group's
ntemal controt and nsk management systems [n order to
discharge its responsibilities in this area, in addition to its other
responsibilities, the Committee reviewed the following key
items

+ the annual Audit Committee agenda,

+ common control themes identified throughout the business,
including key management dependencies Where this was
identified subsequent action has been taken to mimmise
the nsk,

- the assessment of the Group's response to information
secunty and data protection nisks,

» the cormbined Group's responsibilities relating to those
aspects of the Group that are regulated,

+ the financia! controls framework and its subsequent
assessment by intemal audit, and

- the new govemance and nisk management framework put
n place throughout the merged Group

intemal audit

The Committee 15 also responsible for monitonng and
reviewing the effectiveness of its intemal audit function Dunng
the penod the following significant nsk areas of the business
were included within intemal audit reviews

» information secunty and data protection,
+ [T govemance and [T nsk management, and

* business continuity

In addition, as part of a three year roling programme, audits
were performed over the following financial processes to
provide assurance to the Audit Committee that controls were
operating within these areas

+ supplier funding,
o payroll,
» procurement and purchase to pay

In addition to considenng any significant issues ansing from
the results of the audits shown above, the Commitiee also
formally reviewed the effectiveness of intemal audit and the
adequacy of its resources

Externa! audit

The external auditor 1s appointed by shareholders to provide
an opinicn on the financial statements and certain disclosures
prepared by Group management Deloitte LLP acted as the
external auditor to the Group throughout the year The
Committee is responsible for oversight of the external auditor,
including approving the annual audit plan and all assoctated
audit fees

The key matters in relation to external audit that were
considered by the Committee were

+ the annual audit plan,

« the annual audit fee and fees for non-audit services which
are set out In note 3 to the Group financial statements, with
due regard to the balance between audit and non-audit fees
and the policy for approval of non-audit fees paid to the
Group's auditor,
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+ the effectiveness of the external auditor Feedback on the
effectiveness of the audit process in addressing areas of
key audit nsk was obtained from members of the Audit
Commuttee and regular attendees, members of the finance
team and senior management within the businesses via a
specifically designed questhonnare The responses were
then considered by the Commuitiee in conjunction with the
cutputs recewved and responsiveness of the auditor dunng
the audit process The results showed a positive view of the
audit process and of Deloitte as the external auditor,
specifically in relation to the high quality and integnity of the
team, the constructive relationship and effectiveness of the
communication Following due consideration the Commuttee
continues to be satisfied with the quality and effectiveness
of the audtt, and

» significant issues and areas of judgement ansing from
reports from the external auditor, which in addition to those
matters referred to above, included IT controls and nsks
These areas were set out in the reports from the external
auditor and were discussed with the Committee The
Committee concluded that the jJudgements taken and
assumptions made were all farr and reasonable

Provision of non-audit senices provided by the
external auditor

The Committee has a formal policy on auditor independence
which specifies the types of work from which the extemal
auditor 15 excluded and those which the auditor may perform
In July 2015 the Audit Commuttee approved a change to this
policy, further restncting non-audit services, so that after a
short transitional penod the only services permitted by the
extemal auditor wiil be audit services and certain other audit
related sennces (pnmanly those related to the role of reporting
accountant and or audit reports on financial information
provided by the Group) All non-audit fee proposals are subject
to pre-approval and must be submitted to the Group Financial
Controller Where assignments are expected to generate fees
of over £100,000, approval must be obtaned from the Audit
Committee in advance

During the penod under review, the non-audit services
performed by the external auditor pnmarnily related to activities
In relabion to the Merger, assignments which were closely
related to the annual audit or work of such a nature that a
detasled understanding of the Group was necessary The Audit
Committee reviewed the services performed by the extemal
audstor dunng the year and are satisfied that these services chid
not prejudice the extenal auditor’s independence and that it
was appropnate for them to perfonm these services

The level of non-audit fees paid to the extemal auditor, which
was approved by the Committee s set out In note 3 to the
Group financial statements and amounted to £1 9 midlion
compared to £2 0 milion of audit fees Excluding the effect of
acting as reporting accountants for the Merger, the proportion
of non-audit fees vs audit fees was 28%

Due to the change In the auditor independence policy
detailed above, and following the completion of the Merger,
non-audit fees mecurred by the Group are expected to reduce
in the future

Consideration of auditor appointment and independence

On an ongoing basis the Committee considers the
appropnateness of the re-appointment of the external auditor,
including rotation of the audrt partner Deloitte LLP has been
the external auditor since the Group's formatonin 2010
{following the demerger of TalkTalk Group) Deloitte LLP was
also the external auditor of Dixons Retall The current lead
audit partner has been in place for four years (partner rotation
1s required on a five yearly basis)

The Committee will continue to consider the requirements

of the Code and also the recent Competition & Markets
Authonty’s Final Order which 1s now designed to align with the
new European Umon Regulation 547/2014 (which allows
companies greater flexibility} on audit tendenng and rotation
tirmings Under current guidance Deloitte can continue to be
reappointed for year ends beginning before June 2023, at
which point we would be required to change A tender process
would then be undertaken and a proposal made accordingly
In addition to this, the Group will consider retendenng the
external audnt at each partner rotation

Corporate Governance

In kght of the assessments and review undertaken, the Audit
Committee recommended to the Board that Deloitte LLP be
retained as auditors of the Company This recommendation
was endorsed by the Board

Jock Lennox
Charman of the Audit Committee
16 .Juty 215
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Chamman’s overview

The Nominations Committes has an important role in the
Dixons Carphone ple structure, evaluating the skills required to
lead the business effectively and ensunng the nght talent and
expenence IS avallable In order to ensure continuity of purpose
and effective leadership it 1s important to ensure succession
planning obligations are met Since the Merger the Committee
has met once to perform a thorough review of the balance of
the Board and its Committees and other govemance
obligaticns

At Merger a thorough review of the Beard structure and
membership was performed Also at the year end the
Committee performed a further review of the skills required to
successfully lead the Company and matched those skills to the
current Board membership No further need for appointments
were identified other than an appointment of a Senior
Independent Director More about this process 1s shown below
along with further details on the Nominations Committee and
its position in the Company’s govemance framework

Y

Chairman of the Nominations Committee
16 July 2015

Meetings

+ The Nominations Committee meets as and when required
and at least once a year

« The Nominations Committee met once dunng the penod
under review
Committee membership and attendance

The members of the Nominatons Committee are shown in
the table below along with their attendance at scheduled
meetings for the penod under review

Scheduled mestings
Sir Charles Dunstone 10f1
John Gildersleeve 10of1
Andrea Gisle Joosen 1of1

The majonty of the members are independent NEDs as
required by the Code Other members of the Board or
senior management may be invited to attend meetings at
the request of the Chaimman

The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee
The Committee’s deliberations are reported by its Chairman to
the following board rmeeting and the minutes of each meeting
are circulated to all members of the Board

Responsibilities
The prnncipal duties of the Nominations Committee are to

« review the structure, size, composition of the Board and
to recommend changes as necessary,

- identify, evaluate and nominate candidates to fili vacancies
on the Board,

+ review the leadership needs with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively
and be responsible for succession planning,

+ consider other commitments of directors relatve to the time
required for them to fulfil ther duties,

+ evaluate the skills, knowledge and expenence of the Board,
and

» make recommendations to the Board regarding the
continuation in office of a director upon the expiry of any
specified terms of appointment

The terms of reference of the Nominations Committee are
reviewed annually and a recommendation made to be Board
accordingly The current terms of reference are available on the
Group's corporate website (www dixonscarphone com}

Kay matters considered

In addition to the principal duties noted above, the Committee
also considered the following

» an evaluation of the size, composition and structure of the
Board and its Committees,

» the Company's diversity policy,
» the extemal appointments policy,
« the Committee's performance and terms of reference, and

a review of the role descnptions of the Chairman, Senior
Independent Director and the Group Chief Executive in the
light of the newly merged entity

Appointments to the Board

The Commuttee has a formal, ngorous and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new directors Appointments
are made to the Board on ment, against objective critena and
with due regard to the benefits of diversity and the leadership
needs of the Company
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Succession planming

At the time of the Merger consideration was given to creating
a talented board with appropnate experience and expertise
to lead the Company in iis strategy The Board has been
successful in coming together but over the next year or so
emphasis will be placed on ensunng that a full succession
planning exercise I1s performed to ensure continuity

Diversity

The Board recognises the importance of diversity, including
but not imited to gender, in achieving the nght mix of skills,
knowledge and expenence in crder to help the orgarisation
reach ts potential Currently 23% of the Board and 25% of
the Group Executive team are female

The Board does not set out a target on gender balance as it
believes that candidates should be appointed on ment The
Board will take opportunities to increase diversity as suitable
candidates present themselves For more informabion on
employee diversity see page 29

In performing its annual review the Board also looks at other
aspects of diversity relevant to the Group For example, with
a large proportion of the business in the Nordics, we have a
Swedish non-executive director on the Board o provide
knowledge of these intemational markets

Re-election

All directors will present themselves for election or re-election
at the Annual General Meeting Each of the directors are bemng
unanimously recommended by the other members of the
Board due to their expenence, knowledge and wider
management and ndustry expenence, continued effectiveness
and commitment to therr role
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Remuneration report

Chairman's statement

The penod since we last reported has seen significant change
especially in relation to the Merger The Prospectus and
Circular have already set out details in respect of the existing
incentive schemes of Carphone Warehouse Group plc and
Dixons Retail ple and how these were impacted by the Merger
This Remuneration report sets out the Group's proposed future
Remuneration policy of the new cornbined Company which 1s
broadty in ine with the Remuneration policy approved by
shareholders in 2014

We have used the opporturity of the Merger to review our
approach to remuneration to ensure it 1s aligned to our
strategic direction, appropnate for a FTSE 100 company and
focused on dnving supenor shareholder retums

After careful consideration we have decided to continue to
align our executive pay structure for the combined Group to a
more leveraged approach focused on creating shareholder
value This is reflected in our long term incentive plans {LTIPs)
and our shareholding pelicy, which was strengthened to
require executive directors to hold 200% of their base salary
in the Company's shares

We have alse mantained our approach of providing a strong
Iink between our levels of annual bonus with the performance
and delivery of our strategic prionties When setting targets for
our annual bonus and our LTIPs, we start with the strategy of
the business and the behaviours we want to encourage and
design metncs around them In order to keep overall
remuneration weighted towards variable pay that incentivises
outperformance we are providing a modest leve! of benefits

In order to harmonise we have had to adjust some elements of
pay for all executive directors, such as reducing the annual
bonus which existed previousty within Carphone from 200% of
base salary to 125% and reducing pension contributions for
the former Dixons executive directors from 20% to 10%

At the time of the Merger we gained, by special resolution,
shareholder agreement to make adjustments to existing
awards and grant additional awards under our long term
incentive plans This was to ensure the existing participants
were no better or worse off following the Merger and to make
awards to the new executive directors and other senior
leaders These plans align the interests of our management
with our shareholders, providing the opportunity for them to
earn significant value but only if supenor shareholder retums
are delivered

We have also responded to the feedback recerved on the
policy dunng 2014 and have excluded the executive directors
from being eligible to participate n the mud term incentive plan
introduced following the Merger

Although no substantial changes have been made o the
remuneration policy following the Merger, we have taken the
opporturity to make some administrative changes, such as
updating the provisions in our LTIPs to include the ability for
the Remuneration Cormnmuttee to apply malus and clawback
conditions In certan specified circumstances

Due to the changes made to the components of the
remuneration packages of the executive directors at the tme
of the Merger, no further changes are proposed to base
salanes as part of the annual pay review process this year
Bonus payments this year will reflect the positive business
performance and will be paid at 125% of base salary No
LTIPs vested dunng the year for executive directors serving
on the Board

We are also acutely aware that our success is largely down to
the dedication and hard work of all our employees and that it1s
vital that they continue to feel fary and appropnately rewarded
and that they are able to share in the success of the business
We are therefore very pleased this year to have been able to
launch a combined Dixons Carphone plc Sharesave plan for
all UK and Ireland employees, which has enjoyed a take-up
rate of approximately 20% of the combined UK and

Ireland workforce

The proposed Remuneration policy set out n this Annual
Report and Accounts will be put to shareholders for approval in
a binding vote at the Annual General Meeting on 10 Septermber
2015 where they will be asked to approve the policy for a
penod of three years

@edieess-

John Gildersleeve
Chairrnan of the Remuneration Committee
16 Juty 2015
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Remuneration report - Remuneration Policy report

Introduction
The purpose of these reports 15 to inform shareholders of the

Company's dwectors’ remuneration for the penod ended 2 May

2015 and the Remuneration policy for subsequent years This
report 1s dvided intc two secticns

« the Remuneration Policy report, and
+ the Annual Remuneration report

The remuneration policy set out will be put to shareholders

for approval in a binding vote at the Annual General Meeting on

10 September 2015 and the policy will be effective from that
date Shareholders will be asked to approve the policy for a
penod of three years starting from the effective date The
Annual Remunerabion report will also be put to an advisory
vote at the Annual General Meeting

The role of the Remuneratton Commuttee {the Committee) 1s to
determine on behalf of the Board a remuneration policy for
executive directors and semor management in order to attract
and retain executives who have the ability, expenence and
dedication to deliver outstanding returns for our shareholders

The Committee has adopted the pnnciples of good
governance relating to directors’ remuneraton as enshnned in
section D of the Code and has complied with those pnnciples
it the year under review unless otherwise noted

These reports have been prepared by the Committee on behalf
of the Board in accordance with the Comparies Act 2006,
Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-sized Comparies and
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 {as
amended) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authenity The Remuneration Policy report (which 1s not subject
to audit) details the role of the Committee, the pnnciples of
remuneration and other matters The Annual Remuneration
report {elements of which are audited) details the directors’ and
former directors’ fixed and vanable pay, share awards, share
options and pension arrangements

Remuneration policy report - unaudited information

Remuneration Commitiee objectives

The Board has delegated to the Committes responsibility for
determining policy in relation to the remuneration packages
for executive directors and other semior management This
delegation includes therr terms and conditions of ernployment
in addition to the operation of the Group’s share based
employee incentive schemes The Commuittee has cleary
defined terrns of reference which are available on the
Company’s corporate website

Remuneration strategy

Put simply, our aim 1s to generate supencr retums for our
shareholders and the key to achieving this 1s our people Our
remuneration strategy 1s therefore designed to motivate high
performing pecple to deliver our business strategy

The objectives of our Remuneration strategy are to
« attract, motivate and retain high qualtty talent,

+ be transparent and ahgn the interests of senior management
and executive directors with shareholders, by encouraging
management to have a significant personal stake in the long
term success of the business,

« weight remuneration to vanable pay that incentivises
outperformance over the short and long term whilst
discouraging inappropnate nsk taking,

= ensure that supenor rewards are only paid for exceptional
performance against challenging targets,

+ apply policies consistently across the Group to promote
alignment and teamwork,

- recognise the imporiance of delivenng across a balanced set
of metncs to ensure the nght behaviours are adopted and
the long term health of the business is protected, and

« avoid rewarding failure
In developing its policy the Committes has regard to

+ the performance, roles and responsibilities of each executive
director or member of senior management,

+ arrangements which apply below serior management levels,
including average base salary increases,

-

information and surveys from intemal and ndependent
sources,

+ the economic environment and financial performance of the
Company, and

+ corporate govemnance good practice

Guidelines on responstble investment disclosure

In line with the Investment Associabon Guidelines on
responsible investrment disclosure, the Committee 1s satisfied
that the incentive structure and targets for executive directors
do not raise any environmental, social or govemnance nsks by
inadvertently motivating iresponsible or reckless behaviour
The Commitiee considers that no elernent of the remuneration
package will encourage inappropnate nsk taking by any
member of senior management
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Remuneration Policy report

Remuneration policy table

The indmdual elerments of the remuneration packages offered to executive directors are summansed in the following table

Base Salary (fixed pay)

» Purpose and link to strategy

» Operation

* Maximurm opporturity

+ Performance assessment/ targets

To ad the recruitment, retention and motwvation of huigh-performing pecple
To reflect therr expenence and importance to the business

Reviewed annually

The review reflects a range of factors including ment levels, intemal relativity and cost
Qur overall policy, having due regard to the factors noted, 1s normally to target salanes
up to the median level

Salanies for new appointments as executive directors will be set In accordance with the
Recruitment Policy set out on page 63 of this Remuneration Policy report

The Commuttee takes into consideration the impact of base salary increases on the
package as a whole, as bonuses as well as some other elements of pay (such as
pension contnbutions) are generally worked out based on a percentage of salary

Ordinanly, ncreases for executive directors will be in ine wath increases across the
Group Increases beyond those granted acress the Group may be awarded in certain
circumstances such as changes in responsibilities, progression in the role and significant
increases in the size, complexity or value of the Group

Salary levels for current directors are shown in the Annual Remuneration report

Salaries are reviewed annually by the Commitiee at the appropnate meeting having due
regard to the individual’s expenence, performance and added value 1o the business

Benefits (fixed pay)

« Purpose and fink to strategy

» Operation

+ Maximum opportunity

« Performance assessment / targets

In ine with the Company's strategy to keep remuneration weighted to vanable pay that
incentivises outperformance, a modest range of benefits 1s provided

Benefits may vary based on the personal choices of the director

Provision of relocation or other related assistance may be provided to support the
appomtment or relocation of a director

Executive directors are entitled {0 a combination of benefits which include, but are not
irmited to

+ car allowance,

- pnvate medical cover,

» long term incapacity cover;

+ Iife assurance,

+ holiday and sick pay, and

+ arange of voluntary benefits including the purchase of addional holidays

Should an executive director be recruited from or be based in a non-UK location,
benefits may be determined by those typically provided in the normal country of
residence

Relocation or other related assistance could mclude, butis not hmited to, removal and
other relocation costs, tax equalisation, tax advice and accommaodation costs

The cost to the Group of prowiding such benefits will vary from year to year in
accordance with the cost of providing such benefits, which 15 kept under regular review

Not applicable
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Penston (fixed pay)

= Purpose and hnk to strategy

+ Operation

» Maximum opportunity

» Performance assessment / targets

A pension i1s provided which 1s consistent with that provided to managers across the
Group and in ine with our strategy 1o keep remuneration wexghted to vanable pay that
ncentivises outperformance

Defined contnbubon plans are offered to all employees A defined benefit pension plan
continues in operation for Dixons’ longer serving employees, which 1s now closed to
new partictpants and future accrual

Executive directors may choose to receive a cash allowance in [ieu of pension
coninbutions

Company pension contnbution of up to 10% of base salary, which can be taken in
whole or in part as a cash allowance in lew of pension However a greater contnbution of
up to 20% may be made where necessary to recruit or retain an executve director

Not applicable

Annual performance bonus (vanable pay)

* Purpose and link to strategy

+ Operation

» Maximum opporturuty

+ Performance assessment / targets

Annual performance bonuses are in place to incentivise the delivery of stretching, near
term business targets based on our business strategy

These bonuses provide a strong link between reward and performance and dnve the
creation of further shareholder value

The principles and approach are consistently appled across the Group ensunng
algnment to a cormmon vision and strategy

They are based on a balanced approach ensunng appropriate behaviours are adopted
and encouraging a longer term focus

Bonus payments are determined after the year end and subject to a minimum profit
threshold being achieved before payment 1s due

For threshold level of performance a bonus of 25% of base salary 1s payable A shiding
scale determines payment between the minimum and maximum bonus payable

The annual bonus 1s typically paid in July / August in cash and 1s non-pensionable,
based on the audited performance over the previous financial year

The annual bonus can instead be settled in shares or a mixture of cash and shares
which could be defemred, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee

Performance 1s reviewed by the Committee using its judgement where necessary to
assess the achievement of targets The Committee retains the discretion to adjust
downwards bonus payments where achievement of targets would result in a payment
of a bonus at a level which would not be consistent with the interests of the Company
and its shareholders

Clawback and malus provisions apply for matenal misstatement, misconduct and
reputational damage enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums
already paid

Maximum annual bonus potential for all executive directors 1s 125% of base salary
No bonus 1s payable if the minimum profit threshold 1s not achieved

All measures and targets are reviewed and set by the Committee at the beginning of
the financial year with a view to supporting the achievement of the Group strategy

The bonus scheme has targets based on a balanced scorecard The balanced
scorecard may include both financial and non-financral measures, such as employee,
customer and strategtc measures The wewghting of measures will be determined by the
Committee each year Financial measures (such as profit and cash) will represent the
majonty of the bonus, with other measures representing the balance
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Long term incentive schemes {vanable pay). Share Plan

* Purpose and iink to strategy

» QOperation

* Maximum opportunity

+ Performance assessment / targets

Long term mcentive schemes are transparent and demonstrably aligned with the
interests of shareholders over the long term

The Share Plan 1s designed to reward and retain executives over the longer term whilst
aligring an indmidual’s interests with those of sharehofders and in tum delivenng
significant shareholder value

The executive directors participate in the Dixons Carphone {formerly Carphone
Warehouse Group pic} Share Plan approved by Carphone Warehouse shareholders
The intention 15 to use this pfan for the most senicr management of the Company

New executive directors appointed from time to time may participate in the Dixons
Carphone Share Plan or the Share Option Plan descnbed on page 59

Partictpants acquire at market value participation shares in a subsidiary company that
holds the Company's interests in the Group’s main operating businesses The Group
grants loans to participants at a commercial rate of interest to acquire the shares
Loans are ordinanly repayable in full if performance conditions are met

The performance of the plan will crdinarily be measured at the end of the performance
penod {in or around July 2017 for the current participants), when 60% of the shares vest,
with 40% deferred for a further year When the awards vest, the value of the shares held
by participants wifl be based on the ncremental value (if any) of Dixons Carphone plc in
excess of the opening valuation together with the minimum return on invested capital
These shares will then be purchased by the Company for cash and / or the Company’s
ordinary shares

A ‘bad leaver’ will be required to transfer the participation shares to such party as the
Company designates for an amount equal to the total amount outstanding under the
loan (and any accrued interest) If the market value of the shares i1s less than the amount
of the outstanding loan {and any accrued interest) then the participant may be required
to repay up to 20% of the shortfall out of therr own resources

A participant shall only be a 'good leaver’ at the sole discretion of the Committee
and may be permitted to retain an award notwithstanding the termination of their
employment

The Committee has the ability to apply malus and clawback provisions to any awards
made after March 2015

The mecharics of the plan may be vaned by the Committee If necessary to ensure that
parhcipants are neither advantaged nor disadvantaged by a vanation of the share capital
of the Company, bona fide merger, reconstniction or similar recrganisation

Further details on the operation of the Share Plan following the Merger are provided
i note {1) below this policy table

The total pool for distrbution to participants 1s subject to a cap of 4% of the total issued
share capital of the Company on the measurement date

Under the Share Plan there are now two pools, one for the onginal grant in December
2013 and one for the second grant in September 2014, each being subject to a cap of
2% of the total 1ssued share capital of the Company

The allocation for the Group Chief Executive 18 119 of the pool created by the second
set of awards

The allocations for other executive directors are set out in the Annual Remuneration
report

The Share Plan i1s designed to share 10% of the incremental value created n Dixons
Carphone in excess of an opering valuation {assessed over an appropriate period) and
beyond an annual rate of retum of 7% on invested capital The plan is also underpnned
by a minimem annual compound TSR growth of 5% and outperformance of the median
TSR of the FTSE 250
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Long term incentive schemes {vanable pay} Share Option Plan

* Purpose and iink to strategy

+ Operation

« Maximum opportunity

+ Performance assessment / targets

Long term incentive schemes are transparent and demonstrably aligned with the
nterests of shareholders over the long term

The Share Cption Plan 1s designed to reward and retain executives over the longer term
whilst aligning an inddual’s interests with those of shareholders and in tum delivenng
significant shareholder value

Discretionary awards of erther nil-pnced or market pnced ophons are granted over
Dixons Carphone plc shares Approved options may be granted subject to HMRC imits

The cumrent strategy s to grant a single award of share optons with phased vesting
rather than annual grants, but the Committee reserves the nght to change this approach

The level of vesting 1s dependent on achievement of performance targets, usually over
a three year penod from the date of grant

Awards do not vest until the third anniversary of the date of grant and may have a
deferral efement

Corporate Governance

The Committee has applied malus and clawback provisions to awards made after
March 2015

If employment ceases during the vesting penod, awards will ordinanly lapse in full,
unless the Committee exercises its discretion

No executive director currently holds any interest in the share option plan

There s currently no intention to grant any options under this plan to executive directors
whilst they participate in the Share Plan, but the share option plan may be used for
recruitment purposes for any executive directors should this be necessary or desirable

Grants under the Dixons Carphone Share Option Plan are subject to overall
dilution imits

The maximum grant per participant in any financial year 1s a market value of 200% of
base salary However in exceptional circumstances an award of up to 300% of salary
may be granted

Performance targets are reviewed by the Committee pror to each grant

The Committee deterrmines the targets from a range of measures, mciuding but not
limited to absolute TSR and TSR relative to an appropnate comparater group

The current metrics in use are a combination of absolute TSR performance and relative
TSR performance agamnst either the FTSE 250 or the FTSE 350

All Employee Share Plans including SAYE

= Purpose and Iink to strategy

*+ Operation

» Maximum opportunity

+ Performance assessment / targets

Encourages employees to make a long term investment in the Company's shares and
therefore be aligned to the long term success of the Company

Executive directors are ehgible to participate in any all employee share plans operated
by the Company which have been approved by sharehclders

A new grant under the Dixons Carphone HMRC approved SAYE scheme was made
in the UK and Ireland in February 2015

Participants can save up to £500 per month for either three or five years, and in retum
receive a share option granted at up to 20% discount to the market price at the tme of
the invitation

The Committee reserves the nght to increase this savings imit for future schemes in
accordance with the statutory irmits in place from time to tme

The performance of the scheme will be determined by the share pnce of the Company
at the end of the relevant savings penod
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Share ownership guidelines

+ Purpose and link to strategy

= Operation

« Maximum opportunity

+ Performance assessment / targets

Provides close alignment between the longer term interests of executive directors and
shareholders in terms of the Company’s growth and performance

The Company requires executive directors to retain a certain percentage of base salary
in the Company's shares Directors have a five year penod to reach these limits

The shares which count towards thus requirement are unfettered, beneficially owned
shares only

Not applicable

The Company requires all executive directors to retain 200% of base salary in the
Company’s shares

Non-Executive Directors and Chairman / Deputy Chairman fees

* Purpose and link to strategy

+ Operation

+ Maximum opportunity

» Performance assessment / targets

To provide a competitive fee for the performance of non-executive director duties,
sufficient to attract high calibre mdividuals to the role

The fees are set to align with the duties undertaken, taking into account market rates,
and are reviewed on an annual basis Factors taken into consideration include the
required time commitment and specific experence

Addonal fees are payable for acting as Chair of any Board commuttee, or for acting as
the Senior Independent Director

Non-executive directors do not participate i the annual performance bonus or the long
term ncentive plans, howaver, a histoncal arrangement exists for Roger Taylor who
continues to receve private medical insurance

Aggregate annual limit of £2,000,000 mposed by the Articles of Association for
directors’ fees (not including fees in relation to any executive office or Chairman,
Commuttee Charr or Senior Independent Director fees)

Not applicable

Notes

{1) Long term incentives - Share Plan The first awards under the Share Plan were made in December 2013 and further awards were made in
September 2014 after the Merger At the same time adjustments were made to the first awards to ensure participants were no better or
worse off as a resuit of the Merger The two sets of awards have different opening valuations reflecting the value of the Company at
appropnate times pnor 10 the grants Each set of awards has its own pool, which are each subject to a cap of 2% of the total issued share
capital of Dixons Carphone The total pool for distnbution to all of the participants remains subject te an overall cap of 4% of the total issued
share capital of the Company on the measurement date

There are no plans to issue further awards under this Share Plan untl such tme as these awards vest when the Committee will review the
programme of lang term incentives for the Group

{2) The following changes have been made to the Remuneration Policy In order to align the pay of executive directors following the Merger and
to reftect the remuneration strategy of the new combined Group
- reducing the annual bonus which existed previously within Carphone from a maximum of 200% of base satary to 125% of base salary,

. e e

reducing the pension contnbutions for the Dixons executive directors from 20% to 10% of base salary,

strengthening our shareholding policy to require executive directors to hold 200% of therr base salary i the Company's shares,
excluding the executive directors from being eligible to participate in the mid term incentive plan introduced following the Merger; and
Including the abiity for the Remuneration Commitiee to apply malus and clawback conditions in certain specified circumstances
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itustration of remuneration policy

The remuneration policy scenano chart below Mustrates the level and mix of potential total rermuneration the current executive
directors could receve under the remuneration policy at four levels of performance including an annualised potential payout for
the Share Plan As descnbed in the policy table above, our long term incentive armrangements are designed to align executives’
nterests with those of shareholders and incentivise and reward for the delivery of significant shareholder value Qur
arrangements are intenbonally more leveraged than a standard UK performance share plan no payouts would be due ata
threshold leve! of performance and the higher payout levels would result only where significant shareholder value had been
created (for example, £1 6 billion of incremental shareholder returns at the Maximum level)

Remuneration policy scenano chart

The assumptions underlying the chart in respect of the percentage of maximum opportunity payable are set out below

Notes

{1} Fixed pay compnses basic salary, taxable benefits and pension contnbutions

(2} Annual vanable pay represents the annua!l bonus entitlement. No bonus 1s assumed at the minimum performance level Threshold
performance assumes a payment of 25% of basa salary, super stretch performance a payment of 75% of base salary and maximum
performance a payment of 125% of base salary

{3} Long term incentives relate to the Share Plan, in which the executive dwectors participate These are illustrative amounts and the actual
outcomes may differ depending on share pnce growth

(4} The Share Plan vests partly in 2017 and partly in 2018 and therefore the total value of the scheme has been annuahsed over the
performance penod which is five years for the first set of awards, and four years for the second set of awards made following the Merger
For Sebastan James, Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstafis the Share Plan has been annualised over four years Andrew Hamson and
Graham Stapleton were granted a second set of awards to align their overall awards with other Dixons participants and therefore the Share
Plan has been partially annualised over five years and partally over four years

{(5) No Share Plan payout is assumed at the rmimurmn performance level Threshold performance for the Share Plan 1s an annual rate of retumn
of 7% on nvested capital and therefore there will be no payout at threshold Super stretch performancs reflects the generation of £1 bilon
of incremental shareholder retums over the term of the scheme Maximum performance 1s fixed at the point at which the overall dilution
cap of 4% is expected to apply (each set of awards being subject to a 2% diution cap), representing £1 6 billion of Incremental
shareholder retums

(6) The value of the Share Plan at vesting has been reduced by the valus of the loan outstanding (exciuding interest payments)
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Corporate Governance

Remuneration Policy report

Remuneration Commuttee discretions

The Committee retans discrebion consistent with market
practice over a number of areas relating to the operation and
administration of the bonus plans and long term incentive
share plans These include but are not imited to

= entitlernent to participate in the plan,
+ when awards or payments are to be made,
+ size of award and / or payment {within the nules of the plans),

+ determination of & good leaver for incentive plan purposes
and the appropnate treatment based on the rules of each
plan,

= discretion as to the measurement of performance conditions
and pro-rating in the event of a change of control,

+ any adjustment to awards or perforrmance conditions for
significant events or exceptional circumstances, and

+ the application of clawback and malus provisions

Shareholder and employee consultation

The Committee has a policy to consult with its major
shareholders when making any significant changes to the
remuneration policy of the Company Any feedback receved 1s
taken into consideration when determiring future policy For
example, in contemplation of the Merger in 2014 a consuttation
took place with major shareholders on vanous amendments to
the remuneration policy As a direct result of that consultation,
the executive directors were removed from the mid term
incentive plan Pnor to this, in 2013 an extensive consultation
exercise took place with the shareholders to seek their views
on the Carphone Warehouse Share Plan and as a result a
number of changes were made to the scheme design,
ncluding the introduction of a cap

The Commuttee also takes into consideration remuneration
guidance 1ssued by large investor bodies n addition to the
prnciples of good govemnance relating to directors’
remuneration as set out n the Code

Whilst employees are not formally consulted on executive
remuneration a number of them are shareholders and as such
are able to exercise their influence We also monitor our
employee discussion boards and employee forums to ensure
employee feedback in general 1s considered n alt our strategy
execution The Company also conducts regular employea
surveys throughout the business

Remuneration policy for the wider workforce

Dixons Carphone employs a large number of people across
ditferent countnes Our reward framework 1s structured around
a set of common principles with adjustments made to suit the
needs of the different businesses and employee groups
Reward packages differ for a vanety of reasons including the
impact on the business, local practice, custom and legislation

In determining salary increases to apply across the wider
workforce, the Company takes into consideration company
performance and other market metncs as necessary When
setting the policy for executive directors the Committee takes
into consideration salary increases throughout the Company
as a whole

Discretionary share plans are extended to both senior
management and other key members of the workforce,

as the Company feels that it is important to incentivise and
retain these employees in order for the Company to continue
to grow

The Group’s UK and Insh employees who meet the ehigibility
cntena are also invited to jon the Company’s UK and freland
approved SAYE

Recruitment or promotion poficy

On appointment or promohon, base salary levels will be set
taking into account a range of factors including market levels,
expenence, intemal relatvities and cost If an iIndmvidual 1s
appointed on a base salary below the desired market
positioning, the Commitiee retans the discrehion to re-ahgn
base salary over one to three years, contingent on indmdual
performance, which may resutt in an exceptionat rate of
annuahised increase above ordinary levels If the Committeg
intends to rely on this discretion, it will be noted in the first
remuneration report following an individual's appomntment
Other elements of annual remuneration will be i Iing with the
policy set out in the Policy Table As such, short term vanable
remuneration will be capped as set out in the Policy Table

The following exceptions will apply

+ 1n the event that an intemnal appomtment is made or an
executive director joins as a result of a transfer of an
undertaking, merger, reconstruction or similar
reorganssation, the Committee retains the discretion to
continue with existing rermuneration provisions, including
pension contnbutions and the provision of benefits,

+ as deemed necessary and appropnate to secure an
appointment, the Committea retans the discretion to make
addiional payments linked to relocation, and

+ the Committee retains the discretion to provide an
immediate interest in Company performance by making a
long term incentive award on recruitment in accordance with
the Policy Tabte under its existing long term incentive
schemes or such future schemes as may be introduced by
the Company with the approval of its sharehoiders The
Committee will determing the level of the award, the
performance conditions and time honzon that would apply
to such awards at the tme of award, takng into account the
strategy and business circumstances of the Company

Service contracts will be entered nto on terms similar to those
for the existing executive directors, summansed in the
Recrutment table However, the Committee may authonse the
payment of a relocation and / or repatnation allowance, as well
as other associated international mobility terms and benefits,
such as tax equalisation and tax advice
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In addition to the annual remuneration elements noted above,
the Commuttee may consider buying out on a like-for-tike basis
bonuses and / or ncentive awards that an individual forfeits in
accepting the appontment The Committee will have the
authonty to rely on Listing Rule 9 4 2(2) or exceptional imits
within the existing shareholder approved Share and Share
Option Plans to make awards If made, the Commitiee will be
informed by the structure, time horizons, value and
performance targets associated with any forfeited awards
while retaining the discretion to make any payrment or award
deemed necessary and appropnate The Committee may also
require the appointee to purchase shares in the Company in
accordance with its shareholding policy

Recruitment table

With respect to the appointment of a new Chaiman or non-
executive director, terms of appointment will be consistent
with those currently adopted Vanable pay will not be
considered and as such no maximum apphes With respect
to non-executive directors, fees will be consistent with the
policy at the time of appointment If necessary, to secure
the appointment of a new Chaiman not based in the UK,
payments relating to relocation and / or housing can

be considered

Elerments of remuneration on appointment are set out in
the Recruitment table

A timely announcement with respect to any director’s
appontment and remuneration will be made to the
regulatory news services and posted on the Company's
corporate website

Area Feature Policy
Service contract and Notice penod * Up to 12 months from erther side
mcen;lve plan Entitlements on terminalion « As summansed 1n the Policy on loss of office
rovISIONS
P = Provisions for mitigation and payment in lieu of notice
Restnctive covenants « Gardening leave provisions
» Non-compete, non-solicitation, non-dealing and confidentiality
provisions
Vanable elements + The Committee has the discretion to determine whether an individual
shall participate in any incentive in the year of appointment
+ The Committee shall have the discretion to determine appropnate bonus
performance targets if participating in the year of appointrment
Annual remuneration  Salary * To be determined on appointment, taking into account factors including

Salary progression

Benefits and allowances .

market levels, expenence, intemal relatmvities and cost

i appointed at below market levels, salary may be re-aligned over the
subsequent one to three years subject to performance in role In this
situation, the Committee reserves the discrebon to make increases
above ordinary levels

This inttial market postioning and intention to increase pay above the
standard rate of increase in the Policy table (subject to performance) will
be disclosed in the first remuneraticn report following appointment

The Commuttee retains the discretion to provide additional benefits as
reasonably required These may include, but are not restncted to,
relocation payments, housing allowances and cost of Iving allowances

Policy on loss of office

Service contracts contain nerther a iquidated damages nor

a change of control clause

The Company shall have a nght to make a payment in
nolice in respect of basic salary, benefits including car

allowance and pension contributicns only for the director's
contractual penod of notice or, if termination i1s part way

A drrector shall also be entitled to a payment in respect of
accrued but untaken holiday and any statutory entitlements on
termination No compensation 1s paid for dismissal, save for

hew of statutory entitlements

A director shall be entitted to receive a redundancy payment in
crrcumstances where in the judgement of the Committee they
satisfy the statutory tests governing redundancy payments

through the notice perod, the amount relating to any unexpired  Any redundancy payment shall be calculated by reference to

notice to the date of temminahion There ts an obligation on
drrectors to mitigate any loss which they may suffer f the

the redundancy payment policy in force for all employees in
the relevant country at the time of the redundancy

Company terminates their service contract The Committee will
take such miigation obligation into account when determining
the amount and tmmg of any compensation payable to any

departing director
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If a director’s employment terminates pnor to the relevant
annual bonus payment date, ordinaniy no bonus 1s payable for
that financial year The Committee shall retain discretion to
make a pro-rated bonus payment and / or payment of a
retention bonus in crcumstances where it would be
appropnate to do s0 having regard to the contnbution of the
director dunng the financial year, the circumstances of the
departure and the best interests of the Company

Any entitlements under long tenm incentive schemes operated
by the Company shall be determined based on the rules of the
relevant scheme The default posibon under the Dixons
Carphone Share Plan 1s that awards will lapse on the
termination of employment unless the Committee exercises the
discretion set out in the scheme rules The Committee retains
the discretion to prevent awards from lapsing depending on
the circumstances of the departure and the best interests of
the Company

The Committee shall be entitled to exercise its judgement with
regard to settlemment of potential claims, including but not
lirmited to wrongful dismissal, unfair dismissal, breach of
contract and discnmination, where 1t 1s appropnate to do soin
the interests of the Company and its shareholders

In the event that any payment 1s made n relation to termination
for an executive director, this will be fully disciosed in the
following Annual Remuneration report

A timely announcement with respect to the termination of any
director’s appointment will be made to the reguiatory news
service and posted on the Company's corporate website

Service agreements

Service agreements for execulive directors

Each of the executive directors’ service agreements
provicles for

= the rembursement of expenses incurred by the executive
director in performance of their duties,

» 25 days paid holiday each year for Sebastian James,
Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe {full ime
equivalent), 27 days for Andrew Hamison and Graham
Stapleton,

+ sick pay, and

* notice periods whereby Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer
and Katie Bickerstaffe each have a notice penod of
12 months from the Company and six months from the
drector Andrew Hamson has a notice penod of 12 months
and Graham Stapleton six months from esther party

In situations where an executive director s dismissed, the
Committee reserves the nght to make additional exit payments
where stuch payments are made in good faith, such as

« indischarge of a legal obhgation, and

« by way of settlement or comprormse of any claim ansing in
connection with the termination of the director's office and
employment

Letters of appomntment

Each of the non-executive directors has a letter of
appointment The Company has no age imit for directors
Non-executive directors denve no other benefit from their
office, except that the Committee retains the discretion to
continue with &xsting remuneration provisions, including
pension contributions and the provision of benefits, where an
executive director becomes a non-executve director Itis
Company policy not to grant share opttons or share awards to
non-executive directors The Chaiman, Deputy Charman and
the other non-executive directors have a notice perod of three
months from either party

Appointments are reviewed annually by the Nominations
Committee and recommendations made to the Board
accordingly

External appomntments

The Board supports executive directors taking non-executive
directorships as a part of their continuing development, and
has agreed that the executive directors may retain therr fees
from ane such appointment Further detaills on current external
directorships and fees can be found in the Annual
Remuneration report

Avarlability for inspection

The service agreements for the executive directors and the
letters of appointments for the non-executive directors are
avatable for inspection at the Company's registered office and
at the venue for the Annua! General Meeting, 15 minutes prior
{o and dunng the meeting

Legacy arrangernents

For the avoidance of doubt, in approving the Remuneration
Policy report, authonty 1s given to the Company to honour
any commitments previously entered into with the current or
former directors which have been disciosed previously to
shareholders
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Intraduction

This part of the report has been prepared in accordance with
Part 3 of Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-Sized
Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations
2008 (as amended), and contain those elements required by
sechon 9 8 6R and stipulated in 9 8 8 of the Listing Rules This
Annual Remuneration report will be put to an advisory vote at
the Company's 2015 Annual General Meeting

The following sections set out how the Remuneration Policy
was implemented dunng 2014/15 and how it will be
implemented for the following year

Service Agreements

Service contracts

The following table summanses key terms of the service
contracts in place with the executive directors

Dats of contract

Sebastian James 29 Mar 12
Andrew Harmson 29 Oct 13
Humphrey Singer 2 Sep 11
Katie Bickerstaffe 29 Mar 12
Graham Stapleton 50ct 11

With the exception of Andrew Hamson, all the above executive
directors were apponted to the Board on 6 August 2014

Nigel Langstaff resigned from the Board as executive director
on 6 August 2014 More detalls are set out in the Directors'
remuneration tables on page 68 and 69

Letter of appointment

Non-executive directors are normally appointed for three year
terms, although appointments may vary depending on length
of service and succession planning considerations
Appointments are reviewed annually by the Nominations
Committee and recommendations made to the Board
accorchingly The date of the letters of appointment and expiry
of current terms are shown below

Letters of Expury of

appontment current temn

Sir Charles Dunstone i7 Jun 14 16Jun 17
John Gildersleeve 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Andrea Gisle Joosen 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Tim How 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Jock Lennox 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Gerry Murphy 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Roger Taylor 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17

Tim How, Jock Lennox and Andrea Gisle Joosen were
appotnted to the Board on 6 August 2014 and at the same
date John Allwood resigned from the Board John Allan was
appointed to the Board on 6 August 2014 and resigned on
17 February 2015 More details are set out in the single figure
of total Directors’ remuneration tables on pages 68 and 69

Remuneration committee membership and attendance

Members

Membership of the Committee compnses four non-
executive directors, their names and attendance record are
set out in the table below and therr biographies and
qualifications are set out on pages 36 and 37 The
Company's Deputy Charman s a member of the
Committee butis not its Chair The Committee’s terms of
reference are avalable on the Company's corporate
wehsite

Meetings
The Remuneration Commuittee met four scheduled times
dunng the penod under review and since the year end there

have been a further three meetings

Scheduled meetings
Members dunng the year
John Gildersleeve (Chairman) 4ofd
Andrea Gisle Joosen® 30f3
Tim How™ 30f3
Roger Taylort 3of 3%
Former members
John Allwood® 1 0of1
Baroness Morgan of Huyton™ 10f1
Gerry Murphy® 10of1

{1) Appotnted to the Committes B August 2014

(2) Resigned 6 August 2014

(3) Resigned from the Committee on 6 August 2014

{4) Roger Taylor also attended the fourth meeting but by invitation
not as a member

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 65

Corporate Governance




Corporate Governance

Annual Remuneration report

Only members of the Committee are entrtled to attend
Commuittee meetings but the Group Chief Executive and
Group Finance Director (or other senior management)
may attend meetings by invitabon and in an advisory
capacity only Meetings are also regularly attended by the
Company Secretary (who acts as Commuttee secretary),
Deputy Company Secretary and the Group Human
Resources Director

No director participates in discussions about their own
remuneration

Responsibilities

Responsibility for the establishment of an overall remuneration
pelicy for the Group hes with the Board The Remuneration
Committee has the following pnncipal duties

+ making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
framework of executive remuneration,

+ determining the fees of the Chairman and Deputy Chairman,

+ considenng and making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of the executive directors and senior
management relative to performance and market data,

« approving contracts of employment which exceed defined
thresholds of total remuneration or have unusual terms or
terrmination penods,

» considenng and agreeing changes to remuneration policy
or major changes to employee benefit structures, and

» approving and operating employee share based incentive
schemes and associated performance conditions
and targets

Adwvice

The Commuttee retained Towers Watson throughout 2014/15
as independent adwisors Towers Watson 1s engaged to
provide advice to the Committee and to work with the directors
on matters relating to the Group’s executive remuneration and
its long termincentives Towers Watson 1s a member of the
Remuneration Consultants Group and operates under its code
of conduct in relation to the provision of executive
remuneration adwvice in the UK Towers Watson has confirmed
that it adhered to the Code throughout 2014/15 for all
remuneration services provided to the Group Towers Watson
receved fees of £82,000 (2013/14 £84,000) in relation to the
provision of those services Towers Watson also provided
actuanal services on behalf of the defined benefit pension
scheme, however, the Committee has satisfied iself that
Towers Watson'’s advice was objective and independent

The Committee may also take external legal advice, where
required, to assist it in camying out its duties

External directorships

The policy relating to extema! directorships 1s outined in the
Remuneration Policy report For 2014/15, the following external
directorships were undertaken and the fees retaned by the
executive directors

« Sebastian James was appointed a non-executive director of
Drrect Line Insurance Group plc on 28 August 2014 and was
paid a fee of £53,000 from appointment to 2 May 2015

+ Kate Bickerstaffe has been a non-executive director of
Scothish and Southem Energy plc dunng 2014/15 and was
paid a fee of £57,000 for the pericd to 2 May 2015

How the remuneration policy wilt be apphed in 2015/16
Execulive directors

i) Base Salary

The Committee reviewed the executive directors’ salanes in
2014 as part of the Merger Where indviduals were appointed
to new roles, in line with our recruitment policy, base salary
levels were set taking into account a range of factors including
market levels, expenence and internal relativities

Due to the changes in base pay at Merger, no changes are
proposed to the base salanes of the executive directors
during 2015/16

Increasa in
Salary et Salary at Salary at
2 May 7 August 30 March

2015 2014 2014
£1000 £000 £ 000
Current directors
Sebastian James®? 820 - 820
Andrew Harrison 550 158% 475
Humphrey Singer? 475 - 475
Katie Bickerstaffe® 500 - 500
Graham Stapleton® 460 - 460

(1) Date of appointment, If later
(2) Appointed 6 August 2014

1) Pension Contributions

Company Contnbutions or allowance in heu will continue in
2015/16 at therr current levels of 10% for Sebastian James,
Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe and 5% Andrew
Harnson and Graham Stapleton

i) STIP (Annual performance bonus)

The maximum annual bonus for 2015/16 will be 125% of base
salary and will operate on a similar basis as for the previous
year That i, the measures have been selected to reflect our
key strategic objectives and are aligned to our Group balanced
scorecard, with a minimum profit gate that must be achieved
before any bonus is paid out The proposed target levels for
the year have been set to be challenging relative to the
business plan The Committee feels that specific targets
relating to the 2015/16 bonus scheme are currently
commercially sensitive and as such will not be disclosed
However, refrospective disclosure of the targets and
performance against them will be provided in next year's
Remuneration report to the extent that they do not reman
commercidlly sensitive at that time
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The performance metncs and their weightings for 2015/16 are
shown in the table below

Weighting (as a percentage of
maxdimum bonus

opportunity)
EBIT 60%
Net Debt 10%
ROCE 10%
Customer net promoter score 10%
Employee engagement 10%
) LTIP

There will be no further LTIP grants for executive directors
dunng 2015/16

Remuneration details for 2014/15

Performance graph

The graph below shows the Group's performance measured
through TSR on a holding of £100 in the Company's shares,
compared with the FTSE 350 Index, since 28 March 2010
when the Company was first admitted to the London Stock
Exchange The FTSE 350 has been used as it 1s a broad
market which ncludes the Company and a number of its
competitors The Company’s performance up untl the pencd
ended 29 March 2014, which was pnor to the Merger, relates
to Carphone Warehouse plc After the Merger on 6 August
2014, the Compary was renamed Dixons Carphone plc

Total sharsholder return
Source Datestream

Group Chief Executive pay

The following table shows, over the same five year penod as
the performance graph above, the Group Chief Executive’s
single total figure of remuneration, the amount of bonus
eamned as a percentage of the maximurm remuneration
possible, and the vesting of long term awards as a percentage
of the maximum number of shares that could have vested
where applicable

Long term

incentive

Annual vesting

bonus rateg

CEO single payout against
figure of against  maxmum

remunerationt!  maximum  opportunty
£000 % %

Year
Sebastian James B
Andrew Hamson
2015 Total
Andrew Harnson 679 54% n/a
Roger Taylor 159 n/a n/a
2014 Total 838
2013 Roger Tayior 958 55% n/a
2012 Roger Taylor 474 o%® n/a
2011 Roger Taylor 1,193 82% n/a

(1) Excludes remuneration receved from long term incentive schemes

established by Old Carphone Warshouse prior to the demerger
from TalkTalk because that company 1s not part of the current
Group Details of remuneration asscciated with Old Carphone
Warehouse incentive schermes were provided in the company’s
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2012 Future reports
willinclude long term ingentives operated by the current Group
when they have vested

2) Roger Taylor waived a bonus of 25% maximum potential and
nstead chose for it to be paid directly to chanty
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Annual Remuneration report

Audited information

Single figure of Directors’ remuneration for the penod ended 2 May 2015

2014115
Basic
satary and Pension Annual  Taxablo Total Lmp Total
fees  contributions™ bonus™ benefitz™ emoluments payments™ remunaration
£000 £1000 £000 000 £000 £1000 000
Executive
Current directors " L
Sebastian James™ 590 59 1,025 13 1,687 _ 1,687
Andrew Hamson 570 28 745 14 1,357 - 1,357
Hurnphrey Singer™ 342 3 594 13 983 - . 983
Katie Bickerstaffe®" 360 36 625 12 1,033 - - 1,053 N
Graham Stapleton® 343 17 623 10 993 - . 993
Former director ‘ o
Nigel Langstaff’! 117® 8 - 4 127 - 127
2,322 180 | 3,612 66 6,180 ‘- 8,180
- .
Non-executive I
Current directors A
Sir Charles Dunstone 290 - - - 290 - 290
Roger Taylor 179 - - Ll 180 -, 180
Andrea Gisle Joosen! 50 - - - 50 — 50
John Gildersleeve 87 - - - 87 - 87
Tim How!" 47 - - - 47 - 47
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 70 - - —_ 70 - ?0
Jock Lennoxt 54 - — - 54 - 54
Gerry Murphy 67 - - - 67 - . 67
Former directors
John Allan™ 75 — - - 75 - 75
John Allwood™ 28 - - - 28 - - =
947 - - 1 048 - | 948
3,269 180 3,612 67 7,128 - 7,128

M

@

&

@

{5)
®)

Remuneration ts shown for the penod sarved on the Board The following directors were appointed on 6 August 2014 Sebastian James,
Humphrey Singer, Katie Bickerstaffe, Graham Stapleton, Andrea Gisle Joosen, Tim How and Jock Lennox Remuneration / fees for these
directors 1s shown from appointment 1o 2 May 2015 John Allan was apponted to the Board on 6 August 2014 and resigned on 17 February
2015 and the feas shown are for this panod Migel Langstaff and John Allweod resigned from the Board on 6 August 2014 and remuneration
/ fees are from 1 Apnl 2014 to date of leaving

Penswon contnbutions compnse the Company's contnbution or allowance in heu together with the salary supplement which s based on the
difference between basic salary and the scheme eamings cap set by the Company This addiional amount was 10% for Sebastian James,
Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe and 5% for Andrew Hamson, Nige! Langstaff and Graham Stapleton

Annual bonus for Graham Stapleton and base salary and annual bonus for Andrew Hamson represenis the arnount earmed over 13 months
following the alignment of the financial year end Annual bonuses for Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe represent
the amount eamed over the 12 months to 2 May 2015, wiich includes the penod pnor to the Merger All bonuses are calculated based on
the directors’ annual salary as at 2 May 2015

Taxable benefits include pnvate medical insurance, car allowance and Sharasave gains of £4,000 for Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer
and Katie Bickerstaffe in respect of options granted on 26 February 2015 as set out in the table on page 72

LTIP payments wouid compnse amounts under the Share Plan, however, the vesting penods end in July 2017 and July 2018

In addition to the above remuneration and subsequent to resigning from the Board on 6 August 2014, Nigel Langsta¥ recerved a
redundancy payment of £247,000 upon leaving the business in December 2014 Nige! atso receved £350,000 as a payment in lieu of notice
in respect of basic salary, £19,700 in respect of benefits {including car allowance, permanent health insurance and life cover) and £17,500 in
respect of pension contribubons There was no payment for accrued holiday untaken These amounts were in line with contractual
entitlements and the Group's redundancy payments pohcy and no discretion was applied in therr determunation The Committee determined
to apply discretion 1o pay a bonus of £437,500 in respect of the penod of service in the 2014/15 financial year and n respect of ongoing
support up to the announcement of the preliminary results for 2014/15

Roger Taylor continues to receive pnvate medicat insurance benefits
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Single figure of Directors’ remuneration 2013/14

201314
Basic salary Pansion Annual Taxable Total LTIP Total
and fees™  contnbutions™ bonus benefits emoluments paymants® remuneration
£ 000 £000 £000 £ 000 £ 000 £000 £ 000
Executive
Andrew Harnson® 317 15 339 8 679 - 679
Nigel Langstaff 325 16 375 10 726 - 726
1,175 38 714 23 1,850 - 1,950 E
Non-executive E
Sir Charles Dunstone® 240 - - - 240 - 240 2]
Roger Taylor® 293 7 - 5 305 - 305 £
John Allwood 74 - - - 74 _ 74 g
John Gildersleeve 81 - - - 81 — 81
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 60 - - - 60 - 60 ‘
Gerry Murphy - - - - - - -
215 - - — 215 - 215 |
\
1,390 38 714 23 2,165 - 2,165

{1) Pension contnbutions compnse the Company's contribution to a defined contnbution pension scheme or allowance i lieu of contnbution to
a pension scheme This additonal amount was 5%
{2) LTIP payments would compnse amounts under the Share Plan, however, the vesting penods end in July 2017 and July 2018 |
{3) Andrew Hamson joined the Board on 24 July 2013 and the remuneration shown is for the penod he was a director
{4) Sir Charles Dunstone and Roger Taylor were employed by the Company dunng this penod and ther pay was reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee

{5) Roger Taylor's remuneration relates to his tenure both as an executive director until 24 July 2013 and subsequently as Deputy Chairman
{6) No payments were made to former directors and no payment for loss of office were made durning the year

Long term incentive plans (LTIP)
The Share Plan awards made dunng 2014/15 vestin July 2017 (60%6} and July 2018 (40%)

Details of the awards made and the loans granted to the directors to enable them to subscnbe for shares under the Share Plan
are detalled later in this report

No LTIPs have vested dunng the year for the directors whilst serving on the Board Nigel Langstaff's share entitlements under
the Share Plan lapsed on leaving the Group

Annual bonus for 2014/15

Dunng the year the maximum bonus opportunity for all executive directors was aligned to 125% of base salary In addition, due
to the Merger and the change to the financial year end the annual bonus measures and targets were reset (as shown below) to
reflect the new merged business All targets are expressed and will be measured on a pro forma basis, as though the Merger
had occurred at the beginning of the financial year, and reflecting the respective 12 and 13 month penods for Dixons and
Carphone, respectively

The Comimittee determined at the beginmng of the year that the disclosure of performance targets were commercially sensitive
and these were therefore not disclosed This was because targets were set within the context of a longer term business plan and
this disclosure could give information to competitors to the detnment of business performance The Committee has however
disclosed in the table below the targets on a retrospective basis and the actual performance against these

Bonus payments will be at maximum levels and will be paid at 125% of base salary The bonus amounts to be pad to the
executive directors in respect of 2014/15 are set out in the directors' remuneration table on page 68
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Annua!l bonus for 2014/15
As a parcentage

of maximum
bonus
Measure opportunity Threshold Target Maximum Actual Payout
Pro forma Headhne EBIT 55% n/a £385 milion €405 mihon £414 million 55%
Pro forma average net (debt) / funds -
variance vs budget 25% £(50) milion Budget £50 miion  £80 million 25%
Return on Caprtal Employed (ROCE}) 20% 15 4% 159% 16 4% 20 0% 20%

The maximum annual bonus of 125% of base salary 15 payable at the maximum leve! of performance and 75% of base salary
on achievemnent of target performance

Non-executive directors’ and charman’s fees

The fees for the Independent non-executive directors are determined by the Board (excluding non-executive directors) after
considenng extemal market research and are reviewed on an annual basis Factors taken into consideration include the required
time commitrment, specific expenence and / or qualifications A base fee 1s payable and additional fees are paid for chainng and
membership of committees The Chairman is not involved in the setting of his own salary which 1s dealt with by the
Remuneration Committee annually The Deputy Chairman's fee Is set by the Remuneration Committee with the Deputy
Chairman being absent Non-executive directors recerve no vanable pay and receive no additional benefits, except in situations
where an executive director becomes a non-executive director and benefit and pension arangements continue

For 2015/16, independent non-executive directors will receive a basic fee of £60,000 (2014/15 £45,000) and additional fees as
set out in the table below for chainng or membership of committees The increase in fees paid to non-executive directors reflects
the increased size and complexity of the Group following the Merger

2014115 20314

£000 £000
Charr of Audit Committee 15 15
Member of Audit Committee 5 5
Chair of Nomination Committee™ 8 8
Member of Normination Committee 5 5
Char of Remuneration Committee 15 10
Member of Remuneration Committee 5 5
Chair of Consumer Regulatory and Compliance Committee® - 3

{1) The Chaiman has chaired the Nomunations Committee since 7 August 2014 and recerves no further fee
{2} This Committee ceased to operate as a Board Committee on 13 November 2014

Percentage change in remuneration {not audited)

Increase percentage figures have not been given for the role of Group Chief Executive as, due to the Merger and change in
incumbent, the figures are not directly comparable The relevant figures for 2015/16 will be shown in next year's Remuneration
report We have however, set out below, the percentage change for all UK head office based employees as this Group provides
the best like-for-like compansen Changes in salary relating to changes in roles and / or responsibilities have been excluded from
the increase presented for the wider group

UK head

Group Chual oifice

Executtve  emgioyess

Salary and fees N/A 25%
Taxable benefits™ N/A 0%
Annual bonuses N/A 0%

{1) Taxable benefits have not been separately measured since there have been no matenal changes in Group benefits year on year
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Relative importance of spend on pay

The following table sets out both the total cost of remuneration for the Group compared with pro forma Headline EBIT and

profits distnbuted for 2014/15 and the pnor year

2014/15 2013414
Emillion fmilion  Change (%}
Dividends paid® 52 30 73%
Total staff costs ~ continuing operations® 900 230 291%
Number Number GChange {%)}
Employes numbers — continuing operations® @ 32,834 6,980 370%

(1} Extracted from note 22 to the Group financial statements
{2} Extracted from note 5 to the Group financial statements
(3} The average number of employees has been provided for context

Directors’ interests in shares
Share ownership gudelines

The Company has a policy of encouraging executive directors to build shareholdings in the Company Following the Merger the
Committee rewiewed the shareholding pohicy and as a result all executive directors are required within five years to bulld up
200% of their salary as a holding in the Company Other key sermor management roles are required to build up 100% of salary

The actual shareholdings of the executive directors are set oul In the Directors’ shareholding table below

Directors’ interests in the Share Plan

The table below shows the allocation to the executive directors of participation shares in the subsidiary, New CPW Limited, in
relation to the Share Plan, together with detalls of the loans 1ssued to enable the directors to subscribe to the partcipation
shares As setout in the policy table there are two pools under the share plan, one for the onginal grant in December 2013 and
one for the second grant post Merger The calculation of the pools 1s set out on pages 58 and 60 of the Policy Table and in
particular the performance penod ends in July 2017, when 60% of the shares vests with 409 being deferred for a further year

ASharesin A Shafesin B Sharesin Allocation of Allocation Loan Lean
subsidiary subsidiary  subsidiary  Allocation of A pool of Bpool outstandng outstanding
allocated as sllocatad ahocated A pool as at asat asat as at as at
at 29 March  asat 2 May asat 2 May 29 March 2 May 2 May 29 March 2 May
20142 20152 20159 201402 20t50a 20157 2014 2015
Number Number Number (%) (%) {%) £ 000 £'000

Current directors
Sebastian James — — 1,100 - - 11% - 2,239
Andrew Harrison 700 700 200 7% 7% 2% 389 810
Humphrey Singer - - 700 —- - 7% - 1,425
Katie Bickerstaffe - - 700 — - 7% - 1,425
Graham Stapleton 600 600 100 6% 6% 1% 334 549

Former director

Nige! Langstaff® 600 600 - 6% - - 334 -

{1} Date of appointment, if later

(2} Allocaton relates to the pre Merger pool in respect of A ordinary shares Face value 1S not included as due to the structure of the Share Plan
1115 not considered a representative figure Further detads of the operation of the Share Plan, including performance conditions for vesting

are set out on page 58

{3} Allocation relates to the post Merger pool in respect of B ordinary shares Face value 15 not included as due to the structure of the Share
Plan it s not considered a representative figure Further details of the operation of the Share Plan, including performance conditions for

vesting are set out on page 58

{4) Nigel Langstaff's share entilements under the Share Plan remained on resignation from the Board but lapsed on leaving the Group
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Directors’ Share Options
As part of the Merger participants of the Dixons Retall Sharesave Plan were offered the opportunity to roll over therr sharesave

awards into options over Dixons Carphone pic Those awards rolled over by the directors, in addition to other options owned by
the directors over the Company are shown in the table below

Lapsed or
At Awardsd forfeited Al
Exercise 30 March in the inthe Exercised 2May Date from wiich Explry ot the
Data of grant price {p) 20149 period penod  In period 2015 first exercisable exercise pariod
Sebastian James
Sharesave 23 Jul 2013™ 209 35 601 - - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar2017
26 Feb 2015% 344 00 — 4,866 - — 4,866 1Apr2018 30 Sep 2018
601 4,866 - - 5,467
Andrew Hamson
Sharesave 10Jan 2014 22400 4,017 - - - 4,017 1 Mar2017 31Aug 2017
4,017 - - - 4,017
Humphrey Singer
Sharesave 22 Jul 2011 8393 1,508 - - {1,505)% = 10ct2014 31 Mar 2015
23 Jul 2012 9148 1,377 - - - 1,377 10ct2015 31 Mar 2016
23 Jul 2013 209 35 601 - - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar2017
26 Feb 2015¥ 344 00 - 4,500 - - 4,500 1Apr2018 30Sep 2018
3,483 4,500 - {1,505) 6,478
Katie Bickerstaffe
Sharesave 22 Jul 2011 B393 1,505 - - (1,505~ - 1QCct2014 31 Mar 2015
23 Jul 2012% 9148 1,377 - - - 1,377 10ct2015 31 Mar 2016
23 Jul 2013 209 35 601 - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 2015 344 00 — 4,500 - - 4500 1Apr2018 30 Sep 2018
3,483 4,500 - {1,505) 6,478

(1) Share options that were granted under the Dixons Retall Sharesave Plan and rolled over into options over Dixons Carphone ple shares
The exercise pnce shown s the roll over pnce over Dixons Carphone plc shares
{2) Date of appointment, If later
(3) The options exercised by Katie Bickerstaffe and Humphrey Singer on 7 October 2014 had a market prica of £3 685 on the date of exercise
{4) The face value of awards granted on 26 February 2015 for the executive directors was £16,739 for Sebastian James and £15,480 for
Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe
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Directors’ shareholding
Details of directors’ interests in shares of the Company are shown in the following table

Beneficlally Owned Restricted interests in share plans
Total Total
beneficial  beneficial
interests share
undar share interosts
Share Plan® Share Plan™ Sharesave ownership asa Exerclsed
2 May 258 March as st as at as at guidetings % of salary't during
2015 2014™ 2 May 20157 2 May 2015 2May2015  2May 2015 2May 2015  2018M5
Executive directors
Current directors
Sebastan James 908,234 908,234 - 1,100 5467 908,234 475% -
Andrew Harnson 5,000,000 5,000,000 700 200 8,883 5,000,000 3,902% —
Humphrey Singer 617,770 616,265 - 700 6478 617,770 558% 1,505
Katie Bickerstaffe 657,590 656,085 - 700 6478 657,590 564% 1,505
Graham Stapleton 880,034 880,034 600 100 — 8B0,034 B821% -
Former director
Nigel Langstaff 3,654,180 3,654,180 600 - - N/A N/A -
Non-executive directors
Current directors
Sir Charles Dunstone® 134,758,481 135,083,481 - - - - - -
Roger Taylor 9,808,554 9,808,554 - - - - - -
John Gildersleeve 122,568 122,568 - - - - - -
Andrea Gisle Joosen 6,076 6,076 - - - - - -
Tim How 12,400 12,400 - - - - - -
Jock Lennox 11,625 11,625 - - - - - -
Baroness Morgan of Huyton a9 91 — - - - - -
Gerry Murphy 20,000 - - - - - - -
Former directors
John Allan 183,026 183,026 — - - N/A N/A -
John Allwood 10,000 10,000 - - - N/A N/A -

(1) Date of appointment, if fater

@

3

&)

{5)
&

The shares listed here are in ‘A’ ordinary shares New CPW Limited as pant of the shares purchased in refation to the Share Plan Thesa have
heen subscnbed for by the Directors ‘A’ ordinary shares have a different opening vatuation to ‘B’ orcinary shares, as descnbed in note (3},
reflecting the value of the Company at appropnate times pnor to the grants

The shares histed here are in ‘B’ ardinary shares New CPW Limited as part of the shares purchased in relation {o the Share Plan These have
been subscnbed for by the Directors 'B’ ordinary shares have a different apening valuation to ‘A’ crdinary shares, as descnbed in note (2),
reflecting the value of the Company at appropnate times prior to the grants

Not including the Share Plan participation shares or sharesave options Based on basic salary as at 3 May 2015 and an average share pnce
over the menth to 2 May 2015 of £4 292

Date of resignation, If earlier

On 22 January 2015 Sir Charles Dunstone transferred 325,000 ordinary shares for nil consideration to the Charles Dunstone Chantable
Trust He s not a trustee or beneficiary of this trust

There were no changes in the directors’ resincted or unresincted share interests between 2 May 2015 and the date of this report
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Statement of voting at shareholder meetings (not audited)

The Company 1s committed to ongoing shareholder dialogue in respect of directors’ remuneration, and takes an active interest
in voting outcomes and in particular we have consulted with our shareholders on the remuneration policy being put to the vote
at the Annual General Meeting Where there are substantial votes against resolutions, explanatory reasons will be sought, and

any actions in response will be communicated to shareholders

The following tables set out the voting resuits in relation 1o the resolutions put to the 2014 annual general meeting

Resolution Votes for % Votes against % Withheld
Approval of Remuneration Policy 457,425,221 9066 47,152,293 934 2,127,987
Approval of Annual Remuneration report 418,120,856 9140 39,357,141 860 49,227,504

Following feedback received on the policy dunng 2014 the Company has reduced the level of annual bonus for executive
directors and has excluded them from being eligible to participate in the rid term incentive plan introduced following

the Merger

Compliance

As required by the Regulations, a resolution to approve this Remuneration report will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting

to be held on 10 September 2015

e

John Glidersleeve
Chasyman of the Remuneration Comrmuttee
16 July 2015
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for prepanng the annual report and the financial statements m accordance with applicable law
and regulations

Company law reguires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the directors are
required to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have
elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with UK GAAP Under company law the directors must not
approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they give a true and farr view of the state of affars of the Company and the
Group and of the profit or logs of the Company and the Group for that penod

In prepaning the Company financial statements, the directors are required to
+ select sutable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudernt,

» state whether applicable UK GAAP has been followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explaned in the
financial statements, and

+ prepare the financial statements on the gomg concem basts unless it 1s inappropnate to presume that the Company will
continue In business

in prepanng the consolidated financial statements, IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’ requires that directors
+ properly select and apply accounting policies,

+ present mformation, ncluding accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information,

+ provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS are insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Group’s financial position and financial
performance, and

+ make an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concem

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explan the Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregulanties

The directors are responsible for the mantenance and ntegnty of the corporate and financial information included on the
Group’s website Legislation in the United Kingdom goveming the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other junsdichions

Responsibility statement
We confinm that to the best of our knowledge

+ the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, give a true and far view of
the assets, labiities, financial posiion and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included i the consolidation
taken as a whole,

+ the Strategic report includes a farr review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a descnption of the principal
nsks and uncertainties that they face, and

+ the annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are far, balanced and understandable and provide the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and the Company's performance, business model and strategy

By Order of the Board

Calkal

Sebastan James Humphrey Singer
Group Chiet Executive Group Fnance Director
16 July 2015 16 July 2015
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Opinion on the financial statements of Dixons Carphone pic
In our opinion,

« the financial statements give a true and farr view of the state of the Group's and of the parent Company's affairs as at 2 May
2015 and of the Group's profit for the penod then ended,

» the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Umnon,

+ the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared n accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP), and

+ the Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as
regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation

The financial statements compnse the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consohdated cash flow statement and the
related notes 1 to 30, and the parent Company balance sheet and the related notes C1 to C12 The financtal reporting framework
that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements 1s applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent Company financial
statements 1s applicable law and Urnited Kingdom Accounting Standards (UK GAAP)

Separate opinion 1n relation to IFRSs as issued by the IASB

As explained in note 1 to the Group financial statements, in addition to complying with its legal obhgation to apply IFRSs as '
adopted by the European Urion, the Group has also applied IFRSs as 1ssued by the Intemnational Accounting Standards Board !
{1ASB)

In our opinion the Group financial statements comply with IFRSs as 1ssued by the 1ASB |
Going concern

As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the Directors’ staterment contained on page 26 that the Group is a going
concern We confirm that

* we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concem basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements 1s appropnate, and

+ we have not identified any matenal uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the group's ability to continue as a going
concern

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement 1s not a guarantee as to the Group's ability
to continue as a going concem

Our assessment of nsks and matena! misstatement

The assessed risks of matenal misstatement descnbed below are those that had the greatest effect on our audit strategy, the
allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team The key nsks we identified are

= Acquisition accounting,

+ Impamment of goodwill and other intangible assets,

+ Assets held for sale, discontinued operations and disposal accounting,
» Ravenue recognition - network commissions,

= Suppher funding,

= Inventory provisioning, and

« Taxation
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Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the nsk

Acquisition accounting

The identification and determination of the fair value of
intangible assets ansing from the acquisition of Dixons
Retail plc and the recognition of fair value adjustments
through the associated purchase pnce allocation
process involves complex accounting considerations
Management engaged extemnal valuation experts in
relation to this process  £3,002 million of ntangible
assets, ncluding brand names of £365 million, customer
relationships of £8 millron and goodwill of £2,629 million
have been recognised in the penod The intangible asset
identification and valuation process requires
management judgement in respect of estimates of future
cash flows and associated discount rates in addition to
economic lves

Fair value adjustments, in particular those ansing from
property, plant & equipment, pre-existing intangible
assets and property operating leases, require significant
Judgement in refation to farr value at the date of
acquisition, for which managerment also engaged
external valuation experts

Further information in relation to this area is discussed in
notes 1u) and 23 to the Group financial statements

We tested the design and implementation of the controls around
management’s process for both the dentification and valuation of
ntangible assets and farr value adjustments We used our intemal
valuation specialists to consider and evaluate the appropnateness of
the methodologies applied and to test the inputs to the valuation
models used to detemine the value of the mtangible assets, including
the discount rates, growth rates and useful economic lives, through
companng these aganst mdustry benchmarks on similar assets and
our understanding of the future prospects of the business We also
tested the appropnateness of the cash flow projections used In

the valuations

For the other significant farr value adjustments, we obtaned
appropnate support for the adjustments, reviewed any assumptions
against relevant industry and company data to assess the
appropnateness of the adjustments, and utiised intemal valuation
specialists where appropnate

Imparment of goodwill and other intangible assets

The Group has significant acquisthon related intangible
assets, ncluding goodwall, (£3,351 millon at 2 May 2015
including £2,988 milion of goodwill and £362 million of
acquisiion intangibles, related to the CPW Europe
Acquisition In the prior year and in the current year the
acquisition of Dixons Retail pic) The Group's
assessment of impaiment of acquisition related
intangible assets, pnmanly ansing from the CPW Europe
and Dixons Retail plc acquisttions, is a jJudgemental
process which requires estimates conceming the futire
cash flows and associated discount rates and growth
rates based on management's projections of future
husiness performance and prospects The key
judgements and estimates involved are described in
more detail n notes 1), 1m) and 1u) to the Group
financial statements

We assessed the assumptions used by management in the
impairment models for goodwtll and acquisiion related intangible
assets, including the allocation to cash generating units descnbed in
note 9 to the Group financial statements, and more specffically the
cash flow projections, discount rates (utilising the assistance of our
valuation specialists), and long term growth rates used against
histoncal performance, our understanding of the future prospects of
the business and companson against market rates and the prevailing
Group cost of capital at the year end We have audited the mechanics
of the mpairment models prepared by management

Assets held for sale, discontinued operations and
disposal accounting

The classification and valuation of net assets in the
Phone House operations in the Netherlands, Germany
and Portugal as held for sale at the balance sheet date 15
a key area of management judgement In addition, the
classification of these businesses as discontinued
operations must be carefully considered in ine with the
relevant accounting standard Further informaton 1s
included tn note 24 to the Group financial statements

We tested the design and implementation of controls which
management have i place around planned and completed
disposal activities

We challenged management's judgement on the classification and
valuation of assets held for sale through understanding the status of
the sales process and reviewing correspondence from purchasers and
prospective purchasers This included consideration of any relevant
disposal provisions with reference to the sales agreements and
supporting documentation We also assessed the classification of
disposed busimesses and other assets held for sale as discontinued
operations aganst the relevant cntena in the accounting standard
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Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the nsk

Revenue recogribion - network commissions

Commission receivable on sales, being commission
which 1s contractually committed, and for which there
are no onhgaing performance obligations, 1s dependent
on customer behaviour beyond the point of sale
Management i1s therefore required to exercise
judgement in respect of the leve! of customer default
within the contract penod, expected levels of customer
spend and customer behaviour beyond the initial
contract period The key judgements and estimates
involved are descrnbed in more detail in notes 1d} and
1u) to the Group financial statements

We evaluated the design and implementation of both the manual and
autornmated controls over the revenue recogniion process in respect
of commussions recevable, utilising IT specialists to assist with testing
of automated controls In addrion we tested that these controls were
operating effectively throughout the penod

We have tested the valuation of revenue recognised through review
of the Group's contractual arrangements, substantive testing of
management assumptions including tenure, line rental, and chum to
third party network data and testing of subsequent cash receipts

We have also assessed any changes in estimate n companson to the
pnor year and reviewed year on year movement in key assumptions

Supplier funding

The Group holds a number of significant funding
arrangements with supphers Agreements in relation to
suppher funding are based predominantly an volume-
related targets, for both purchases and sales, and are
most commonly agreed as a fixed percentage of targets
upfront These targets are generally a mix of quarterly
and annual targets and are mostly coterminous with the
Group's year end The timing of recogrution of this
income 1s sometimes judgemental, in particular where
the target pencd for measuning achievements spans the
year end and it 15 necessary to ensure there 1s sufficient
formal documentation justifying recognition As a result,
and grven the increased focus on this area by
management and investors, we have elevated the
treatment of supplier funding to be a significant nsk
area this year The key judgements and estimates
involved are descnbed in more detail in note 1u) to the
Group financial statements

We obtained an understanding of the key supplier funding
arrangements across the Group As part of this, we met with the key
commercial and finance process owners, we tested the design and
implementation of the Group’s key controls in gperation, principally
focused on those that detemine the appropnate timing of recognition
for suppher funding balances, and we performed an analytical
assessment of movements in suppher funding throughout the

current year to histoncal trends

To ensure there Is sufficient avidence to support the recognition
of supplier funding, we substantively tested and recalculated a
sample of amounts with reference to third party contracts We
also obtained confirmations receved following circulansaton of
a sample of suppliers

Inventory provisioning

Inventory 1s a significant balance for the Group

{£920 milhon at 2 May 2015) and there are a number

of jJudgemental areas including obsolescence and
shnnkage prowisioning This nsk has a significant effect
on our audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the
audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team
in the legacy Dixons side of the business only, given the
nature and relative significance of the inventory balances
within each part of the Group Further mformation in
relation to this area s discussed in notes 1) and 1u)

to the Group financial statements

We have performed testing of the operating effectiveness of controls
around the inventory business cycle and attended a sample of
inventory counts at 31 stores and distnbution centres acress the UK
and Nordics, including visiting the Group’s main distnbution centre In
Newark on five separate occasions, which enables us to assess
management’s processes for morutonng inventory We performed
audrt tests to assess whether inventory 1s valued at the lower of cost
and net realisable value We reviewed, recalculated and assessed the
inventory ageing and provisioning for reasonableness, including
challenging the appropnateness of provisioning with reference to both
historical and post year end performance and a review of the provision
as a percentage of gross stock year on year We have also considered
the mpact of range changes and other specific known areas of over-
stock on the required prowision calculation

Taxation

The Group operates in a number of different tax
junsdictions The nature of the Group’s operations and
related transactions can give nse to uncertan tax
treatments, including with respect to transfer pncing,
thereby requinng the use of estmates and assumptions
which may be subsequently challenged by the refevant
tax authonties

Further informaton in relation to this area 1s discussed
in notes 1k) and 1uv) to the Group financial statements

We used our internal tax specialists to evaluate and test
management's assumptions in respect of tax related provisions,
including assessment agamst local tax legislation and review of
supporting documentation
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Last year our report included one other nsk which 1s not included in our report this year and related to the Group's
announcement of ts planned exit from the French retaill market in Apnl 2013 The Dixons Retaill plc audit report also included
nsks related to non-undertying items, defined benefit pension assumptions and customer support agreement revenue
recognition In the new enlarged Group, these nsks do not represent areas that had the greatest effect on our audit strategy,
the allocation of rescurces in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team

The descnphion of nsks above should be read 1n conjunction with the significant 1ssues considered by the Audit Committee
discussed on page 49 and 50

Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and not to express an opinion on individual accounts or disclosures Qur opinicn on the financial staterments 1s not modified with
respect to any of the nsks descnbed above, and we do not express an opinion on these individual matters

Qur apphcation of matenalty

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes 1t probable that the economic
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced We use matenality both n planming the scope
of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work

We determined matenalty for the group to be £14 0 milhon, which i1s below 5% of adjusted Headline profit before tax, and below
1% of equity In using adjusted headline profit before tax, we have followed the Group's defirition of Headline results in note 1a)
and adjusted this to include the mpact of the amortisation of acquisihon mtangibles and pension finance costs due to their
recurrnng nature We have assessed the use of a Headline measure to be appropnate as this continues to be a key dnver of
business value, 15 a cntical compenent of the financial statements and the main measure which management uses to monitor
the performance of the business and communicate this to shareholders

In 2013/14 matenahty was £6 0 million, below 5% of Headline profit before tax and below 2% of equity

We agreed with the Audit Cormmittee that we would report to the Commuttee all audit differences in excess of £500,000
(2013/14 £120,000}, as well as differences below that threshold that, in cur view, warranted reporting on quahltative grounds
We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the
financial statements

An overview of the scope of our audit

We have reassessed our group audit scope following the acquisitton of Dixons Retail ple and accordingly have no longer
performed full scope audits in Portugal or Ireland

Our group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and rts environment, including group-wide controls,
and assessing the nsks of matenal misstatement at the group level Based on that assessment, we focused our group audit
scope pnmaniy on the audit work of the retail operations operating under the Dixons and Carphone brands in the UK, and those
operations 1N the Nordics, Germany, Spain and the Netherlands Each of these components requires a local statutory audit
These locations represent the pancipal business units and account for approximately 93% of the Group's revenue ansing from
continuing operations (2013/14 95%)} In addition, an audit of specified account balances was performed in Greece Each
location was selected to provide an appropriate basis for undertaking audit work to address the nsks of material misstatement
dentified above Qur audit work at these locations was executed at a level of matenality applicable to each indvidual entity
which was lower than group matenality and ranged from £1 0 mellion to £8 0 milkon

At the Dixons Carphone plc parent entity level we also tested the consalidation process and camed out analytical procedures to
confirm our conclusion that there were no significant nsks of matenal misstaterent of the aggregated financial nformation of the
remaining components not subject to audit or audit of specified account balances

The Group audit team Is closely iInvolved in the audit of the two UK components, being the largest part of the Group, throughout
the year including attendance at key audit planning and closing meetings In addition, the Group audit team continued to follow a
programme of planned visits to overseas components that has been designed so that a serior member of the Group audit team
visits the most significant locations each year For the penod ended 2 May 2015, a senior member of the Group audit team
visited Norway, Span, and Germany In years when we do not visit a partcular significant component we will include the
component audit tearn in our team brefing, discuss therr nsk assessment, and review documentation of the findings from

therr work
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Independent Auditor’s report

Opinion on other matters prescnbed by the Comparies Act 2006
In our opinion

« the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared n accordance with the Companies
Act 2006, and

+ the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors' report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Compantes Act 2006 we are required to report to you i, in our opinion

* we have not receved all the information and explanatrons we require for our audtt, or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retums adequate for our audit have not been
receved from branches not visited by us, or

+ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

Directors' remuneration

Under the Compantes Act 2006 we are also required to report If th our opinion certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
have not been made or the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited 1s not In agreement with the accounting
records and retums We have nothing to report ansing from these matters

Corporate Governance statement
Under the Listing Rules we are also required to review the part of the Corporate Governance statement relating to the company’s
complance with 10 provisions of the UK Corporate Govemnance Code We have nothing to report ansing from our review

Our duty to read other information in the Annual Report and Accounts
Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), we are required to report to you if, tn our opiruon, information in the
Annual Report and Accounts 1s

+ matenally inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements, or

« apparently matenally incorrect based on, or matenally inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course
of perforrming our audtt, or

+ otherwise misleading

In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identified any inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired
dunng the audit and the directors’ statement that they consider the annual repert s far, balanced and understandable

and whether the Annual Report and Accounts appropnately discloses those matters that we commuricated to the Audit
Committee which we consider should have been disclosed We confirm that we have not identified any such inconsistencies
or musleading statements

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibiliies, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Qur responstbility 1s to audit and express an
opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors We also comply with
Intemattonal Standard on Quality Control 1 (UK and Ireland) Our audit methodology and tools aim to ensure that our quality
control procedures are effective, understood and applied Our quality controls and systems include our dedicated professional
standards review team and independent partner reviews

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accerdance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006 OQur audit work has been undertaken so that we rmight state to the Company's members those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opmions we have formed
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Scope of the audt of the financial statements

An audit nvolves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures i the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group’s and the parent Company’s circumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
nformation in the Annual Report to identify matenal inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and 1o dentify any
information that 1s apparently matenally mcorrect based on, or matenally inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us inthe
course of performing the audit If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or Inconsistencies, we consider
the implications for our report

To A

John Adam {Sentor Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf ¢f Delortte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audtors
London Unsted Kingdom

16 July 2015
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Consolidated income statement

Rastated"
13 months ended 2 May 2015 Year ended 29 March 2014
Non- Noa-
Headline®  Headline* Total Headling* Headline Total

Note £milion Emilbion Emillion £million £mation £mitlion

Continuing operations
Revenue 2 8,255 - 8,255 1,943 - 1,943

Profit / (loss) from operations befora share of

results of joint ventures 400 (76) 324 134 (28} 106
Share of results of joint ventures 23 - - - 3 23) (20)
Profit / {loss) before interest and tax 23 400 (76) 324 137 51) 86
Finance income 15 - 15 8 - 8
Finance costs 39) {13) 52) 17 - (17
Net finance costs (24) {13) (3N {9} - ()]
Profit / {loss) befora tax 3716 {89} 287 128 51) 77
Income tax {expense) / credit 7 {91) 15 {76) {25) 6 (19)
Profit / (loss) after tax — continumng operations 285 {74) 21 103 (45} 58
Loss after tax — discontinued operations 24 - (114} (114) - (10) (10)
Profit / (loss) after tax for the penod 285 {188} 97 103 (55} 48
Earnings per share (pence) ]

Basic - continuing operations 29.7p 220p 18 6p 10 4p
Diluted - continuing operations 28.7p 21.2p 18 3p 103p
Basic - total 10.1p B &p
Diluted - total 9.8p 8 5p

Headline results exclude amortisation of acquisition intangibles, Merger integration and transaction costs, CPW Europe Acquisition related
iterns, Phone House France operating and closure costs whilst it formed part of the CPW Europe joint venture, net interest on defined
benefit pension schemes and discontinued operations {compnsing Virgn Mobile France and Phone House operations in France, Germany,
Netherlands and Portugal) Such excluded items are descnbed as ‘Non-Headling' For further detalls see notes 4 and 24 to the financial
information

T The results for the year ended 29 March 2014 have been restated to recognise the resuits of the operations in France, Germany,
Netherlands and Portugal as discontinued operations
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 29 March
2018 2014
Emilifon Emithan
Profit after tax for the penod a7 48
ftems that may be reclassified to the income statement in subsequent years
Cash flow hedges
Fair value remeasurement losses (14) -
Gains transferred to carrying amount of mventories 4 -
Movements in relation to interest rate hedges — 2
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations {(107) (8}
Other foreign exchange differences 3 (3)
{114) {9)
ftems that will not be reclassified to the income statement in subsequent years
Actuanal losses on defined benefit pension schemes - UK (72) -
- Qverseas (1) -
Deferred tax on actuanal losses on defined benefit pension schemes 15 -
Foreign exchange movements 1) -
{59) -
Other comprehensive expense for the period (taken to equity) (173) te)]
Total comprehensive {(expense) / income for the penod (76) 39
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Consolidated balance sheet

2 May 29 March

2015 2014
Note £milhen Emiflion
Non-current assets
Goodwill 9 2,989 481
Intangible assets 10 525 136
Property, ptant & equipment 1 327 90
Trade and other receivables 13 318 191
Deferred tax assets 7 263 54
4,422 852
Current assets
Inventory 12 920 240
Trade and other receivables 13 907 821
Cash and cash equivalents 14 163 283
1,990 1,344
Assets held for sale 24 137 11
Total assets 6,549 2,307
Current habibties
Trade and other payables 15 {1,961) (869)
Deferred consideration 16 (25) 25)
Income tax payable (89) (36)
Loans and other horrowings (55) -
Finance lease obhgations 18 @ (1)
Provisions 19 {54) {50)
(2,186) (981)
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 24 (68} -

(2,254) (981)

Non-current habilities

Trade and other payables 15 (496) {113)
Deferred consideration 16 (6) (25)
Loans and other borrowings 17 (330) {290)
Finance lease obligations 18 {89) -
Retirement benefit obhgations 20 {489) -
Deferred tax iabiities 7 (101) {18)
Provisions 19 {21) -
(1,532} (446)
Total habilities (3,786) (1,427
Net assets 2,763 880
Capital and reserves
Share capital 21 1 1
Share premium reserve 2,256 283
Accumulated profits 1,369 1,355
Translation reserve {113) (@)
Demerger reserve (750) (750)
Equity attnbutable to equity holders of the parent company 2,763 BBO

The financial statements were approved by the directors on 16 July 2015 and signed on their behalf by

@
Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer,
Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Sh
Share p o Accumulated Transtati Demerger Total
caplital resarve profits reserve reserve oquity
Note Emafion Erultion Emillion fmiflion emilllon £million
At1 Apni 2013 1 170 1,238 2 (750) 661
Profit for the penod - - 48 - - 48
Other comprehensive Income and expense
recogrused directly in equity - - 2 (1) - (9
Total comprehensive income and expense
for the penod - - 50 {11) - 39
Ordinary shares issued - 113 103 — - 216
Net purchase of own shares - - (12} - - {12)
Equity dividends 2 - - (30) - - (30)
Tax on items recognised directly through reserves - - 6 - - 6
At 29 March 2014 1 283 1,355 )] (750} 880
Profit for the penod - - g7 - - 97
Other comprehensive Income and expense
recognised directly In equity - - (69) {104) - {173}
Total comprehensive Income and expense
for the penod — - 28 (104) - (76)
Ordinary shares issued 21 - 1,973 - - - 1,973
Equity dividends 22 - - (52) - - (52}
Net movement In relation to share schemes - - 21 - - 21
Tax on items recognised directly in reserves - - 17 - - 17
At 2 May 2015 1 2,256 1,369 (113) {750) 2,763
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Consolidated cash flow statement

Restated
P onded_anciod
2 May 29 March
2018 2014
Note £million frmiion
Operating activities - continuing operations
Cash generated from operations 2% 110 413
Special contributions to defined benefit penston scheme (28) -
Income tax pad {39) {15)
Net cash flows from operating activities 43 398
Investing activities - continuing operations
Interest received 1 2
Net cash outflow arising from CPW Europe Acquisition {25) {317)
Cash acquired on the Merger 347 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equtpment 11 10
Proceeds on sale of business and short term investments 8 5
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment and other intangibles (166) (57)
Net receipts from joint ventures - 2
Net cash flows from investing activities 176 {355}
Financing activities - continuing operations
Settlement of financial instruments - 3
Interest paid (30) {14}
Repayment of obligations under finance leases M 2)
Issue of shares - 124
Net purchase of own shares - {12)
Equity dividends paid (52) (30)
(Decrease) / increase in borrowings {211} 19
Bond redemption premium (38} -
Facility arrangement fees paid (4) (6)
Net cash flows from financing activities (342) 82
(Decrease} / ncrease in cash and cash equivalents
Continuing operations 123 125
Discontinued operations 24 3 41
(120) 166
Cash and cash egquivalents at beginning of the penod 283 117
Currency translation differences - -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the penod 28 163 283
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Notes to the Group financial statements

1 Accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

The consohdated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concem basis in accordance with IFRS as adopted
by the EU, IFRS issued by the Intemational Accounting
Standards Board, those pants of the Companies Act 2006
applicable to those companies reporting under IFRS and
Articte 4 of the IAS Regulation

The financial statements have been presented i UK Sterling,
the functional curency of the Company, and on the histoncal
cost basts except for the revaluation of certain financiat
instruments, as explained below All amounts have been
rounded to the nearest £1 millon, unless otherwise stated
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below

As descnbed in note 23, on 6 August 2014, the Group
completed the merger of Dixons and Carphone, which was
implemented by way of a scheme of arrangement of Dixons
The Company has been renamed Dixons Carphone plc Under
the terms of the Merger, Dixons Shareholders receved 0 155
of a new Dixons Carphone Share in exchange for each Dixons
share In accordance with the cntena set outin IFRS 3
‘Business Combenations’ it has been determined that
Carphone acquired Dixons

Certain ine tem descnptions within the income statement and
balance sheet have been adapted to better represent the
newly merged group and are intended to be presented on this
basis going forwards

Histoncally, the Group prepared its financial statements to the
Saturday closest to its accounting reference date of 31 March
Following the Merger, the Group changed its accounting
reference date to 30 Apnl which was the accounting reference
date of Dixons, but will continue to draw up accounts to the
nearest Saturday Accordingly the current financial penod s for
the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 whilst the comparative
penod 1s for the 12 month penod ended 29 March 2014

The Group’s Income statement and segmental analysis identify
separatelty Headline performance and Non-Headline tems
Headline performance measures reflect adjustments to total
performance measures The directors consider ‘Headline’
performance measures to be a more accurate reflection cof the
ongoing tradng performance of the Group and believe that
these measures provide additional useful information for
shareholders on the Group’s performance and are consistent
with how business performance 1s measured internally

Headline results are stated before the results of discontinued
operations or exited / to be exited businesses, amortisation of
acquisition intangibles, any excephonal tems considered so
one off and matenal that they distort undertying performance
{(such as reorganisation costs, impaiment charges and other
non-recumng charges) and net pension interest costs
Businesses exited or to be exited are those which the Group
has exited or committed to or commenced to exit through
disposal or closure but do not meet the defintion of
discontinued operatons as shipulated by IFRS and are
matenal to the resutts and operations of the Group

Non-Headline tems in the cument and pnor year compnse
amortisation of acquisition intangibles, Merger integration and
transaction costs, CPW Europe Acquisition refated items,
Phone House France operating and closure costs whilst it
formed part of the CPW Europe joint venture, net interest on
defined benefit pension schemes and discontinued operations
(compnsing Virgin Mobile France and Phone House operations
n France, Germany, Netherlands and Portugal) A
reconciliatton of Headline profit and losses to total profits and
losses 1s shown in note 2 ltems excluded from Headline
results can evolve from one financial year to the next
depending on the nature of exceptional items or one-off type
activiies descnbed above and the exclusion of pension
nterest 1s such an item apphcable to the 13 months ended

2 May 2015 Headline performance measures and Non-
Headline performance measures may not be directly
comparable with other similarly titled measures or ‘adjusted’
revenue or profit measures used by other compantes

The results for the year ended 29 March 2014 have been
restated to recognise the results of the operations in France,
Gernany, Netherlands and Portugal as discontinued
operations Therefore financial information in the income
statement, cash flows statement and associated notes have
been restated to reflect this classification

Gamns on disposal of non-core businesses in Southem Europe
have been included in Headline results net of restructuning
costs The net impact of these activities totalled £5 mullion

Since the penod ended 2 November 2014, the Group applied
adjustments to the far values of assets and liabilities acquired
through the Merger These adjustments resulted in the fair
value of identifiable net labiliies acquired reducing from

£656 milion to £647 milion resulting in a reduction n the
goodwill recognised from £2,638 million to £2,629 million

Going concemn

The Group's funding arrangements and processes for
managing Its exposure to iquidity nsk are set out in notes
17 and 25

In therr consideration of going concem, the directors have
reviewed the Group’s future cash forecasts and profit
projections, which are based on market data and past
expenence This review constdered the implications of the
Merger and the contimuing uncertainty in Greece, including the
effect on forecast cash flows and changes to the Group's
financing faciities The directors are of the opinion that the
Group's forecasts and projections, which take into account
reascnably possible changes in trading performance, show
that the Group 1s able to operate within its cumrent facilities and
comply with its banking covenants for the foreseeable future
In amving at their conclusion that the Group has adequate
financial resources, the directors were mindful of the level of
borrowings and facilites as set out in note 17 to the Group
financial statements and that the Group has a robust policy
towards iquidity and cash flow management

Accordingly the directors have a reasonable expectation that
the Company and the Group have adequate resources to
continue In operaton for the foreseeable future and
consequently the directors continue to apply the going
concem basis In the preparation of the financial statements
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Notes to the Group financial statements

The principal accounting policies are set out below
b) Accounting convention and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidhanes) Control 1s achieved where the
Company has the power over the investee, 1s exposed, or has
nghts, to vanable return from ts involvernent with the investee,
and has the ability to use its power to affects its retums

The results of subsidianes and joint ventures acquired or sold
dunng the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of disposal as appropnate, which is the date
from which the power to control passes Where necessary,
adjustments are made 1o the financial statements of
subsidianes to bnng the accounting policies used into line with
those used by the Group Al intercompany transactions and
balances are eliminated on consolidation

c} Foreign currency translation and transactions

Material transactions in foreign currencies are hedged using
forward purchases or sales of the relevant currencies and are
recognised in the financial statements at the exchange rates
thus obtaned Unhedged transactions are recorded at the
exchange rate on the date of the transactron Matenal
monetary assets and liabilittes denominated in foreign
currencies are hedged, manly using forward foreign exchange
contracts to create matching liabilities and assets, and are
retranslated at each balance sheet date Hedge accounting
as defined by IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recogmition and
Measurement’ has been apphed by marking to market the
relevant financial iInstruments at the balance sheet date and
recognising the gan or loss in reserves in respect of cash
flow hedges, and through profit or loss in respect of fair
value hedges

The results of overseas operations are translated at the
average foreign exchange rates for the year, and their balance
sheets are translated at the rates prevailing at the balance
sheet date Goodwill 1s held in the currency of the operation to
which it relates Exchange differences ansing on the translation
of net assets, goodwill and results of overseas operations are
recognised in the translation reserve All other exchange
differences are included in profit or loss in the year 1n which
they anse except where the Group designates financial
instruments held for the purpose of hedging the foreign
currency exposures that result from matenal transactions
undertaken in foreign currencies as cash flow hedges, hedge
accounting as defined by IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement’ 1s applied The effective
portion of changes in the fair value of financial nstruments
that are designated as cash fiow hedges i1s recogmsed in
other comprehensive mcome The gamn or loss relating to the
ineffective portion 1s recogrised in profit or loss Amounts
previously recognised in equity are reclassified to profit or
loss in the penods when the hedged item 1s recognised in
profit or loss

Where a foreign operation is disposed of, the gain or loss on
disposal recogrised n profit or loss 1s determined after taking
into account the cumulative currency translation differences
that are attnbutable to the operation The pnncipal exchange

rates against UK Sterling used in these financial statements are
as follows

Average Closing

2015 2014 2015 2014

Euro 1.28 119 135 121
Norwegian Krone 10.86 - 11.51 -
Swedish Krona 11.85 10 36 12.72 1082

d) Revenue

Revenue comprises sales of goods and services excluding
sales taxes The followang accounting policies are applied to
the principal revenue generating activities in which the Group
1s engaged

= revenue from the sale of goods 1s recognised at the pont of
sale or, where later, upon delivery to the customer and s
stated net of retums,

« revenue eamed from customer support agreements i1s
recognised over the bfe of the agreement by reference to the
stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet
date,

* revenue anstng on services 1S recognised when the relevant
services are provided,

+ commission receivable on sales, being commission which is
contractually commutted, and for wiuch there are no ongoing
performance obhgations, 1s recognised when the sales to
which the commission relates are made, net of any provision
for promotional offers and network operator performance
penalties Commussion includes a share of customer artime
spend, to the extent that it can be reliably measured and
there are no ongoing service obligations Where the time
value of money has a matenal impact, an appropnate
discount 15 appled such that revenue 1s recogrsed at an
armount equal to the present value of the future
consideration to be receved,

+ other ongoing revenue is recognised as it 1s eamed over the
Ives of the relevant customers,

= volume bonuses recevable from network operators are
recognised when the conditions on which they are earmed
have been met,

Insurance premiums are typically paid either monthly or
quarterly in advance Sales comrrussion paid by third parties
1s recognised when the insurance policies to which it relates
are sold, to the extent that it can be reliably measured and
there are no ongoing service obligations insurance premium
income for the provision of ongoing iInsurance services I1s
recognised over the lives of the relevant policies,

+ revenue from the sale of prepaid credits I1s defemred until the
customer uses the arrtime or the credit expires, and

+ revenue generated from the provision of fixed and mobile
network services 1s recognised as it 1s eamed over the lives
of the relevant customers

e} Other income, including non-operating income

Other income, which 1s iIncidental to the Group’s principal
activities of selling goods and services and accordingly 1s not
recorded as part of revenue, 1s recogruised when the Group
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obtains the nght to consideration by performance of its
contractual obligations Interest income 1s accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the pnncipal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable

f) Discontinued operations and assets and labtlibes
held for sale

A discontinued operation 1s a component of the Group which
represents a significant separate line of business, either
through its actwity or geographical area of operation, which
has been sold, 1s held for sale or has been closed

Where the sale of a component of the Group Is considered
highly probable and the business 1s avallable for mrmediate
sale in its present condiion, it 1s classified as held for sale
Such classification assumes the expectation that the sale will
complete within one year from the date of classification Assets
and habilities held for sale are measured at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell Once
classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property,

plant & equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated

g) Share-based payments

Equrty settled share-based payments are measured at far
value at the date of grant, and expensed on a straight line
basts over the vesting penod, based on an estmate of the
number of shares that will eventually vest

Where share-based payments are subject only to service
conditions or intemal performance cntena {such as EFPS
targets), fair value 1s measured using either a Binomial modetl
or a Black Scholes model Where share-based payments have
external performance cntena {such as TSR targets) a Monte
Carlo model 1s used to measure far value

For all schemes, the number of opticns expected to vestis
recalculated at each balance sheet date, based on
expectations of leavers pnor to vesting For schemes with
nternal performance cntena, the number of options expected
to vest1s also adjusted based on expectations of performance
aganst target No adjustment s made for expected
performance agamst external performance cntera The
movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance
sheet date 1s recognised in the ncome statement, with a
commesponding entry in reserves

If a share-based payment scheme 1s cancelled, any remaining
part of the fair value of the scheme 1s expensed through the
income statement If a share-based payment scheme 18
farfeited, no further expense 1s recogrised and any charges
previously recognised through the income statement

are reversed

Charges also anse on loans that are provided to employees to
fund the purchase of shares as part of long term incentive
plans To the extent to which the loans are not, in certain
cwrcumstances, repayable, the cost of the relevant part of
such loans 15 expensed over the course of the relevant
Incentive plans

h) Retirement benefit obligations

Company contnbutions to defined contnbution pension
schemes and contnbutions made to state pension schemes
for certain overseas employees are charged to the income
statement on an accruals basis when employees have
rendered service entithng them to the contnbutions

For defined benefit pension schemes, the difference between
the market value of the assets and the present value of the
accrued pension habilities 1s shown as an asset or hability in the
consolidated balance sheet The caiculation of the present
value 1s determined using the projected unit credit method

Actuanal gans and lesses ansing from changes i actuanal
assumptions together with expenence adjustments and actual
retum on assets are recogrused in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and expense as they anse Such
amounts are not reclassified to the income statement in
subsequent years

Defined benefit costs recognised in the income statement
compnse mainly net interest expense or Income with such
nterest being recogmised within finance costs Net interest s
calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined
benefit hability or asset taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit obligation dunng the year as a result of
contnbution or benefit payments

i) Dnidends

Intenm dividends are recognised in the year in which they are
paid Fial dvidends are recognised as a liability in the year in
which they are approved by shareholders

j) Leases

Leases are classffied as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee The determination of the classification
of property leases 1s made by reference to the land and
buldings elements separately Al leases not classified as
finance leases are classified as operating leases

The Group as a fessor

Rental income from operating leases 1s recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease Initial
direct costs incurred In negeotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the camying amount of the leased asset and
recogrised on a straight-line basis over the lease term

The Group as a lessee

Finance leases

Assets held under finance leases are capitalised at their farr
value on acquisition or, If lower, at the present value of the
mintmum lease payments, each determined at the inception of
the lease and depreciated over therr estimated useful lives ar
the lease term if shorter The corresponding obligation to the
lessor 1s included in the balance sheet as a lability Lease
payments are apporticned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease obhgation Finance charges are
charged to the incorme statement over the term of the lease
In proportion to the capital element outstanding
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Operating leases

Rental payments under operating leases are charged to the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the penod of
the lease Contingent rentals ansing under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the penod in which they
are incurred

Benefits received and recevable as an incentive to enter into
operating leases are amortised through the ncome statement
over the penod of the lease

k) Taxation

Cumrent tax

Current tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be pad or
recovered using the prevalling tax rates and laws that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date and adjusted for any tax payable in respect of
previous years

Deferred tax

Deferred tax habilities are recognised for all temporary
differences between the carrying amount of an asset or hability
in the balance sheet and the tax base value and represent tax
payabie in future penods Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profits will be
avallable against which deductible temporary differences can
be utiised

Deferred tax habiiibes are recogrised for taxable temporary
differences ansing on investments in subsidianes, except
where the Group I1s able to control the reversal of the
ternporary difference and 1t 1s probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future No
provision 15 made for tax which would have been payable on
the distnbution of retained profits of overseas subsidianes or
associated undertakings where it has been determined that
these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future

A deferred tax asset Is recogrised only to the extent that it 1s
probable that future taxable profits will be avalable against
which the asset can be utihsed Current and deferred tax 1s
recogmsed in the income statement except where 1t relates to
an item recognised directly in reserves, in which case it 1s
recognised directly in reserves

Deferred tax 1s measured at the average tax rates that are
expected to apply in the years in which the timing differences
are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that
have been enacted, or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date

Deferred tax assets and habilibes are offset against each other
when they relate to iIncome taxes levied by the same tax
junsdiction and when the Group intends to settle its cumment tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis Deferred tax balances are
not discounted

) Goodwill

On acquisition of a subsidiary or associate, the far value of the
consideration is allocated between the identifiable net tangible
and intangible assets and liabilities on a far value basis, with
any excess considerabon representing goodwill At the
acquisttion date, goodwill 1s allocated to each Cash Generating
Unit (CGU} expected to benefit from the combination and held
in the currency of the operations to which the goodwill relates

Goodwill 1s not amortised, but 1s reviewed annually for
impairment, or more frequently where there s an indication
that goodwill may be imparred Impairment is assessed by
measunng the future cash flows of the CGUs to which the
goodwill relates Where the future cash flows are less than the
carrying value of goodwill, an imparrment charge 1s recognised
in the iIncome statement

On disposal of subsidiary undertakings and businesses, the
relevant goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or
loss on disposal

m) intangible assets

Acquisition intangibles

Acquisition intangibles compnse brand names and customer
relationships purchased as part of acquisitions of businesses
and are capitalised and amortised over therr useful economic
lIives on a straight ine basis These intangible assets are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and, where appropnate,
provision for impairment in value or estimated loss on disposal

In respect of customer relationships, the value attnbuted 1s
based on the future economic benefit that 1s expected to be
derived from them, calculated as the present value of future
cash fiows after a deduction for contnbutory assets

Amortisation 1s provided to write off the cost of assets on
a straight line basis on the following bases

Brands 7% to 20% per annum

13% to 50% per annum

Customer relationships

Software and hicences

Software and licences include costs incumred to acquire the
assets as well as intemal infrastructure and design costs
incurred i the development of software in order to bring the
assets into use

Intemally generated software 1s recognised as an intangible
asset only f it can be separately identified, it 1s probable that
the asset will generate future economic benefits which exceed
one year, and the development cost can be measured rehably
Where these conditions are not met, development expenditure
Is recognsed as an expense in the year in which it 1s incurred
Costs associated with developing or maintarung computer
software are recognised as an expense as incurred unless they
increase the future economic benefits of the asset, in which
case they are caprtahsed

The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of matenals,
direct labour and an appropnate proportion of overheads
Subsequent expenditure 1s capitalised only when it increases
the future econormic benefits embodied in the specific asset to
which it relates

Software 1s stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and,
where appropnate, provision for impairment in value or
estimated loss on disposal Amortisation is provided to wnte
off the cost of assets on a straight ine basis between three and
eight years
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n) Property, plant & equipment

Property, plant & equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses

With the exception of land, depreciation 1s provided to wnte off
the cost of the assets over therr expected useful lves from the
date the asset was brought into use or capable of being used

Rates applied to different classes of property, plant &
equipment are as follows

Land and buildings 134% ~ 4% per annum

Fixtures, fithngs and equipment 10 - 33%9% per annum

Assets capitalised as finance leases are depreciated over the
term of the lease

Property, plant & equipment are assessed on an ongoing basis
to determine whether circumstances exist that could lead to
the conclusion that the net book value 1s not supportable
Where assets are to be taken out of use, an impairment charge
15 levied Where the property, plant & equinment form part of a
separate CGU, such as a store or group of stores, and
busmness mdicators exist which could lead to the conclusions
that the net book value ts not supportable, the recoverable
amount of the CGU 1s determined by calculating its value in
use The value In use Is calculated by applying discounted
cash flow modelling to management’s projection of future
profitability and any impaiment 1s determined by companng
the net book value with the value in use

o} Financial assets and investments

The Group's financial assets compnse cash and cash
equivalents, and those receivables which involve a contractual
nght to receve cash from extemal parties Financial assets
comprise all items shown in notes 13 and 14 with the
exception of prepayments Under the classifications stipulated
by IAS 39, cash and cash equivalents and denvative financial
instruments, which are further descnbed in notes 1r) and 25,
are classified as ‘loans and recevables’ and ‘held for trading
unless designated in a hedge relationship’, respectively Trade
and cther recervables (excluding denvative financtal assets) are
classified as ‘loans and receivables’

Investments, cther than subsidianes and joint ventures, are
imtially recognised at cost, being the farr value of the
consideration given plus any transachon costs associated with
the acquisition Investments are categonsed as available-for-
sale and are then recorded at far value Changes in far valug,
together with any related taxation, are taken directly to
reserves, and recycled to the income statement when the
investment i1s sold or determined to be impaired

p) Interests in joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method The consolidated income staterment includes the
Group’s share of the post-tax profits or losses of the joint
ventures based on ther financial statements for the year In the
consolidated balance sheet, the Group's interests in joint
ventures are shown as a non-current asset in the balance
sheet, representmg the Group's investment in the share capital
of the joint ventures, as adjusted by post-acquisiion changes
in the Group’s share of the net assets or habilities less
provision for any impairment Any associated goodwill is
included within the carrying value of the investment and 1s
assessed for impaiment as part of that investment

Where a joint venture has net habilities, any loans advanced to
it are included in the Group's equity accounted investment in it
Where a Joint venture has net assets, any loans advanced to it
are shown separately in the balance sheet, as a receivable to
the Group

q) Inventones

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value Cost incorporates any attnbutable discounts and
bonuses recerved from suppliers in respect of that inventory
Cost compnses dwect purchase cost and those overheads that
have been incurred In bringing the inventones to their present
location and condibon Net realisable value s based on
estimated selling pnce, less further costs expected to be
incurred to disposal Provision 1s made for obsolete, slow
moving or defective tems where appropnate

r} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash at bank and in
hand, bank gverdrafts and short term highly iquid deposits
with a matunty of three months or less and which are subject
to an insignificant nsk of changes in value Bank overdrafts,
which form part of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the cash flow statement, are shown under curent hiabilities

s) Borrowings and other financial liabilities

The Group’s financial labilities are those which involve a
contractual obligation to deliver cash to extemal parhies at a
future date Financial labihities compnse all terms shown in
notes 15 to 18 with the exception of other taxation and social
secunty, deferred income and other non-financial creditors

Borrowings

Borrowings in the Group's balance sheet represent committed
and uncommitted bank loans Borrowings are initally recorded
at the consideration receved less directly attnbutable
transaction costs Transaction fees such as bank fees and
legal costs associated with the secunng of financing are
capitalised and amortised through the income statement over
the term of the relevant facility All other borrowing costs are
recognised In the income statement in the penod in which they
are incumred
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Under the classifications stipulated by AS 39, bormowings,
finance lease obhgations and trade and other payables
{excluding denvative financial hahbilities) are classified as
‘financial habiibies measured at amortised cost' Denvative
financial instruments, which are descnbed further in note 25,
are classified as 'held for trading unless designated in a
hedge relationship’

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables (excluding denvative financiat
llabilities) are recorded at cost Denvative financial instruments,
are imbally recorded at far value and then subsequently
remeasured to far value at each balance sheet date and are
held within assets or abilities as appropnate Gains and losses
ansing from revaluation at the balance sheet date are
recognised in the income statement unless the denvatives

are designated as hedges and such hedges are proved to

be effective

t} Provisions

Provisions are recognised when a legal or constructive
obhgation exists as a result of past events and it 1s probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and a rellable estmate ¢an be made of the amount
of the obligation Provisions are discounted where the time
value of money 1s considered to be matenal

Provisions fall nto the following categones

Reorgarsation

Reorganisation provisions relate pnncipally to the costs
of onerous leases, redundancy costs and other onerous
contracts, and are only recogrised where plans are
demonstrably committed and where appropnate
communication to those affected has been undertaken
at the balance sheet date

Sales

Sales provisions relate to ‘cash-back’ and similar promotions,
prociuct warranties, product retums, and network operator
performance penalties The anticipated costs of these items
are assessed by reference to hustoncal trends and any other
information that is considered to be relevant

Other

Other provisions relate mamly to warranties provided in relation
to business disposals and provisions in respect of the
expected costs of insurance claims, contingent liabilities
recognised through business combinations and costs
associated with onerous contracts

All provisions are assessed by reference to the best available
information at the balance sheet date

u) Cntical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

Cntical accounting estmates and assumptions used in the
preparation of the financiat statements are continually reviewed
and revised as necessary

Whulst every effort 1s made to ensure that such estmates and
assumptions are reasonable, by ther nature they are uncertan,
and as such changes in estimates and assumptions may have
a matenal impact The principal items subject to such
estimates and assumphions are as follows

Revenue recogmtion

Commussion recevable on mobile phone sales depends for
certain transactions on customer behaviour after the pont of
sale Assumptions are therefore required, particularly in relation
to levels of custorner default withun the contract penod,
expected levels of customer spend, and customer behaviour
heyond the intal contract penod Such assumptions are based
on extensive histoncal evidence, and provision 1s made for the
nsk of potenitial changes in customer behaviour Changes in
estimates recogrised as an increase to revenue may be made,
where for example more reliable information 1s avallable, and
any such changes are required 1o be recognised in the income
statement Changes of estimates in relation to commission
recewvable after the inthal contract term for sales onginating in
previous years totalled £33 mulion (2013714 £18 millon) The
total value of ongoing revenues recevable was £628 million
{2013/14 £525 milhon)

Revenue earned from the sale of customer support agreerments
I1s recognised over the term of the contracts when the Group
abtains the nght to consideration as a result of performance of
its contractual obligatons Revenue in any one year 15
recognised to match the proportion of the expected costs of
fulfiling the Group’s total obligations under the agreements

An estimate of the degree of performance of these contractuai
obligations 1s determined by reference to extensive histoncal
clams data

For both cornrmission recervable on mobile phone sales and
revenue from customer support agreements, reliance on
hustoncal data assumes that current and future expenence will
follow past trends The directors consider that the quantity and
quaiity of data available provides an appropnate proxy for
current trends

Incorne receved from suppliers such as volume rebates

The Group has provided enhanced disclosure on supplier
funding following gudance ssued by the Financial Reporting
Council In December 2014 This disclosure Is asmed at assisting
the users of the financial statements 1n understanding the
judgements and estimates made in the recognition of supplier
funding in the Group's financial statements

The Group’s agreements with suppliers contain a pnce for units
purchased as well as other rebates and discounts which are
summansed below

Volume Rebates This income 1s linked to purchases made from
suppliers and 15 recogrised as a reduction to cost of goods sold
asinventory 1S sold Unearned rebates that relate to mventory
riot seld are recogrised within the value of inventory at the
penod end Where an agreement spans penod ends, judgement
1s required regarding armounts to be recogmised Forecasts are
used as well as histoncal data in the estimation of the level of
income recogmsed Amounts are only recognised where the
Group has a clear entitlement to the receipt of the rebate and a
relable estimate can be made

Brscounts This income 1s receved from suppliers on a price per
unit basis The level of estmation 1s minimal as amounts are
recognised as a reduction to cost of goods sold based on the
agreement terms and only once the item is sold

Marketting iIncome This income 1s receved 1n relation to
marketing actvities that are performed on behatf of suppliers
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Judgement 1s required to ensure that income s only recognised
when all performance obhgations within the contract have been
fulfilled and the iIncome 5 expected to be collected

Supplier funding amounts that have been recognised and
not invoiced are shown within accrued incorme on the
balance sheet

Inventory valuation

Inventones are valued at the lower cost and net realisable
value Cost compnses direct purchase cost and those
overheads that have been incurred in bnnging the iInventones
to their present location and condition Net realisable value
represents the estimated seling pnce less all estimated and
directly attnbutable costs of completon and costs to be
incurred in marketing, seling and distnbution Net realisable
value includes, where necessary, provisions for slow moving
and darmaged inventory The provision represents the
difference between the cost of stock and its estimated net
realisable value, based on ageing and other factors
Calculabion of these provisions requires judgements to be
made which include forecast consumer demand, the
promotional, competitive and economic environment and
inventory loss trends

Recoverable amount of non-cument assets

All non-current assets, including goodwrll and other intangible
assets, are reviewed for potentral iImpairment using estmates
of the future economic benefits attnbutable to them Any
estimates of future economic benefits made in relation to non-
current assets may differ from the benefits that ultimately anse
and matenally affect the recoverable value of the asset The
methodology used in assessing the camying value of goodwill
1$ set out In note 9 and in respect of intangible assets and
property, plant & equipment in note 1n)

Acquisition accounting

Accounting for the Merger (2013/14 the CPW Europe
Acquisition) involved the use of assumptions in relation to the
future cash flows associated with acquisition intangibles, and
the use of valuation technigues in order to amve at the far
value of the other non-current assets and liabilities acquired
The assumptions applied were based on the best information
available to management and valuation techniques were
supported by third party valuation experts Nevertheless, the
actual performance of these assets and liabilities may differ
from the valuatons denved through this exercise

Discontinued operations and assets held for sale

The disposal of businesses and the recognition of assets held
for sale at the lower of cost and far value less costs to sell will
often require judgement and estimation i relation to the value
of expected future consideration and costs associated with the
disposal Such estmation will be based on the best information
available up to the approval of the financial statements, but
nevertheless the final outcomes may vary from that assumed

Trade and other recervables

Provisions for urecoverable receivables are based on extensive
histoncal evidence and the best available information in
relation to specific 1Issues, but are unavoidably dependent

on future events

Taxation

Tax laws that apply to the Group’s businesses may be
amended by the relevant authonties, for example as a result of
changes In fiscal circumstances or pnonties Such potential
amendments and therr apphication to the Group are monitered
regularty and the requirement for recognition of any habilities
assessed where necessary The Group is subject to income
taxes in a number of different junsdictions and judgement is
required in determining the appropnate provision for
transactions where the ultimate tax determination 1s uncertain
In such circumstances, the Group recogises labiliies for
anticipated taxes due based on best information available and
where the anticipated bability 1s probable and estimable Where
the final outcome of such matters differs from the amounts
imhially recorded, any differences will impact the ncome tax
and deferred tax provisions in the year to which such
deterrrunation 1s made Where the potenbal labiites are not
considered probable, the amount at nsk 1s disclosed unless an
adverse outcome s considered remote

Deferred tax 1s recogrused on taxable losses based on the
expected ability to utihse such losses This ability takes
account of the business plans for the relevant companes,
potential uncertaintes around the longer term aspects of these
business plans, any expiry of taxable benefits and potential
future volatiity in the local tax regimes

Provisions

The Group's provisions are based on the best information
availlable to management at the batance sheet date However,
the future costs assurned are inevitably only estmates, which
may differ from those ultimately incurred

Defined benefit pension schemes

The surplus or deficit in the UK defined benefit pension
scheme that is recogmsed through the consohdated statement
of comprehensive income and expense 1S subject to a number
of assumptions and uncertainties The calculated habilittes of
the scheme are based on assumptions regarcing salary
ncreases, inflation rates, discount rates and member longevity
Such assumptions are based on actuanal advice and are
benchmarked agamnst similar pension schemes
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v) Recent accounting developments

The Group adopted the following standards dunng the year,
none of which have had a matenal impact on the disclosures or
amounts reported in the financial statements

+ IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’

« IFRS 11 ‘Jont Arrangements’

» IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Cther Entities’

+ 1AS 27 ‘Separate Financial Statements’

+ IAS 28 ‘investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’

The following new standards, which are applicable to the
Group, have been published but are not yet effective and have
not yet been adopted by the EU

» IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' This standard s the first step
in the process to replace (AS 39 'Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement' IFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for classifying and measunng financial assets
and affects the accounting for financial assets

« IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' provides
guidance on the recognition, timing and measurement of
revenue

IFRS 9 will affect both the measurement and disclosure of
financial instruments and IFRS 15 may change revenue
recognition and related disclosures Itis not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS & and IFRS
15 until a detalled review has been completed

Certain other new accounting standards, amendments to
existing accounting standards and interpretations which are in
1ssue but not yet effective, either do not apply to the Group or
are not expected to have any matenal impact on the Group's
net results or net assets

2 Segmental analysis

The Group's operating segments refiect the segments routinety
reviewed by the Board and which are used to manage
performance and allocate resources This information s
predominantly based on geographical areas which are either
managed separately or have similar trading charactenstics
such that they can be aggregated together into one segment

Following the Merger, the Group operates four operating
segments as descnbed below Comparative penods have been
restated to reflect this change

As explained in note 24, Virgin Mobile France, the Phone
House operations in Germany, the Netherlands, Portugal and
France as well as Dixons' operations in Czech Republic and
Slovakia have been treated as discontinued operations and are
therefore excluded from this segmental analysis

The Group's reportable segments have been dentified
as follows

+ UK & Ireland compnses operations in the UK and treland as
well as operations in airports i1 UK and Iretand

+ MNordics operates in Norway, Sweden, Finland, Denmark and
leetand

+ Southern Europe compnses operations in Spain and Greece

+ Connected World Services I1s the Group's B2B operation
which leverages the specialist skills, operating processes
and technology of the Group to provide managed services
to third parties looking to develop their own connected
world solutions

UK & Ireland, Nordics and Southern Europe are involved in the
sale of consumer electronics and mobile technology products
and services, pnmarily through stores or online channels

Transactions between segments are on an am’s length basis
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2 Segmental anatysis continued
(a) Segmental results

13 months ended 2 May 2015
Connected
UK & Southam World Joint

Irefand Nordics Europe Sarvices ventures Ellminations Total

fmltion Cmilhon Emillion £million Emillion Emilon Eoullion

Headline external revenue 5,506 2,055 564 130 - - 8,255

Inter-segmental revenue 64 - - - - (64) -

Total Headline revenue 5,570 2,055 564 130 - (64) 8,255

Headline EBIT before share of resuits of

joint ventures 313 60 20 7 - - 400
Share of Headline results of joint ventures

(post-tax) - - - - - - -

Headline EBIT 313 60 20 7 - - 400

Dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015, there were no customers which represent more than 10% of the Group’s revenue

Reconciiation of Headline profit to total profit

13 months ended 2 May 2013

Headline Amortisation Dixons Total

profit/ of acquisition CPW Europe Retall France Pension profit /

(loss) intangibles  Acquisttion Merger closure scheme {loss)

Emillion Emillion Emillion Emillion Emillion £milion Lmillion

UK & Ireland 313 (22) - (13) -— - 278
Nordics 60 {10) - (4) - - 46
Southern Europe 20 (2) - - - - 18
Connected World Services 7 (1 - - - - 6
Unallocated - - - (24) - - (24)
EBIT before share of results of joint ventures 400 {35) - {41) - - 324
Share of results of joint ventures - - - - - - -
EBIT 400 {35) - {41) - - 324
Finance ncome 15 - - - - - 15
Finance costs (39) - - —- — (13) (52)
Profit / (loss) before tax 376 (35) - (81} - (13) 287

Unallocated Merger related costs compnise those that are not directly attnbutable to a specific segment
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2 Segmental analysis continued
(a) Segmental results continued

Restated
Year ended 29 March 2014
Connected
UK & Southern World Jont

lrelanc Nordics Eurcpa Services wventures Eimingtions Total

fmilron Ermillion Crmullion Cmillion £milion £milion £milhon

Headline external revenue 1,427 81 378 57 — - 1,943

Inter-segmental revenue — - - - - - -

Total Headline revenue 1,427 81 378 57 - - 1,943

Headline EBIT before share of results of

Jjoint ventures 114 (2) 18 4 -— - 134
Share of Headhne results of joint ventures

(post-tax) - - - - 3 - 3

Headline EBIT 114 @ 18 4 3 - 137

Included within total revenue 1s income from two MNCs of approximatefy £450 million and £400 miflion, respectively No other
customers or MNOs represent more than 10% of the Group's revenue

Reconcihation of Headline profit to total profit

Restateg

Year ended 29 March 2014

Headine  Amortssion Dixons. Total

profit/  of acguisiton  CPW Europe Retail France Pension profit £

floss) intangibles Acquisition Merger closure scheme (oss)

Crmillion Crmllian Lrmilhion Cmilion Cmillaon Cmulion Emillion

UK & lreland 114 (8} - - - - 106
Nordics (2) (1) - - - - {3)

Southern Europe 18 {4} - - — - 14

Connected World Services 4 - — - - - 4
Unallocated — - (15) - - — (15}

EBIT before share of results of joint ventures 134 {13} (15) - - - 106
Share of results of joint ventures 3 - — — {23) - {20)
EBIT 137 (13} (15) - {23) - B6
Finance income 8 - - - - - 8
Finance coslts {17} - - - - - (17
Profit / (loss) before tax 128 {13) (15) - (23) - 77
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2 Segmental analysis continued
b) Geographical information

Revenues are allocated to countrnies according to the entity's country of domicile Revenue by destination is not matenally

different to that shown by domicile

¢} Other information

HNon current assets Capital expenditure  Depraciation/Amortisation

Restated Restated Restated

13 months Year 13 months Year 13 months Year

ended ended ended ended ondhed ended

2 May 2% March 2 May 29 March 2May 29 March

2015 2014 2018 2014 2015 2014

Emiliion Emiltion Emitlion Emillion E£million Smiion

UK & Ireland 2,916 744 127 52 106 36
Nordics 1,152 2 30 i 32 2
Southern Europe 86 80 4 4 9 7
Connected World Services 5 — 5 - 2 -
4,159 826 166 57 149 45

*Non-current assets above exclude deferred tax assets and assets related to discontinued operations

3 Revenue and profit / (loss) before interest and taxation before share of results of joint ventures

Restated
13 months ended 2 May 2015 Year ended 29 March 2014
HNon- Non-

Headline Headlina Total Headine Headline Toul

Emilllon Emilllon Emillion Emiliion Lmillion Cmillion

Revenue 8,255 - 8,255 1,943 - 1,943
Cost of sales (6,118) - 6,118) (1,392} - {1,392)

Gross profit 2,137 — 2137 551 - 551
Operating expenses (1,737) (76) (1.813) (417) (28) {445}

Profit / (loss) before interest and taxation 400 (76) 324 134 (28} 106

Revenue can be further analysed as follows

Restated
13 months ended 2 May 2015 Year ended 29 March 2014
Non- Non-
Headline Headline Total Headline Headl:na Totat
Lrrulflicn Ermllion E£million Emillion fmillion £muliion
Sale of goods 5,641 - 5641 394 - 394
Revenue from services 2,614 - 2614 1,549 - 1,549
8,255 - 8,255 1,943 - 1,843

Revenue from services predominantly compnses those relating to commissions from MNOs, insurance, customer support
agreements, delivery and nstallation, product repairs and product support
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3 Revenue and profit / (loss) before interest and taxation before share of results of joint ventures continued
Profit / (loss) before interest and taxation for continuing operations is stated after charging / (crediting) the following

Restated
13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emillion Emillion
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 83 17
Amartisation of acquisition intangibles 35 13
Amortisation of other intangibles 31 15
Impatrment of trade receivables 8 14
Imparment of inventory 68 26
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 5 -
Cost of inventory recogmised as an expense 6,069 1,447
Rentals paid under operating leases
Non-contingent rent 304 71
Contingent rent 22 —
Rentals received under operating leases - subleases (5} )]
Investment property rental income 1)) 2
Net foreign exchange losses 1 -
Share-based payments expense 10 4
Other employee costs (see note 5) 890 226
Auditor's remuneration compnses the following
13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 28 March
2015 2014
Emillion Emilton
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 01 01
Fees payabile to the Company's auditor and its associates for thewr audit of the Company’s subsidianes 1.9 13
Total audit fees 2.0 14
Tax advisory services 02 05
Tax compliance services 0.2 02
Other assurance services 1.3 06
Other services 02 —
39 27

The Group's share of audit fees in the year for joint ventures was £nil (2013/14 £0 1 million} and the Group's share of fees for
therr tax and other services was Enil {2013/14 £0 1 million) Other assurance services relate primanly to the Merger in respect
of which the extemal auditor acted as reporting accountant whilst 2013/14 related pnmanly to the CPW Europe Acquisition,
in respect of which the extemal auditor acted as reporting accountant
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4 Non-Headline tems

Restated
13 months Yoar
ended ended
2May 29 March
2015 2014
Nota Emillion Emillion
Included in profit / (foss) before interest and tax
Amortisation of acquisition Intangibles 0 (35 (13)
Exceptional items - CPW Europe Acquisition i - (15)
= Dixons Retail Merger (i) (41) -
Share of results of joint ventures exited (post-tax) (0] - {23)
(76) 57
Included in net finance costs
Net non-cash finance costs on defined benefit pension schemes ) (13) -
Total impact on profit / {loss) before tax (89) (81)
Tax on Non-Headline items 15 6
Total impact on profit / (loss) after tax (74) (45}

Non-Headline items also include discontinued operations, which compnse the results of Virgin Mchile France, the Phone House
operations in Germany, the Netherlands, Portugal and France, and Elestroworld in the Czech Republic and Slovakia (which had
previously formed part of the discontinued operations of Dixons) The post-tax results of these businesses have been reported
separately and are further described m note 24

0]

)

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

A charge of £35 million arose during the year in relation to acquisition intangibles ansing on the CPW Europe Acquisition and
the Dixons Retall Merger

Exceptional items - CPW Europe Acquisition

13 months Year

endod ended
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Cmillion Emutian
CPW Europe Acquisition - (15)

The CPW Europe Acquisihon which occurred on 26 June 2013 gave nse to the following exceptional items in the year ended
29 March 2014

« Professional fees of £7 million, costs of £11 milion associated with the early vesting of incentive schemes (of which
£8 mullion were cash in nature} and a tax credst of £3 million was recogrised in respect of these costs

A gan of €1 million resulbing from the requirement of the Group to farr value rts existing 50% interest in CPW Europe,
which was considered to be equal to the £500 million gross consideration for Best Buy’s 50% interast

« Arrangements with Best Buy allowed the Group to manage the disposal of the Consideration Shares issued to Best Buy,
and to benefit from any gain on disposal above a share pnce of £1 90 The Consideration Shares were placed at a pnce of
£2 44, resutting i a net cash gan of £23 milhon for the Group The gain implied by companng the share pnice at
completion, being £2 38 and £1 90, was treated as an adjustment to consideration and the remaining gain of £2 million
was recorded in the iIncome statement
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4 Non-Headline items continued -

(i

Exceptional tems - Dixons Retall Merger

13 months Year

sndad ended

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

£million Ermullon

Merger transaction costs {9) -
Merger integration costs (32} -
{41) -

(v}

=z

The Dixons Retal Merger i1s descnibed further in notes 1 and 23 The Merger has given nse to the following costs which have
been treated as exceptional items

= Merger costs comprise banking and professtonal fees in refation to the transaction

+ Merger integration costs relate to the reorgarusation of the Group following the Merger and compnse the rationalisation of
certain operational and support functions These costs mainly comprise professional fees, employee severance and
property costs associated with the integration process

Share of joint ventures exited — Businesses exited

In hight of an increasingly challenging market, the closure of the Phone House France operations was announced in April
2013 Prior to the CPW Eurcpe Acquisition, when the French operations were part of the CPW Europe joint venture,
operating losses of £10 milion were incurred and restructunng tems compnsed asset wnte-downs of £8 milion and
provisions for exit costs of £32 million pnncipally covenng redundancies and lease exat costs A tax credit of £3 million was
recognised aganst these items The Group’s post-tax share of these losses, asset impairments and restructunng costs was
£23 milhon  The results of the Phone House France following the CPW Europe Acquisition on 26 June 2013 have been
classified as discontinued operations following the completion of the closure dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015

Net non-cash financing costs on defined benefit pension schemes

Under IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits', the net interest charge on defined benefit pension schemes is calculated by applying the
corporate bond yreld rates applicable on the last day of the previous financial year to the net defined benefit obligation
Corporate bond yield rates vary over time winch in tum creates volahlity in the income statement and balance sheet and
results In a non-cash remeasurement cost winch can be volatile due to corporate bond yield rates prevailing on a particular
day and is also unrepresentative of the actual mvestment gains or losses made or the habilities paid and payable Consistent
wrth a number of other companies, the accounting effects of these non-cash revaluations of net defined benefit penston
llabiibes have been excluded from Headlne eamings
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments
a) Employee costs

The aggregate remuneration recognised in the income statement for continuing operations 1s as follows

Restated
13 manths Year

anded ended

2May 20 March

2015 2014

Emillion Eraliion

Salaries and performance bonuses 781 197
Social secunty costs 89 27
Other pension costs 20 2
890 226

Share-based payments 10 4
900 230

Aggregate remuneration for discontinued operations are salanes and performance bonuses of £46 million {2013/14 €49 miflion},

social security costs of £8 milhon (2013/14 £8 rullion) and other pension costs of £1 mithon {2013/14 £2 muflion)

The average number of employees for continuing operation 1s

Restated
13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 2% March
2015 2014
Number Number
UK & lreland 23,582 5,332
Nordics 6,492 286
Southern Europe 2,675 1,298
Connected World Services 85 64
32,634 6,980
The average number of employees for discontinued operations Is 2,127 {2013/14 1,727)

Compensahon earned by key management, compnsing the Beoard of directors and senior executives, 1s as follows
13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 28 March
2ms 2014
Cmiltion £milion
Short term employee benefits 15 8
Termination benefits 1 -
Share-based payments 1 1
17 9

Dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 and year ended 29 March 2014 foans were advanced to members of key management
in relation to the Carphone Warehouse Share Plan In addition, during the year ended 29 March 2014 loans were advanced to
key management to cover the tax ansing on the exercise of share options that vested as part of the CPW Europe Acquisition

At 2 May 2015, loans to key management i relation to these schemes totalied £16 miliion (2014 £30 million) Interest 1s charged

on loans at market rates and interest of £0 4 mulion has been recognised dunng the penod (2013/14 £0 3 milion}

Further information about indvidual directors’ remuneration, share interests, share options, pensions and other entittements,

which forrn part of these financial statements, 15 provided in the Remuneration report
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b} Share-based payments

i) Share Plan

Dunng the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group introduced the Share Plan which allows participants to share 10% of the
incremental value created in the Group n excess of an opering value {(assessed on the value of CPW over a three month penod
pnor to approval of the plan by shareholders in June 2013 and, for new entrants dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015,
assessed on the aggregated value of CPW and Dixons Retail over a three month penod pnor to the announcement of prelminary
merger discussions in February 2014) and beyond an annual rate of retum of 7% on invested capital The plan 1s underpinned by
a minmum annual compeound TSR growth of 5% and outperformance of the median TSR of the FTSE 250

Participants acquired at market value participation shares in a subsidiary company that holds the Group's interests in CPW
Europe and, since the Merger, Dixens Retail The Group granted loans to participants at a commercial rate of interest to acquire
the shares Loans are ordinanly repayable in full if performance conditions are met

The performance of the scheme will ordinanly be measured on or around June 2017, when 60% of the shares vest, with 40%
deferred for a further year When the awards vest, the value of the shares held by participants will be based cn the incremental
value (if any) of Dixons Carphone in excess of the opening valuation together with the minimum return on invested capital These
shares will then be purchased by the Company for cash and / or the Company’s ordinary shares

A *bad leaver’ will be required to transfer the participation shares to such party as the Company designates for an amount equal
to the total amount outstanding under the loan If the market value of the shares 1s less than the amount of the outstanding loan
(and any accrued interest) then the partcipant may be required to repay 20% of the shortfall out of their own resources

A participant shall be a ‘good leaver' at the sole discretion of the Remuneration Committee and may be permitted to retan an
award notwithstanding the termination of their employment

The mechanics of the plan may be vaned by the Remuneration Committee if necessary to ensure that participants are neither
advantaged nor disadvantaged by a vanation of the share capital of the Company, bona fide merger, reconstruction or similar
recrganisation

1) Share option schemes
Dunng the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group introduced a share option scheme which allows nil-pnced options to be
offered to senior employees who are not participants in the Share Plan

Options were first granted under the scherne in January 2014 The options are subject to continuing employment and are subject
to performance conditions based on a combination of absolute TSR performance and relative TSR performance aganst the
FTSE 250 or FTSE 350

Following the Merger with Dixons Retail plc on 6 August 2014, the Company assumed the obligation to satsfy outstanding
Dixons share options awarded under the Retall Employee Share Option Scheme and Executive Share Option Plan, with
employees eligible to acquire ¢ 155 Dixons Carphone shares for each Dixons option held All outstanding Dixons awards had
vested before the Merger, and were exercisable within six months post Merger

Prior to the CPW Europe Acquisition, CPW Europe had a share option scheme, under which participants received options over
A shares in New CPW and each of Best Buy and the Company had an obligation to acquire 50% of these shares at a value
based on the Headline PBT of CPW Europe over the vesting penod The pool was based on eamings in excess of minmum
growth targets, against the eamings for the year ended 31 March 2008 The Company and Best Buy agreed a minimurm value
of the pool, in recognition of the value that had already accrued in the scheme in relation to Best Buy Mobile

In order to algn the interests of participants with those of the Company, the vatue of the A shares in New CPW were assessed at
defined points dunng the vesting penod, and nil-pnced options over shares in the Company were granted to participants through
the Participation Plan to match this value, so that participants benefited from any growth in the market capitalisation of the
Company dunng the vesting perod

Further to the CPW Europe Acquisition the Remuneration Committee allowed the schemne to vest based on performance
achieved to 31 March 2013 In addition to the Group's obligations under the scheme the Group also agreed to satisfy Best
Buy's obligations under the scheme Dunng the year ended 28 March 2014, the Company issued 14 million shares i relaton
to these obhgations
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b} Share-based payments continued

u} Share option schemes continued

The following table summanses the number and weighted average exercise pnce of share options for these schemes

13 months ended Year ended

2 May 20158 29 March 2014

Number WAEP Number WAEP

milhon £ milian £

Qutstanding at the beginning of the year 9 - 5 -
Dixons options assumed on Merger 1 - - -
Granted dunng the year 1 - 18 -
Lapsed during the year 3) - - -
Exercised dunng the year {1) - (14) -
Qutstanding at the end of the year 17 - 9 -
Exercisable at the end of the year - - — —
13 months Year

snded ended

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Watghted average market pnce of options exercised in the period £4 18 £2 48
Weighted average remaining contractual life of awards outstanding 91yrs 98yrs
Exercise price for options outstanding £l £l

#) SAYE scheme

During the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group introduced a SAYE scheme which allows participants to save up to £500 per
month for either three or five years At the end of the savngs penod participants can purchase shares in the Company based on

a discounted share pnce determined at the commencement of the scheme

Participants in the Cixons Retall plc SAYE scheme had the opportunity to rollover their awards into options over shares in the
merged entity, Dixons Carphone, on completion of the Merger Employees who chose to rollover received 0 155 options in
Dixons Carphone in exchange for each Dixons option held The savings perod and exercise date of these options remains
unchanged If employees chose not to rollover therr options, they could exercise the value saved within six months of the Merger

in return for 0 155 Dixons Carphone shares for each Dixons option held

The following table summanses the number and WAEP of share options for these schemes

13 months ended ¥ear ended

2 May 2015 29 March 2014

Number WAEP Number WAEP

million £ million £

Outstanding at the beginming of the period 3 224 - -

Dixons options assumed on Merger 6 1.20 - —_—

Granted during the penod 7 344 3 224

Exercised dunng the period @ 224 - -

Lapsed dunng penod {1} 1.76

Qutstanding at the end of the period 13 2mn 3 224

Exercisable at the end of the penod - - - -

13 months Year

ended ended

2May 28 Maen

2015 2014

Weighted average market price of options exercised in the penicd £3 82 n/a

Weighted average remaining contractual iife of awards outstanding 2Byrs 39yrs
£0 92 -

Range of exercise pnces for options outstanding 03 44 £2 24
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b} Share-based payments continued

1v) Jomnt venture incentive schemes

Virgin Mobile France issued market-pneed and nil-pnced share options in Vingin Mobile France to certam employees of the
business These options vested over penods of two to four years Pnor to completion of the disposal of Virgin Mobile France
on 4 December 2014, these share options were exercised

v) Fair value model

The fair value of cptions with extemnal performance targets was estimated at the date of grant using a Monte Carlo model

The model combines the market pnce of a share at the date of grant with the probability of meeting performance cntenia, based
on the histoncal performance of Carphone Warehouse and Old Carphone Warehouse shares and, for options issued subsequent
to the Merger on 6 August 2014, the hustoncal performance of Dixons

The weighted average fair value of options granted dunng the penod was £1 62 (2013/14 £0 84) The following table hists the
nputs to the model

13 months Year

ended anded

2 May 28 March

2015 2014

Exercise price £nil £mi
Dmdend yield 22% 20%
Histoncal and expected volatility 33.7% 320%
Risk-free interest rate 2.8% 35%
Expected option life 10 yrs 10yrs
Weighted average share pnce £3.75 g2

vi) Charge to the income statement and entries i reserves

Dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015, the Group recognised a non-cash accounting charge to profit and loss of £10 milon
{2013/14 €4 million) in respect of equity settled share-based payments, which is offset by an entry through reserves This entry
15 offset in reserves by the non-recourse element of loans prowded to participants in the Carphone Warehouse Share Plan

¢) Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT)

2 May 2015 29 Mareh 2014
Markat Neminal Markat Nomira!
value value Number value value Number
£mililion Emillion million Ermillion Emilion million
Investment in own shares 4 - 0.9 16 - 49
Maxamum number of shares held during the penod 18 - 5.2 16 -— 49

The Group has an ESOT for the purposes of satisfying potential awards to employees under the Group's share plans The
number of shares held by the Trust, which are shown in the table above, remain heid for potential awards under outstanding
plans The costs of funding and administenng the Trust are charged to the income staternent in the year to which they relate
Shareholders’ funds are reduced by the net book value of shares held in the Trust

The ESQOT has wawved its nghts tc receive dividends and its shares have not been allocated to specific schemes
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6 Net finance costs

13 months Year

emded ended

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Emilbon fmilhon

Interest on cash and cash equivalents - 1

Interest and other finance income from joint ventures - L

Unwind of discounts on trade recevables 15 6

Finance income 15 8
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans {1n (11)
Interest on deferred consideration (1} (1}

Finance lease interest payable 4 -

Net interest on defined benefit pension obligations (13) -
Unwind of discounts on liabilities (1) 2
Amortisation of facility fees 3 4
Other interest expense 3) {2)
Finance costs (52) {17
Total net finance costs 37) 9
Headline total net finance costs (24) 9)

Headline finance costs exclude net interest on defined benefit pension obligations (see note 4)
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7 Fax
a) Tax expense

The corporation tax charge compnses

13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Lrullion Crullion
Current tax
UK corporation tax at 20 92%"({2013/14 23%)} - Headline 61 10
-~ Non-Headline * (12} -
Overseas tax - Headline 25 3
- Non-Headline * (3} -
7 13
Adjustments made in respect of prior years
UK corporation tax 6 1
Overseas tax (2) ®
4 (]
Total current tax 75 8
Deferred tax
UK Tax - Headling 10 19
- Non-Headline * 2 2
Overseas tax ~ Headlne (2) 2
~ Non-Headhne * (3) (1)
7 18
Adjustments in respect of prior years
UK Corporation tax - Headline 8) 3]
- Non-Headline * 1 3
Overseas tax - Headline 1 —
- Non-Headline i - -
(6) M
Total deferred tax 1 11
Total tax charge 76 19
Headhne tax charge™ a1 25

(i The UK corporation tax rate for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 was 21% for the 12 months to 31 March 2015 and 20% thereafter

(2013/14 23% for the year ended 29 March 2014)
) The Headhne tax charge excludes those items marked *

Tax related to discontinued operations i1s included in the figures set out in note 24
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7 Tax continued

b) Reconciiation of notional to actual (effective} tax rate

The pnncipal differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate

of UK corporation tax to profit / (loss) before taxation are as follows

Restated
12 montha ended 2 May 2015 Year ended 29 March 2014

Headline He&:l?:‘l: Statutory Headline Hoar;ﬁ:; Statutory

Emillion £miltion Emilllon Emillion £mithan Emihon

Profit / {loss) before taxation 376 {89) 287 128 {51) 77
Tax at UK statutory rate of 20 92% (2013/14 23%) 79 (19} 60 29 (12} 17
Differences in effective overseas tax rates 7 ) 6 - - -
Adjustments in respect of prior years {2) - @ 9) {3} (12)
ltems attracting no tax relief or liability 1 5 16 2 9 11
Moverment in unprovided deferred tax {5) - (5) {1) - (1)
Exceptional write-off of tax assets and labihties - - — - 1 1
Effect of change tn statutory tax rate - - - 4 (1) 3
Other differences 1 - 1 - - -
Total tax charge (credit) 91 (15) 76 25 (53] 19

The effective tax rate on Headline eamings of 24% (2013/14 20%) has increased compared to the prior year due mainly to an
ncrease In the proportion of taxable profits ansing n higher rate junsdictions, predominantty the Nordics

ltems attracting no tax relief or lability relate pnmanly to non-deductible lease exit costs (2013/14 related pnmanly to French

operations)
c) Deferred tax
Accelerated Retirement Losses Other
capstal benefit carned  temporary
allowances obligations forward dfferences Total
Emillion Cmilllon Smillion Emilbon Emilion
At 1 Apnl 2013 - — - 1 1
CPW Europe Acguisition 27 — 3 14 44
Charged directly to income statement 8 - - (5) (11}
Credited to equity - - - 2 2
At 29 March 2014 21 — 3 12 36
Dixons Retail Merger (a1} 83 - 58 100
Credited / (charged) directly to iIncome statement 3 - 1 {5) ()]
Credited to equity - 15 - 12 27
At 2 May 2015 (1n 98 4 7 162
Deferred tax compnses the following balances
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
£mulion E£million
Deferred tax assets 263 54
Deferred tax abiities {101) (18)
162 36
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7 Tax contmued

Analysis of deferred tax relating to iterns (charged) / credited to equity in the penod
13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emiltion Emillion
Actuanal losses on defined benefit pension schemes 15 -
Credited to comprehensive income 15 -
Share-based payments 12 2
27 2

The Group has total unrecognised deferred tax assets relabng to tax losses of £1,444 million (2013/14 £89 milion) No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the losses due to the lack of certanty regarding the avalability of future
taxable profits

There were no temporary differences associated with undistributable earmings of subsidianes for which deferred tax habilities
had not been recognised at the end of either year
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8 Eamings per share

Restated
13 months Year
ended endsd
2May 29 March
2015 2014
tmillion fraulhon
Headline earnings
Continuing operations 285 103
Total earmings / (loss)
Continuing operations 211 58
Discontinued operations {t14) (10)
Total 97 48
Milon Million
Weighted average number of shares
Average shares in 1ssue 964 558
Less average holding by Group ESOT @ (3}
For basw eamings per share 961 555
Dilutive effect of share options and other incentive schemes 32 7
For diluted eamings per share 993 562
Pence Pence
Basic earnings per share
Total {continuing and discontinued operations) 10.1 86
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations 11.9 18
Continuing operations 22,0 104
Adjustments for Non-Headline - continuing operations {net of taxation) 7.7 B2
Headline basic earnings per share 297 186
Diluted earnings per share
Total (continuing and discontinued operations) 98 85
Adjustment in respect of discentinued operations 14 18
Continuing operations 21.2 103
Adjustments for Non-Headline ~ continuing operations (net of taxation) 7.5 80
Headline diluted earnings per share 28.7 183

Basic and diluted eamings per share are based on the profit for the penod attnbutable to equity shareholders Headiine earmings
per share s presented in order to show the underlying performance of the Group Adjustments used to determine Headline

eamings are descnbed further in note 4
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9 Goodwill

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

£mitlion frmillon

At beginning of year 481 -
CPW Europe Acquisition {note 23) - 484
Dixons Retail Merger (note 23) 2,629 -
Imparment (35) -
Foreign exchange {86) (3}
At end of year 2,989 481
Cost 2,989 481
Accumulated impairment - -
2,989 481

a) Carrying value of goodwll
The components of goodwill compnise the following businesses

2 May 29 March

2013 2014

€million Emilkon

UK & Irefand - Dixons 1,633 -
UK - Carphone Warehouse 406 406
Ireland - Carphone Warehouse 6 8
Nordics 816 -
Spain 28 31
Netherlands - 36
2,989 481

The goodwill ansing on the Dixons Retaill Merger was allocated to the CGUs which were expected to benefit from the acquisition,
based on value n use calculations The Non-Headline impaiment charge relates to the operations in the Netherlands as
described in note 24
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8 Goodwill continued
b) Goodwill impairment testing

As required by IAS 36, goodwill 1s subject to annuat impaimnent reviews These reviews are camed out using the following
cntena

+ business acqursitions generate an atinbuted amount of goodwli,

+ the manner in which these businesses are run and managed i1s used o determine the CGU grouping as defined in 1AS 36
‘Impairment of Assets’,

+ the recoverable amount of each CGU group 1s determined based on calculating its value in use (VIU),

* the VIU s calculated by applying discounted cash flow modelling to management's own projections covenng a five year
penod,

+ cash flows beyond the five year pencd are extrapolated using a iong tenm growth rate equivalent to long termn forecasts of
Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rates for the relevant market, and

« the ViU 1s then compared to the carrying amount in order to determine whether impaimnent has occurred

The key assumptions used in calculating value in use are

* management's projections,

» the growth rate beyond five years, and

+ the pre-tax discount rate

The long term projections, which have been approved by management, have been prepared using three year strategic plans as
a base extrapolated to five years and which have regard to the relative performance of competitors and knowledge of the current
market together with management's views on the future achievable growth in market share and impact of the committed
imbhatives The cash flows which derve from these five year projections include ongoing capital expenditure required to develop
and upgrade the store network in order to maintain and operate the businesses and to compete in therr markets In forming the
five year projections, management draws on past expenence as a measure {o forecast future performance

Key assumptions used in determmining the five year projections compnse the growth in sales and costs over this penod The
compound annual growth rate in sales and costs can nse as well as fall year on year depending not only on the year five targets,
but also on the current financial year base These targets, when combined, accordingly dnve the resulting profit margins and the
profit in year five of the projections which 1s 1n tum used to calculate the terminal value in the VIU calculation Historical amounts
for the businesses under impairment review as well as from other parts of the Group are used to generate the values attnbuted
to these assumpticns

The value attributed to these assumptions for the most sigrificant components of goodwill are as follows

2 May 2015 29 March 2014
Compound  Compound Compound Compound
annual annual  Growth rate Pre-tax annuat annual  Growth rate

growth growth beyond discount growth growth beyend Pra iax

in sales in costs five years rate n sales N COsts tive years  ciscount rate

UK - Carphone Warehouse 32% 2.5% 2.9% 95% 19% 12% 19% 10 1%
UK & Ireland - Dixons 23% 2.0% 2.9% 85% - - —_ -
Nordics 4.9% 48% 2.2% 8.5% - - - -

Growth rates used were determined based on third party long term growth rate forecasts and are based on the GDP growth rate
for the temtones in which the businesses operate The pre-tax discount rates applied to the forecast cash flows reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the nsks specific to the CGUs

c) Goodwill impairment sensitivity analysis

A sensttivity analysis has been performed on each of the base case assumptions used for assessing the goodwill with other
vanables held constant Consideration of sensitivities to key assumptions can evolve from one financial year to the next

The directors have concluded that there are no reasonably ikely changes in key assumptions which would cause the camrying
amount of goodwill to exceed its value in use
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10 Intangible assets
Acqubsition mtangibles
Software
Customer and
Brands Sub-total licences Total
Emiillon Crmllion Emillion Emdilion Emillion
Balance at 30 March 2014 8 42 50 86 136
Dixons Retall Merger 365 8 a3 30 403
Additions — 2 2 86 B8
Amortisation 21) {in (38) (32) (70)
Impairment {1) {6) N 3) {10}
Disposal of business - 1) {1) - (1}
Reclassification to held for sale - - - 2 2
Forexgn exchange (15) 2 a7 @ (19}
Balance at 2 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525
Cost 357 54 41 209 620
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses {21) (28) (49) (46) (95}
Balance at 2 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525
Acqursiion intangibles
Software
Customer and
Brands  relationships Sub-total hcences Total
£mihon Lrilhon Lrrulhon Ermillion Srniilioa
Balance at 1 Apnl 2013 - - - - -
CPW Europe Acguisition 10 56 66 54 120
Additions - - - 48 48
Amortisation (2} {14) (16) (16) (32)
Balance at 29 March 2014 8 42 50 86 136
Cost 10 56 66 102 168
Accumulated amortisatron and impairment losses (2} {14) (16) (16) (32)
Balance at 29 March 2014 8 42 50 86 136

Software and icences include assets with a cost of £35 million (2014 £14 millon) on which amortisation has not been charged

as the assets have not yet been brought into use

Intangibles acquired as part of the Dixons Retail Merger

Acquisiion intangibles included customer relationships and brands Each class of mtangible asset was independently valued by
independent experts using appropnate valuation techniques The pnmary intangible assets, ther net book values and

amortisation penods are as follows

Nat book Amorusation

value period

Emillion Years

CurrysPCWorld 163 15
Elgiganten 66 15
Elkjop 54 15
Gigantty 32 15

Software and hcences were independently valued using an amortised replacement cost method
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11 Property, plant & egupment

Fixtures,
fittings and
Land and other

buildings  equipment Total

Emillion £million £milllon
Balance at 30 March 2014 40 50 90
Dixons Retail Merger 70 196 266
Additions 4 81 85
Depreciation (8) {75) (83)
Disposals {9) {5} (14)
Transferred to assets held for sale 2) 2 4
Imparment ) {2 3)
Foreign exchange 1) {9) (10)
Balance as at 2 May 2015 93 234 327
Cost 104 319 423
Accumulated depreciation (11) {85) (96}
Balance as at 2 May 2015 93 234 327
Inctuded in net book value as at 2 May 2015
Land not depreciated 8 - 8
Assets in the course of construction - 16 16
Assets held under finance leases 65 2 67

Fixtures
Land and ﬁmngr;;n;
buildings  eguiprnent Total
£million £million €milhon

Balance at 1 Apnl 2013 27 - 27
CPW Europe Acquisition 27 45 72
Additions 2 18 20
Depreciation (6) (12) (18)
Disposals (10} - (10}
Foreign exchange — {n (1
Balance at 29 March 2014 40 50 90
Cost 47 62 109
Accumulated depreciation 1] (12) (19)
Balance as at 29 March 2014 40 50 90
Included in net book value as at 29 March 2014
Land not depreciated 5 - 5
Assets in the course of construction 1 7 8
Assets held under finance leases - 3 3

Freehold land and buildings predominantly compnse the Group's investment property The farr value of investment property was
determined by an extemal, independent property valuation expert as £14 million (2014 £22 million) The valuation expert has
appropnate recognised professional qualifications as well as recent expenence in the location and category of the properties
being valued The valuation of properties was performed by reference to appropnate yield rates and market evidence of recent
transactions Future mimimum lease income I respect of the Group®s INnvestment properties are set out in note 29
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12 Inventory
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
£million Erntion
Finished goods and goods for resale 920 240

13 Trade and other receivables
2May 29 March

2015 2014
£million Emillion

Trade recevables 1,010 935
L.ess provision for bad and doubtful debts (20) (20}
990 915

Prepayments 124 35
Other receivables 74 55
Accrued income 2 5
Dervative financial assets 15 2
1,225 1,012

Non-current 318 191
Current 907 821
1,225 1,012

The majority of trade and other receivables are non-mterest beanng Non-current recevables mainly comprise commisston
recervable on sales Where the effect 1s matenal, trade and other recewvables are discounted using discount rates which reflect
the relevant costs of financing The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates farr value

2 May 2015 29 March 2014
Gross trade Net trade  Gross trade Net trace
recolvables Provision recevables  recavables Provision  rageivables
Emillion Emithon £mullion Emithon Emulion Cmulon

Ageing of gross trade receivables and provisions
Not yet due 848 6) 842 795 @) 793

Past due

Under two months 52 (5) 47 49 3) 46
Two to four months 17 - 17 39 (1) 38
Over four months a3 9 84 52 (14) 38
162 (14) 148 140 (18) 122
1,010 (20) 990 935 (20) 915
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13 Trade and other recervables continued
Movements in the provision for impatrment of trade recevables is as follows

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Emiltlion Ermilkon

Opening balance {20) —

Dixons Retail Merger (19} -
CPW Europe Acquisiion - (23)
Charged to the income staterment 8) (19}
Recewvables written off as imecoverable 16 22

Disposals 2 -

Transferred to assets held for sell 8 -

Foreign exchange 1 -
Closing balance {20) {20)

The Group's trade recewvables included the following amounts which were past due, but for which the Group has made no

provision based on histoncal rates of recoverability

2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emultion Emilhen
Under two months 47 46
Two to four months 17 38
Cver four months 84 38
148 122

14 Cash and cash equivalents
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
E£mililon Cmillion
Cash at bank and on deposit 163 283

Cash at bank and on deposit Includes short term bank deposits which are available on demand Within cash and cash

equivalents, £92 milkon (2014 £26 million) is restncted and predominantly comprises funds held under trust to fund potential
customer support agreement liabilities as well as by the Group's insurance businesses to cover regulatory reserve requirements

These funds are not avallable to offset group borrowings
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15 Trade and other payables
2 May 215 29 March 2014
Non- Non-
Curmrent current Current current
£million E£million Emullion Emullion
Trade payables 1,007 - 565 113
Other taxes and soctal secunty 205 - 127 -
Derwvative financial instruments 26 - — -
Other creditors 103 277 - —
Accruals 384 72 166 -
Deferred income 146 147 11 -
1,961 496 869 113

Non-cument trade and other payables relate pnncipally to property leases that are deemed o be over-rented These liabiities are
unwound over the peniod of the relevant lease, of up to 22 years The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates
therr fair value

16 Deferred consideration

2 May 2015 29 March 2014

Non- Non-

Current current Currant current

£mililion £milbon Emallisn Emillion

Deferred consideration 25 6 25 25

Deferred consideration primarily relates to the CPW Europe Acquisition with £25 million payable to Best Buy in June 2015
(2014 payable to Best Buy in equal instalments in June 2014 and June 2015) The amount bears interest at 2 5% per annum
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17 Loans and other borrowings
2 May 29 March

2015 2014
Erullion Emiltion

Non-current habilities
Loans and other borrowings 330 290
330 290

Commutted faciities

Until the Merger, the Group had a £650 mullton multi-currency term and revolving credit faciity which matured in Apnl 2017 This
facility was split into two tranches a £400 million revoiving tranche and a term loan tranche of £250 milllon The term loan facility
reduced by £25 miflion during the year ended 2 May 2015 and amortises by a further £50 mililon on 30 June 2016

These facilities were amended on completion of the Merger for specific requirements of Dixons, a temporary loosening of certain
covenants and some other provisions specific to the Merger, but which otherwise remained on the same terms as previously
agreed and wll shll mature in Apnl 2017 In addition, the Company arranged a new £250 million revolving credit faciity maturing
on 29 Apnl 2017

The rate of interest payable on borrowings i1s a margin of 1 5% to 2 25% per annum over LIBOR or EURIBOR
The faciities require guarantees to be provided by certain Group entities under the facilities

Bank overdraft and other uncommitted facilties
The Group has overdraft and uncommitted money market facilities totalling approximately £157 million (2014 £95 milion)

18 Finance lease obligations

2 May 2015 29 March 2014
Present Present
value of value of

Mirimum minimum Minimum minImum
loase lease lease lease
paymants payments paymants payments
Emillion Emilllon Ermilion Emillian
Amounts due
Within one year 8 8 1 1
In more than one year and not more than five years a3 26 - -
In more than five years 114 587 - -
155 o1 1 1

Less future finance charges (64) - - -

Present value of lease obligations 91 M 1 1

Less amounts due within one year @ {2) {1 (1)

Amounts due after more than one year BY 89 - -

The majonty of finance leases relate to properties in the UK which were acquired as part of the Merger where obligations are
denominated in Sterfing and remaining lease terms vary between 10 and 21 years The effective borrowing rate on indvidual
leases ranged between 551% and 8 15% (2014 6 1%) Interest rates are fixed at the contract date All leases are on a fixed
repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered inte for contingent rental payments

The farr value of the Group's lease obligations approximates therr camying amount
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19 Provisions

2 May 2015 29 March 2014

Reorganisation Sales Other Tot®!  Rearganisation Sales Other Total

£million E£milhon Emillion Srmullion Emillica Eriliion £miion Emullion

At beginning of period 2 10 18 50 - - 7 7
CPW Europe Acquisition - - - - 35 1" 17 63
Merger 31 - 27 58 - - - -
Addtions 39 2 7 48 - 3 4 7
Released in the penod 4) - - (4} - - 3 3
Utilised in the penod {63) 5) 4) 72) {13} 4 ] (24)
Reclassification to held for sale {1) - (1) 2} - - - -
Disposal of business - - (1) (1} - - - -
Foreign exchange {1) 1) - (2 - - - -
At end of period 23 6 45 75 22 10 18 50

Analysed as

Current 20 6 28 54 22 10 18 50
Non-current 3 - 18 21 — - - -
23 6 46 75 22 10 18 50

A descrption of each provision i1s included in note 1

Provisions recognised as part of the Merger primanly compnse provisions for onercus property lease contracts (within other) and
Merger related costs (within reorganisation)

Additions during the year ended 2 May 2015 relate to restructunng charges ansing from the Merger, restructuning provisions
recognised by the businesses in Germany and the Netherlands pror to becorming discontinued operations held for sale and
provisions recognised by the Group relating to the dispesal of discontinued operations

Other provisions include £25 mullion in relation to onerous property lease contracts at 2 May 2015

Non-current provistons are expected to be utiised over a penod up to ten years
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20 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations

2 Mgy 29 March

2015 2014

fmiilion fmilion

Retrrement benefit obligations — UK 486 -
- Nordics 3 -

489 -

The Group operates a defined benefit and a number of defined contribution schemes which were acquired as part of the Dixons
Retail Merger

The principal scherne which operates in the UK includes a funded defined benefit section whose assets are held in a separate
trustee administered fund The scheme 1s valued by a qualified actuary at least every three years and contnbutions are assessed
n accordance with the actuary’s advice Since 1 September 2002, the defined benefit section of the scheme has been closed to
new entrants and on 30 Apnl 2010 was closed to future accrual with automatic entry into the defined contnbution section being
offered to those active members of the defined benefit section at that tme Membership of the defined contnbution section is
offered to eligible employees

In the Nordics diviston, the Group operates small funded secured defined benefit pension schemes, which are also closed
to new entrants, with assets held by a ife insurance company as well as an unsecured pension arrangement In addition,
contnbutions are made to state pension schemes with defined benefit charactenstics There has been a net movement in
the obligation since the Merger and this pnncipally relates to an actuanal loss of £1 milion

a) Defined contnbution pension schemes
The pension charge in respect of defined contribution schemes was £20 million (2013/14 €4 mullion)
b) UK Defined henefit pension scheme - actuanal valuation and assumptions

A full actuanat valuation of the scheme was last camed out as at 31 March 2013 and showed a shorifall of assets compared with
labilities of £373 millon A ‘recovery plan’ based on this valuation was agreed with the Trustee post the Dixons Retail Merger
such that contnbutions in respect of the scheme year end of 31 March of £25 million were made In 2014/15, nsing to £35 million
for 2015/16 Contnbutions nse to £47 million by 2024/25 The next tnennial valuation will be as at 31 March 2016

The principal actuanal assumptions as at 31 March 2013 were

Rate per annum

Discount rate for accrued benefits® - Growth portfolio 59%

~- Matching pertfolio 38%
Rate of increase to pensions 0% -3 8%
Inflatron 34%

1 The discount rate 15 based on a knear de-nsking methodology which assumes the Scheme's investment strategy switches investments from
growth assets {such as equities} to matching assets (such as bonds) over a penod of 30 years from 2013 to 2043 so that in 30 years' time
the asset portfolio 1s projected to be 80% invested In matching assets

At 31 March 2013, the market value of the scherme's investments was £812 million and, based on the above assumphions,
the value of the assets was sufficient to cover 69% of the benefits accrued to members with the liabilities amounting to
£1,185 million
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20 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
¢} UK Defined benefit pension scheme - I1AS 19

The following summanses the components of net defined benefit expense recognised n the consolidated income statement,
the funded status and amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet and other amounts recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income The methodologies set out mn IAS 12 are different from those used by the scheme actuanes in

determining funding arrangements

() Pnncipal assumptions adopted
The assumptions used In calculating the expenses and obligations are set by the directors after consultation with the
independent actuanes

2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emiliion Lmilbon
Rates per annum

Discount rate 35% -

Rate of Increase in pensions in payment / 29%/
deferred pensions (pre / post April 2006 accruai) 19% -
Inflation 31% -

The Group uses demographic assumptions undertying the last formal actuanal valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2013

In particular, post retirement mortalty has been assumed to follow the standard mortality tables 'S1" All Pensioners tables
published by the CMI, based on the expenence of Self-Administered Pension Schemes (SAPS) with multipliers of 100% for
males and 105% for females In addition, an allowance has been made for future Improverments in longewvity from 2003 by using
the new CMI 2013 Core projections with a long term rate of improvement of 1 5% per annum for men and 1 25% per annum for
women Applying such tables results in an average expected longevity of between 87 1 years and 88 8 years for men and

between 88 8 years and 90 2 years for women for those reaching 65 over the next 15 years

(i) Amounts recogrised in consolidated ncome statement

13 months Year
ended endad
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
£milfion Emillion
Net interest expense on defined benefit obhgation 13 -
(i) Amounts recogrised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and expense
13 months Year
ended endad
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
fmillion Srmuthon
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation - actuarial gans / (losses) ansing from
changes n financial assumptions (168) -
experience adjustments 19 -
change n demographic assumptions (9) -
Remeasurement of scheme assets
Actual return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense) 86 -
Cumulative actuanal ioss 72 -
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20 Retrement and other post-employment benefit obligatons continued
(v} Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Emilhon fmillion
Present value of defined benefit ablgations {1,431) -
Farr value of plan assets 945 —
Net obligation (4886) -

Changes In the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2 May 29 March

2015 2014
Emilon £mition
Opening cbligation at date of Dixons Retall Merger 1,259 -
Interest cost 38 -
Remeasurements in other comprehensive income - actuaral losses / {gains) ansing from changes in
Financial assumptions 168 -
Expernence (19} -
Demographic assumptions 9 -
Benefits paid (24} -
Closing cbligation 1,43t -

The weighted average maturity profile of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 1s 21 years

Changes in the farr value of the scheme assets

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

£million Emikaon

Opening fair value at date of Dixons Retail Merger 830 -

Interest mcome 25 -

Employer special contnbutions 28 -
Remeasurements in other comprehensive income

Actual return on plan assets (excluding interest income) 86 -

Benefits paid (24) -

Closing fair value 945 -

Analysis of scheme assets

2 May 29 March

2015

2014

£million Emilkon

Overseas and global equities - Listed 286 -
Drwversified growth - Listed 182 -
- Unlisted 10 -

Mutt-asset credit funds - Listed 29 -
- Unlisted 23 -

Emerging market muth asset funds - Listed 49 -
-~ Unhsted 3 -

Private equity - Unlisted 47 -
Property - Unlisted 15 -
Index-linked gilts - Listed 101 -
Corporate bonds - Listed 79 -
Liability driven investments (LDI) - Listed 69 -
Cash and cash nstruments - Uniisted 51 -
Cther - Unlisted 1 -
045 -
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20 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obhgations continued

The mvestment strategy of the scheme 1s determined by the independent Trustee through adwvice provided by an independent
investment consultant The scheme mvests In a diverse range of asset classes as set out above with matching assets pnmanly

compnsing holdings in nflatton inked gilts and corporate bonds
Actual retum on the scheme assets was a gain of £111 million (2013/14 £nil)
v} Sensitnities

The value of the UK defined benefit pension scheme assets are sensitive to market conditions, particularly equity values which
compnse approximately 67% of the scheme's assets Changes in assumptions used for determining retirement benefit costs
and habilbes may have a matenal impact on the 2015/16 income statement and the balance sheet The main assumptions are
the discount rate, the rate of inflation and the assurned mortality rate The following table provides an estimate of the potential
impacts of each of these vanables if applied to the cumrent year consolidated income statement and balance sheet

Not finance costs Net deficit

13 months Year

ended ended
2 May 29 March 2 May 29 March
2015 2014 2015 2014
E£million £mihon Emilhon Emithon

Posttive / (negative) effect

Discount rate 0 25% increase 2 - 73 -
Inflation rate 0 25% increase! {2) - (57 -
Mortality rate 1 year increase {2) - 42) -

1 Thencrease in scheme benefits prowded to members on retirement 1s subject to an inflation cap

d) Other post-employment benefits — IAS 19

The Group offers other post-employment benefits to employees in overseas temtones, in particular in Greece These benefits are
unfunded At 2 May 2015 the net obligation in relation to these benefits was £3 million (2014 £nil) The net movement in the

obligation (since the Merger) 1s not significant
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21 Share capital, retamned earmings and reserves

a) Share caprtal
2 May 29 March 2 May 29 March
2015 04 5 2014
enillion milon Emillion fmillion
Allotted, called-up and fully pawd ordinary shares of 0 1p each 1,151 576 1 1
2 May 29 March 2 May 29 March
2015 2014 2015 2014
Note milllon milion Emillion Lerillion
Ordinary shares of 0 1p each in 1ssue at the beginning of the period 576 473 1 1
Issued as consideration to Dixons sharehelders 0] 575 - — -
Issued for cash {in - a7 - -
Issue of Consideration Shares (i - 42 - —
Exercise of share options - 14 - -
Ordinary shares of 0 1p each in 1ssue at the end of the period 1,151 576 1 1

{iy Dunng the year, 574 7 million shares with a mid-market prce of £3 432 were 1ssued as part of the all share merger with Dixons as descnbed

In note 23

{i) On 30 Apnl 2013 the Group placed 47 2 millton ordinary shares at £2 22 per share, raising net proceeds of £103 mulion which were used to

fund part of the consideration for the CPW Europe Acquisition

() On 25 June 2013 the Group Issued 42 1 milllon Consideration Shares to Best Buy Best Buy agreed to wave nghts to dvidends payable on
these shares for the penod in which they were in their ownerstep The Consideration Shares were placed by the Group in July 2013 and

from this point held the same nghts as other ordinary shares

b} Retained eamings and reserves

Movement in retaned eamings and reserves dunng the reported penods are presented in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity The demerger reserve arose as part of the demerger of the Group from TalkTalk in 2010

22 Equnty dwvidends
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emillion Emithon
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity shareholders in the penod
- on ordinary shares of 0 1p each
Final dvidend for the year ended 31 March 2013 of 3 25p per ordinary share - 19
Interm dwvidend for the year ended 29 March 2014 of 2 00p per ordinary share - 1
Final dividend for the year ended 29 March 2014 of 4 00p per ordinary share 23 -
fnterim dividend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 2 50p per ordinary share 29 -
52 30

The following distnbution 1s proposed but had not been effected at 2 May 2015 and 1s subject to shareholders’ approval at the

forthcoming Annual General Meeting

Emillian

Final dridend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 6 Op per ordinary share

69
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23 Merger and acquisiion
2014/15 All-share merger of Dixons and Carphone

On 6 August 2014, the Group completed an all-share merger of Dixons and Carphone after which the shareholders of Dixons
and Carphone each held 50% of Dixons Carphone on a fully difuted bas:s talung into account existing share options and award

schemes for both companies

Under the terms of the Merger, Dixons shareholders received 0 155 of a new Dixons Carphone Share in exchange for each

Dixons share In accordance with the cntena in IFRS 3 '‘Business Combinations’ it has been determined that Carphone
acquired Dixons

The merged entity creates a leader in European consumer electncals, mobiles, connectivity and related services The directors

bebeve that the Merger will deliver sigmificant value to shareholders through a combination of enhanced commercial

opportunities, operating synergies and growth opporturities The integration of the two businesses 1s being managed by a
dedicated integration team, bnnging together the best relevant capabilibes of both businesses, with the aim of facilitating a

smooth integration
a) Fair value of assets and habilhes

The provisional fair values of \dentifiable assets and hiabilities of Dixons as at the acquisition date were as follows

Note £million
Assets
Intangible assets 403
Property, plant & equipment 266
Trade and other receivables 1] 305
Deferred tax assets 190
inventory 789
Income tax recevable 20
Short term investments 1
Cash and cash equivalents 330
Assets held for sale i) 30
Total assets 2,343
Liabihties
Loans and other borrowings (289}
Firance lease obligations (93)
Retrement benefit obligations (432}
Trade and other payables (1,949)
Income tax payable (49)
Provisions () {58)
Deferred tax liabilities {90)
Liabibities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale (30)
Total habilities {2,990)
Total fair value of identfiable net liabilihies acquired @) (647)
Prowisicnal goodwill ™ 2,629
Total consideration - farr value of ordinary shares issued {vi) 1,982
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23 Merger and acquistion continued
2014/15 All-share merger of Dixons and Carphone continued

M The far value of trade and other recenvables represents gross trade recevables of £324 milan less amounts not considered collectible of
£19 milion

(i} Assets held for sale included cash and cash equivalenis of £8 million

i) Prowisions include the recogritron of contingent liabilities of £7 milkon mainly in relation to lease covenants relating to prermises assigned or
sublet to third parties and legal clams It is anticipated that the majonty of any utiisation associated wath these contingent hiabilities wiil be
incurred over the next five years No utihsation of these provisions has occurred between the acquisiion date and 2 May 2015

(v} The finalisation of the fair value of the acquired assets and labilities will be completed within 12 months of the acquisition and therefore
remains provisional until 5 August 2015 owing to the extensive nature of the valuation process as well as the requirement to re-assess
the status of contingent liabiities which have been prowvided for It 15 therefore possible that adjustments to goodwall coutd anse up untit
5 August 2015

(v} The goodwill ansing on acquisition 15 not deductible for ncome tax purposes The provisional goodwll of £2,629 million reflects the fact that

Dixons' value 1s based on its cash generating potential rather than its existing assets and the fact that many of is key strengths, such as its
scale and expertise, do not represent intangible assets as defined by IFRS The goodwill furthermore reflects the main reasons the directors

of Dixens and Carphone proposed the Merger, being

+ The markets in which Carphone and Duons operate are converging and the combination of the two complementary businesses will create

the opportunity for compelling end-to-end propositions and long term relationships with customers,

The Group will have improved scale and reach,

Significant synergies will anse with operating synergies of at least £80 million on a recumng basis expected to be delivered in full by

2016/17, and
» The Merger will prowide a stronger platform for growth through the provision of services to customers and businesses

{fviy On 6 August 2014 the Company 1ssued 574,723,226 shares with a mid-market share pnce of £3 432 as consideration to Dixons
shareholders, resulting in an increase to share capital and share prermium of £1,972 million In addition, the Company assumed the
obligation to satisfy outstanding share options within the Dixons Carphone business for which a far vatue of £11 midlion has been
included as part of the consideration This has been partialty offset by shares with a value of €1 milion included within Dixons Retail
Employee Share Trust

b) Other information

Transaction related charges of £9 million incurred by the Group in respect of the Merger have been included in Non-Headline
operating expenses as set out in note 4

The results of Dixons have been consofidated from 6 August 2014, contnbuting £5,586 million of revenue and profit after tax
of £200 rmilhion in the penod to 2 May 2015 If the acquisition had completed at the beginring of Dixons’ financial year, being
1 May 2014, the Group's revenue would have been £9,936 milkon and the Group's Headline profit after tax would have been
£293 million Non-Headlne items included within Oixons results in the penod pnor to the Merger compnsed £11 milion in
respect of the acceleration of share-based payment charges which vested on the Merger, £12 milhon of merger related

professtonal fees, £5 million of merger integration costs, £42 million of debt restructunng costs, £5 million of provision releases

relating to discontinued operations and £4 million of pension interest costs A tax crecht of £11 million was recognised aganst

these charges
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23 Merger and acquisition continued
2013/14 CPW Europe Acquisition

On 26 June 2013 the Group completed the CPW Europe Acquisihon for a gross consideration of £500 milion, bnnging the
Group’s ownership interest to 100% CPW Europe 1s one of the largest independent telecommunications specialists in Eurape,
operating retal stores, pnncipally under the Carphone Warehouse and Phone House brands, together with well-developed online
propositions CPW Europe 1s also increasingly focused on leveraging its assets and expertise to provide services to third parties

through its Connected World Services business

The pnmary reasons for the acquisition were to bnng a simpldied ownership structure, making day-to-day management easter
and the strategic decision-making process more streamiined, and enabhing the Group to better leverage CPW Europe’s asset

base and know-how
c) Farr value of assets and liabilthes

The fair values of identifiable assets and lahilities of CPW Europe as at the acquisiton date were as follows

Notes Cmilion
Intangible assets 120
Property, plant and equipment 72
Deferred tax assets 44
Stock 343
Trade and other receivables 0] 1,112
Net cash and cash equivalents 53
Current asset investments 5
Trade and other payables (836)
Corporation tax Hiabilities {48)
Provisions {in {63)
Loans and other borrowings (271)
Finance lease oblgations {(3)
Identifiable net assets 528
Goodwill ) 484
Total consideration 1012
Satisfred by
Farr value of existing joint venture investment ) 500
Cash ) 370
Deferred consideration {vi) 50
Equity (vi) 113
Denvative asset (i) 21)
1,012
Net cash outflow ansing on acquisiion
Cash consideration 370
Less net cash and cash equivalents acquired (53)
317
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23 Merger and acquisttion continued
2013/14 CPW Europe Acquisttion continued

(i} The jair value of trade and other recevables represents gross contractual amounts recevable of £1,135 milion, less amounts not

considered collectable of £23 milion

i) Provisions inctude the recognition of contingent habilities of £8 million in relation to legal claims and other potential exposures It 1s expected
that any costs associated with these contingent hiabiliies will be incurred over the next four years

i) The goodwill of £484 million ansing on the acquisiion reflects the fact that CPW Europe’s value 1s based on its cash generating potential
rather than its existing assets, and the fact that many of its key strengths, such as its scale and expertise, do not represent intangible assets
as defined by IFRS None of the goodwll 1s expected to be deductible for incoms tax purposes

v} IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ requires that the Group's existing 50% interest n CPW Europe be revalued to its far value as part of the
acquisition accounting process The fair value of this interest 1s considered to be equal to the gross consideration of £500 million paid by the
Group to acquire Best Buy's 50% interest in CPW Europe As the carrying value of the Group’s investment in CPW Europe was £489 milion
at the acquisition date, a gain of £1 mifkon was recogmised in Non-Headline operating expenses in respect of this revaluation

{v) Gross cash consideration of £370 muflion was settled on completion, offset by payments from Best Buy of £29 milhion in respect of the
prepayment or termination of the Group's other interests with Best Buy

{w) The £50 rmilion of deferred cash consideration, which bears interest at 2 5% per annum, 1s payable to Best Buy 1n two equal instalments of
£25 mihon in June 2014 and June 2015

{vi) A further £80 million of consideration was provided through the issue on completion of 42 1 million shares to Best Buy, at a pnce of £1 90
per share The Group had the nght to place the Consideration Shares on Best Buy's behalf duning the 12 month penod to June 2(H4, and to
retain any upside on dispesal The value of the Consideration Shares on completion was £101 million, based on a share pnce at that date of
£2 38, and this value 1s recorded as consideration, with the value assecciated with the nght 1o place the Consideration Shares recognised as
a denvative financial asset of £21 million The Consideration Shares were placed in July 2013 at an average pnce of £2 44, resulting in a net
cash gain of £23 millon for the Group The difference between the disposal proceeds and the value of the denvative financial asset has
been recognised as a gain of £2 mifion in Non-Headline operating expenses

As part of the transaction, the Group agreed to satisfy Best Buy's obligations in relation to certam incentive schemes Shares
with a value of £12 million were issued in respect of Best Buy's obligations and have been included in consideration

d) Other information

The results of CPW Europe have been consclidated into the Group's iIncome statement from 26 June 2013, contnbuting
£2,561 mitlion of revenue and a profit before tax of £61 million in the penod to 29 March 2014 If the acquisition had completed
on 1 Apnl 2013, being the first day of the financial year, the Group’s revenue would have been £3,402 million and the Group's
profit before tax would have been £46 million

Transaction-related charges of £18 mtlion, compnsing banking and professional fees of €7 million and cash and non-cash
charges relating to incentive schemes of £11 million have been included in Non-Headline operating expenses A tax credit of
£3 milion was also recognised in respect of these costs

€) Share of results from joint ventures

The Group's share of results of joint ventures within contnuing operations relate to CPW Eurape pnor to its acquisition on
26 June 2013 and i1s analysed as follows

29 March
2014

Emilhon

Headhne revenue 777
Headline EBITT 12
Net finance costs 2)
Taxation on Headline results (5
Headline profit after taxation 5
Group share of Headline profit after taxation 3
Group share of French operations (in process of closure)} (post-tax) (23)
Group share of loss after taxation {20)

1t Headline EBIT includes the unwinding of discounting for the time value of money on network commissions recewvable over the Iife of the
customer This unwinding had a value of £3 million for the period to 26 June 2013 and s treated as finance income i the joint venture's
statutory results
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24 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale

On 16 May 2014 the Group announced that it had entered into an agreement to sell its interest in Virgin Mobile France
and completed the disposal on 4 December 2014 for gross consideration of £104 mullion and generated a profit of
£87 million

Following the Merger, the Group put in place a strategy of focusing on market leadership positions while engaging in
other markets through partnerships with its Connected World Services division This led the Group to carry out detaled
strategic assessments of its Phone House operations which concluded in the decision to exit certain markets

+ On 15 Apni 2015 the Group announced that it had agreed the sale of its operations in Germany to Dnllisch AG, aleading
mobile virtual network operator in Germany The sale compteted on 5 May 2015

+ On 24 Apnl 2015 the Group entered into an agreement to dispose of a majonty B3% stake in its operations in the Netherlands
to Relevant Holdings BV, a company set up by the shareholders of Optie1 which has extensive telecom retailing expenence in
the Dutch market The sale completed on 30 June 2015

+ On 16 July 2015 the Group announced its commitment to dispose of its operations in Portugal following the completon of a
strategic review in 2014/15 Discussions which commenced with potential acquirers during 2014/15 are advanced and an
announcement confirming details of the disposal is expected in due course

The closure of the Phone House operations in France, which was announced in 2013/14, was completed dunng the year
ended 2 May 2015 and is therefore now treated as a discontinued operation

Prior to the Merger, Dixons agreed to sell its operations in the Czech Republic and Slovakia The net assets held for sale
associated with this business were included within the fair value of assets and habilities acquired through the Merger and
the sale completed on 11 August 2014

All busmesses noted above have been presented within discontinued operations and the assets and habihties associated
with Germany, Netherlands and Portugal have been recognised as held for sale at 2 May 2015 The results of the Phone
House Gerrnany, Netherlands and Portugal prior to the CPW Europe Acquisttion continue to be reported in results of joint
ventures within Headline continuing operations The Group's interest in Virgin Mobile France was presented as an asset
held for sale as at 29 March 2014 and equity accounting was ceased from this date

a) Loss after tax — discontinued operations

The results of discontinued operations are comprised as follows

13 months ended 2 May 2015
Virgin Phone Phone Phone Phone
Mobile House House House House
France France Gormany Netherlands Portugal Total
Emitlion £mittion Emiltion £milllon fmllion Emillion
Revenue - - 323 159 a7 529
Expenses - - (364) (239) (55) {658}
Loss before tax — —_ {41) (80) 8) {129)
Income tax - - - - - -
- - 41 (80) {8} (129)
Profit on disposal ar - - - — 87
Impairment losses recogrised on classification as held for
sale - - {16) {43) (13) 72)
87 - {57 (123) 21)  (114)

The profit on disposal of Virgin Mobite France compnses consideration of £104 million, £4 milion of costs and €13 milion of net
assets disposed The loss before tax of the operations in Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal include restructunng costs and
asset impairment charges from regrganisations camed out prior to the businesses being classified as held for sale Such costs
include the Non-Headline exceptional restructunng charges of £67 million, of which £35 million relates to goodwill impairment,
recognised in relabon to the Phone House Germany and Netherlands The imparment losses recognised on classification as
held for sale on all other businesses refiects the difference between the consideration expected to be received and the net
assets held for sale including any impairnent of assets to ther anticipated net realisable value on completion less any accrued
costs to sell
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24 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale continued

Restated
12 months ended 29 March 2014
Virgin Pnone Phone Phane Phong
Mobile House House House House
France France Germany  Netheriands Poriugal Total
Cmilhon Emillion Emitlion f£milion Erulon Ermllion
Revenue - 71 395 122 45 633
Expenses - 7N (396) (124) (46) {643)
Loss before tax - {6) (1) (2 0] (10)
Income tax —_ - - - - —
Loss after tax from discontinued operations - (6} " (2) (1) (10}
b) Assets held for sale
The Group’s assets held for sale and associated liabilities are analysed as follows
2May 29 March
2015 204
Emillion Emillion
Investments in joint ventures - 11
Inventory 16 -
Recewables 66 -
Cash and cash eguivalents 55 -
Assets held for sale 137 11
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale - current habilities (68) -
Net assets held for sale 69 ah|
c) Cash flows from discontinued operations
Restated
13 months Year
ended ended
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
fmilifon £million
Operating activities (78) 44
Investing activities 81 {3}
3 a1
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25 Financial nsk management and denvative financial nstruments
Financial instruments that are measured at far value in the financial statements require disclosure of farr value measurements
by levet based on the following fair value measurement hierarchy

+ Level 1 ~ quoted pnces (unadjusted) In active markets for identical assets and habilities,

» Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices Included within Level 1 that are observable for the assat or llability either directty
(that s, as pnces) or indirectly (that 1s, denved from prices), and

+ Level 3 - inputs for the asset or llability that are not based on cbservable market data (that 1s, unobservable inputs)

The significant inputs required to fair value all of the Group’s financial instruments are observable The Group only holds Level 2
financial mstruments There have also been no transfers of assets or lahilities between levels of the fair value erarchy

Fair values have been amved at by discounting future cash flows, assuming no early redemption, or by revaluing forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps to penod end market rates as appropnate to the instrument

The directors consider that the book value of financial assets and habilities recorded at amortised cost and therr farr value are
approximately equal

The book value and fair value of the Group's financial assets, habilities and denvative financial instruments are as follows

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Emilion Cmilhon
Cash and cash eguivalents 163 283
Trade and other recevables excluding denvative financial assets 1,086 975
Denvative financial (kabiities) / assets (11) 2
Loans to Virgin Mobile France (see note 24) - 18
Trade and other payables {1,939) {844)
Finance leases {91) (1)
Deferred consideration {31) {50)
Loans and other borrowings {385) {290}

a) Financial nsk management policies

The Group's activities expose 1t to certain financial nsks including market nsk {such as foreign exchange nsk and interest rate
nisk), credit nsk and hquidity nsk The Group’s treasury function, which operates under treasury policies approved by the Board,
uses certan financial nstruments to mitigate potentially adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance from these rigsks
These financial mstruments consist of bank loans and deposits, spot and forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange
swaps and interest rate swaps

Throughout the penod under review, In accordance with Group policy, no speculative use of denvatives, foreign exchange or
other instruments was penmitted No contracts with embedded denvatives have been identified and, accordingly, no such
denvatives bave been accounted for separately
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25 Financial nsk management and denwvative financial instruments continued
b) Foreign exchange nsk

The Group undertakes certain transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies and as a consequence has exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations These exposures prmanly anse from inventory purchases, with most of the Group's exposure being
to US Dollar and Euro fluctuations The Group uses spot and forward currency contracts to mitigate these exposures, with such
contracts designed to cover exposures ranging from one month to one year

The translation nsk on converting overseas currency profits or losses 1s not hedged and such profits or losses are converted into
Sterling at average exchange rates throughout the year The Group's pnncipal translation cumrency exposures are the Euro and
Norwegian Krone

At 2 May 2015, the total notional pnncipal amount of outstanding currency contracts was £1,540 milion (2014 £68 miflion)
Monetary assets and habilihies and foreign exchange contracts are sensitive to movements in foreign exchange rates This
sensitivity can be analysed in companson to year-end rates (assuming all other vanables rematn constant) as follows

13 months ended Year ended
2 May 2015 29 March 2014
Effect on
Headline Effect on

profit Effect an Head!ing Effect on
befora tax total equity profitbefore  total equity
Incroase/  Increase/ tax increase Increase /
{decrease) (decrease) /(decrease) (decrease)
Emillion Emitlion €million miltion

10% movement in the US dollar exchange rate - 5 — -
10% movement in the Euro exchange rate - 57 - -
10% movement in the Swedish Krona exchange rate - 4 - -
10% movement in the Danish Krone exchange rate - 3 - -
10% movement in the Norwegian Krone exchange rate - 3 - -
c) Interest rate nsk

The Group's interest rate nsk anses pnmanly on cash, cash equivalents and loans and other borrowings, all of which are at
floating rates of interest and which therefore expose the Group to cash flow interest rate nsk These floating rates are linked to
LIBOR and cther interest rate bases as appropnate to the instrument and currency Future cash flows ansing from these financial
instruments depend on interest rates and penods agreed at the time of rollover Group policy permits the use of long term
interest rate dervatives in managing the nisks associated with movements in interest rates

The effect on the income statement and equity of 1% movements in the interest rate for the cumrencies in which most Group
cash, cash equivalents, loans and other borrowings are denomnated and on which the valuation of most denvative financial
instruments 15 based 15 as follows, assuming that the year-end positions prevail throughout the year

13 months ended Year ended
2 May 2015 29 March 2014
Effect on
Headline Effect on

profit Effect on Headline Effect on
betore tax  total equity  profit before  total equsty
increasa/  increase /  lax ncrease ncrease /
(decrease} (decresse) /(decrsase} (decrease)
£milion £mullion Emuttion Cmilion

1% increase In the Sterling interest rate - 4 - 4
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25 Financial nsk management and dervative financial instruments continued
d) Liquidrty nsk

Liquidity nsk ts the nisk that the Group will encouniter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial kabilites
that are settled by delivening cash or another financial asset The Group manages its exposure to lquidity nsk by reviewing
reguiarly the long term and short term cash flow projections for the business against the resources available to it

In order to ensure that sufficient funds are avaiable for ongoing and future developments, the Group has committed bank
{acilities, excluding overdrafts repayable on demand, 1otaling £875 milhon {2014 £650 milion) Furiner detaits of committed
borrowing facities are shown in note 17

The table below analyses the Group's financial hiabilities and denvative assets and liabilities into relevant matunty groupings
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, iIncluding both principal and interest flows,
assuming that interest rates reman constant and that borrowings are paid in full in the year of matunty

In more
than one
year but
not more In more
Within than five than flve
one year years years Tota}
£million Emillion Crmillion Emultion
2 May 2015
Finance leases 8) {33) {114} {155)
Denvative financial instruments - payable
Forward foreign exchange contracts (1,540) - - (1,540)
Interest rate swaps @ 2} - (4}
Derwative financial instruments - receivable
Forward foreign exchange contracts 1,530 - - 1,530
Loans and other borrowings (64) {337) - {401)
Deferred consideration (25) 6) - {31}
Trade and other payables (1,584) {349) - {1,933)
In mora
than ons
year but
not mord In mors
Within than fiva than five
one year yoars years Total
Lmilion Lmullion £mithon Emition
29 March 2014
Finance leases m - - M
Dervative financial instruments — payable
Forward foreign exchange contracts {68} - - (68)
Interest rate swaps (1) - - (N
Dervative financial instruments - receivable
Forward foreign exchange contracts 68 - - €8
Interest rate swaps - 4 - 4
Loans and other borrowings (8} (303) - 311)
Deferred consideration (25} (25) - {50}
Trade and other payables {869) —- - (869)
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25 Financial nsk management and denvative financial instruments continued
€) Credit nsk

Credit nsk 1s the nsk of financial loss to the Group If a bank fails to meet its contractual obligations, and anses pnncipally from
the Group's receivables from customers The Group’s exposure to credit nsk is regularty monitored and the Group's policy 1$
updated as appropnate

The majonty of the Group's trade recevables are balances due from MNOs, which are generally major multi-national enterprises
with whom the Group has well-established relationships and are consequently not considered to add significantly to the Group's
credit nsk exposure The Group's trade recevables also include balances due from equipment manufacturers, dealers and
Connected World Services customers, business to business customers and consumer credit recevables Where it 1s considered
appropnate, the Group obtains credit nsurance on accounts receivable Provision 1s made for any recevables that are
considered to be irmecoverable Detalls of trade recevables which are past due but not impared are provided in note 13

The credrt nsks on cash and cash eguivalents and dervative financial instruments are closely monitored and credit ratings are
used in determining maximum counterparty credit nsk

The Group's funding is reliant on ts £875 million bank facilities, which are provided by nine banks, these insttutions are
considered to be adequately capitalised to continue to meet their obligations under the facility

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which s net of impairment losses, represents the
Group's maximum exposure o credit nsk

f} Capital nsk

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group wil! be able to continue as going concems, whilst
maximising the retum to shareholders through a suitable mix of debt and equity The capital structure of the Group consists of
cash and cash equivalents, loans and other borrowings and equity atinbutable to equity holders of the Company, compnsing
1ssued capital, reserves and accumulated profits Except in relation to minmum capital requirements in its insurance business,
the Group 1s not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements The Group monitors its capital structure on an ongoing
basis, including assessing the nsks associated with each class of capital

g) Denvatives

Denvative financial instruments compnse forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps
The Group has designated financial mstruments under IAS 39 as follows

Cash flow hedges

At 2 May 2015 the Group had forward and swap foreign exchange contracts in place with a notional value of £1,487 million
(2014 Enil) that were designated and effective as cash flow hedges These contracts are expected to cover exposuras ranging
from one month to one year

Interest rate swaps
The Group also held interest rate swaps with a notional value of £280 million (2014 £280 milhon) whereby the Group receves
a floating rate of interest based on LIBOR and pays a fixed interest rate This contract matures n Apnl 2017
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26 Notes to the cash flow statement
a) Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash inflow from operating actvities

Year
ended
29 March
2014
Cmillion
Profit / (loss) before interest and tax — continuing operations 86
Deprectation and amortisation 40
Share-based payment charge 4
Non-cash movements on joint ventures 19
Impairments and other non-cash items -
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 149
Movements in working capital
Decrease in inventory 81
{Increase) / decrease In recaivables 114
(Decrease) / increase In payables 89
Decrease In provisions (20}
264
Cash generated from operations - continuing operations 413
b) Analysis of net debt
Other
30 March non-cash 2 May
2014 Cash flow Merper movements 2015
Errullion Emullion Emillion £milion Emillion
Cash and cash equivalents 283 (120) - - 163
Short-term investments - - - - -
283 (120) - - 163
Borrowings due within one year - (55) - - (55)
Borrowings due after more than one year {290} 249 {289) — (330)
Obligations under finance leases 4} 7 {83) (7)) {91)
(291) 201 (382) (4) (476)
Net (debt) / funds (8) 81 (382) @) (313)
Other
1 Aprii non-tash 29 March
2n3 Cash flow Acqusitions  movements 2014
Emilion Emillion Lmiltion Drnifion Cmilion
Cash and cash equivalents 117 166 - - 283
Borrowings due within one year - - - - -
Borrowings due after more than one year - 9 271) - (290}
Obhigations under finance leases — 2 1)) - {1}
- {7 (274) - (291}
Net funds / (debt) 17 149 (274) - {8)
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27 Related party transactions
Transactions between the Group's subsidiary undertakings, which are related parties, have been ehminated on consoldation and
accordingly are not disclosed Transactions between Group undertakings and associates compnsed sales of goods of £8 milion

(2013114 £nil)

The Group had the following transactions and balances with its joint venture, Virgin Mobile France (see also note 24)
2 May 29 Mareh

2018 2014

Emillion £milkon

Revenue for services provided - 1
Net interest and other finance income - 1
- 18

Loans owed to the Group

Revenue for services provided to Virgm Mobile France in the pnor year related to commussions on sales of Virgin Mobile France
connections by the Group’s wholly owned operations in France

All transactions entered into with related parties were completed on an arm’s length basis

28 Caprtal commitments
2 May 28 March

2015 2014
Emillion Ermillien
Contracted for but not provided for n the accounts 55 -
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29 Operating lease arrangements
a) The Group as a lessee

Total undiscounted future committed payments due for continuing operations are as follows

2015 2014
Land ard Qther Land and Other
buudings assots bulldings assels
E£million Emillllon Emillion E£mithon

Total undiscounted future committed payments due
Within one year 361 7 93 -
Between two and five years 1,227 14 249 -
After five years 1,001 1 130 -
2,589 22 472 -

Operating lease commitments represent rentals payable for retaill, distnbution and office properties, as well as vehicles,

equipment and office equipment Contingent rentals are payable on certain retail store leases based on store revenues and

figures shown include only the minmum rental component

The above figures include committed payments under cnerous lease contracts for which provisions or accruals exist on the

balance sheet, including those for businesses exited

The future minimum sub-lease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable sub-leases 1s £42 million
(2014 £33 million)

b} The Group as a lessor

The Group has investment properties which are let to third parties on long term leases for which the mimimum future income

15 as follows
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emillion £milkon
Total undiscounted future mimimum lease income receivable
Within one year 1 2
In two to five years 5 8
After five years 6 12
12 22
30 Contingent habilihies
2 May 29 March
2015 2014
£million £million
3 -

In addmion to the figures shown 1n the table above, contingent kabilities also exist in respect of lease covenants relating to

premises assigned to third parties
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Company balance sheet

2ZMay 29 March
2015 2014
Notwes Emillion Emilhon
Fixed assets
Investments ca 2,678 753
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 666 28
Debtors due within one year Cs 223 644
889 672
Creditors amounts falling due within one year C6 (160) (54)
Net current assets 729 618
Total assets less current habilities 3,407 1,371
Provisions c7 2) (2
Loans payable cs (330) (290)
Net assets 3,075 1,079
Equity
Share capital co 1 1
Share premium reserve ] 2,256 283
Profit and loss account (o] 818 795
3,075 1,079

The financial statements of the Company were approved by the Beard on 16 July 2015 and signed on its behalf by

-
Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer,
Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director
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C1 Accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

The Company 1s ncorporated in the Urited Kingdormn The financial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis
(see note 1 to the Group financial statements} and in accordance with apphcable United Kingdom accounting standards under
the historical cost convention, as modified by FRS 26 ‘Financial Instruments Measurement’

Historically, the Company has prepared its financial staterments to the Saturday closest to its accounting reference date of

31 March Following the Dixons Retail Merger, which 1s descnbed further in note 23 to the Group financial statements, the
Company has changed #s accounting reference date to 30 Apnl which was the pre-existing accounting reference date of Dixons
Retail ple, but wilf continue to draw up accounts to the nearest Saturday and accordingly the financial penod 1s for the 13 months
ended 2 May 2015 The comparative penod 1s for the year ended 29 March 2014

The Company has apphed the exemption avallable in FRS 1 ‘Cash Flow Statements’ not to present its own cash flow statement
The following principal accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout both financial penods
b) Investments

Investments held in subsidiaries and jomnt ventures are recognised at cost, being the far value of consideration, acquisition
charges associated with the investment and capital contributions by way of share-based payments, less any provision for
permanent diminution N value

Investments where the Company does not have control or significant mfluence are treated as available-for-sale and recorded at
far value Changes in fair value, together with any related deferred taxation, are taken directly to reserves, and recycled to the
profit and loss account when the investment 1s sold or 1s determined to be impaired

c) Share-based payments

Equity settled share-based payments are measured at far vaiue at the date of grant and expensed over the vesting period,
based on an estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest

Farr value 1s measured by use of a Binormal mode! for share-based payments with intemal performance ¢ntena (such as EPS
targets) and a Monte Carlo mode! for those with external performance cntena (such as TSR targets)

For schemes with intemal performance cntena, the number of options expected to vest is recalculated at each balance sheet
date, based on expectations of performance against target and of leavers pror to vesting The movement in cumulative expense
since the previous balance sheet date 15 recognised In the profit and loss account, with a corresponding entry in reserves

For schemes with extemal performance cntena, the number of options expected to vest 1s adjusted only for expectations of
leavers pnor to vesting The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date 1s recognised in the profit
and loss account, with a coresponding entry In reserves

If a share-based payment scheme is cancelled, any remaining part of the farr value of the scheme is expensed through the profit
and loss account If a share-based payment scheme 15 forferted, no further expense 1s recognised and any charges previously
recognised through the profit and loss account are reversed

Charges also anse on loans that are provided to employees to fund the purchase of shares in the Group as part of long term
incentive plans, to the extent to which the loans are not, in certain circumstances, repayable, the cost of the relevant part of such
loans 1s expensed over the course of the relevant incentive plans

d) Dwvidends
Dvidends receivable from the Company’s subsidianes are recognised only when they are approved by shareholders

Final dnidend distributions to the Company’s sharehoiders are recogrised as a kability in the financial statements in the year in
which they are approved by the Company's sharehciders Intenm and other dividends are recogrised n the year in which they
are paid

¢e) Foreign cumrency translation

Matenal transactions in foreign currencies are hedged using forward purchases or sales of the relevant currencies and are
recognised in the financial statements at the exchange rates thus obtaned Unhedged transactions are recorded at the
exchange rate on the date of the transaction Matenal monetary assets and llabihties denominated in foreign currencies are
hedged, manly using forward foreign exchange contracts to create matching liabilibes and assets, and are retranslated at each
balance sheet date Hedge accounting as defined by FRS 26 has been applied in the both years

f) Loans and other borrowings

Bank fees and legal costs associated with the secuning of extemal financing are capitalised and amortised over the term of the
relevant facility All other borrowing costs are recogrused in the profit and loss account in the penod in which they are incurred
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C1 Accounting policies continued
g) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when a fegal or constructive obligation exists as a resutt of past events and it i1s probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to seftle the obligatron and a reliable estmate can be made of the amount of the obligation
Provisions are discounted where the time value of money 1s considered to be matenal

C2 Profit and loss account

In accordance with the exemption permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the profit and loss account of the
Company 1s not presented separately The profit recogmsed for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 was £64 million (2013/14
£19 milicn) Information regarding the audit fees for the Group 1s provided in note 3 to the Group financial statements

C3 Equity dvidends

2 May 29 March
2015 204
Emillion Ermdlion

Amounts recogmsed as distnbutions to equity shareholders in the penod
- on ordinary shares of 0.1p each

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2013 of 3 25p per ordinary share — 19

Intenim dividend for the year ended 29 March 2014 of 2 00p per ordinary share - 11

Final dividend for the year ended 29 March 2014 of 4 00p per ordinary share 23

Intenm dividend for the 13 menths ended 2 May 2015 of 2 50p per ordinary share 29 -
52 30

The foliowing distnbution 1s proposed but had not been effected at 2 May 2015 and Is subject to shareholders' approval at the
forthcorming Annual General Mesting

E£muthon
Final dividend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 6 Op per ordinary share 69

C4 Fixed asset investments
2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Emillion £milion

Opening balance 753 741
Additions 3,965 12
Disposals {2,040) -
Closing balance 2,678 753
Cost 2,776 851
Accumulated impairments (98) (98}
Net carrying amount 2,678 753

Fixed asset investments compnse mvestrnents in subsidiary undertakings, joint venture investments and other minonty
investments Details of the Company's investments in subsidiary undertakings are provided in note C12

201415

On 6 August 2014, the Group completed an all-share merger of Dixons and Carphone after which the shareholders of Dixons
and Carphone each held 50% of Dixons Carphone on a fully diluted basis taking into account existing share ophions and award
schemes for both companies

Under the terms of the Merger, Dixons shareholders received 0 155 of a new Dixons Carphone Share in exchange for each
Dixons share In accordance with the cntena in IFRS 3 'Business Combinations’ it has been determined that Carphone acquired
Dixons and accounts for the majonty of the additions isted Immediately following the Merger, the shareholding in Dixons was
transferred down to the Company's immediate subsidiary, New CPW Limited, and this transaction accounts for the magority of
the disposals

2013714
Additions reflected the cost of shares issued to sabsfy Best Buy's obhigations in relation to incentive schemes (see note 23 to the
Group financial statements)
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C5 Debtors. amounts falling due within one year

2 May 29 March

2015 2014

Ermillion £million

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 194 614
Loans to joint ventures - 18
Deferred tax asset 3 2
Prepayments 5 5
Other debtors 2 5
223 644

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are repayable within 12 months of the balance sheet date

Other debtors include loans of £nil (2014 £1 million) to senior employees of the Group i relation to the Carphone Warehouse

Share Plan as explained in note 5 b) to the Group financial statements

€6 Creditors Amounts faling due within one year

2 May 29 March
2015 2014
Emillien E€million
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 119 21
Other creditors 3 5
Accruals and deferred income 10 28
160 54
C7 Prowvisions
2May 29 March
2015 2014
£milbon Crillicn
Opening balance 2 8
Utilised 1 the penod / year - @
Closing balance 2 2
€8 Loans payable

Details of loans payable are provided in note 17 to the Group financial statements
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C9 Share caprtal, reserves and accumulated profits

2 May 29 March 2 May 29 March
2015 2014 2015 2014
miliron rollion Emillion Emillion
Share capital
Allotted, called-up and fully paid erdinary shares of 0 1p each 1,151 576 1 1

Dunng the year, 0 7 mithon shares were 1ssued in respect of options issued under employee share option plans In addition,
574 7 million shares were 1ssued as part of the Merger as descnbed further in note 23 to the Group financial statements

Share Profit Capital
Share premium and loss  redemption
caprtal reserve account ressrve Total
Emilion Emillion Errillion Eemillion £million
At 1 Apnl 2013 1 170 705 - 876
Net profit for the year - - 19 — 19
Other comprehensive iIncome - - 2 - 2
Issue of shares - 113 103 - 216
Equity dvidends - - 20 - (30)
Net movement in relation to share schemes - - (4 - {4}
At 29 March 2014 1 283 795 - 1,079
Net profit for the year - - 64 - 64
QOther comprehensive income - - 3} - 3
Issue of shares - 1,973 - - 1,973
Equity dridends - - (52) - (52)
Net movement in relation to share schemes — - 14 - 14
At 2 May 2015 1 2,256 818 - 3,075

Note 21 to the Group financial statements provides further details in respect of the 1ssue of shares
For details of the Company’s equity dividends see note C3

€10 Financial instruments

The Company has applied the exemption under FRS 25 ‘Financial Instruments Presentaton’ not to disclose details of financial
instruments held by the Company Full disclosure of the Group’s financial instruments under FRS 29 (IFRS 7) ‘Financial
Instruments Disclosures’ and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement’ is provided in note 25 to the
Group financial staternents

C11 Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 8 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ not to provide details of related
party transactions with other Group companies

The Company entered into transactions, in the aordinary course of business, with other related parties as follows

2 May 2015 29 Marcnh 2014

Virgin virgin

CPW Mobile chw Mobiig

Europs France Europe France

Emilhon £muillion Emiiion Emillion

Net interest and other finance income - - - 1
Loans owed to the Company - - - 18
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C12 Subsidhary undertakings
a) Pnncipal subsidianes

The Company has investrments in the following principal subsidiary undertakings Al holdings are in equity share capital and gve

the Group an effective holding of 100% on consolidation

Name Country of Ingorporation or ragstration Nature of business
The Carphone Warehouse Limited England and Wales Distnbution
The Phone House Span S LU Spain Distnbution
The Phone House Deutschland GmbH Germany Distribution
The Phone House Telecom GmbH Germany Distnbution
The Phone House Netherlands B V Netherlands Distribution
GEAB The Phone House AB Sweden Distnbution
The Carphone Warehouse Limited Ireland Drstnbution
The Phone House Comercio e Aluguer de bens e Servigos Lda Portugat Distnbution
New Technology Insurance Ireland Insurance
Dixens Retail ple England and Wales Holding Company
DSG nternabional Holdings Limited England and Wales Holding Company
DSG Retail Limited England and Wales Retail
DSG Retail Ireland Limited Ireland Retail
Dixons South East Eurcpe AEVE Greece Retail
El-Giganten AS Denmark Retail
El-Giganten AB Sweden Retai!
Elkjep Nordic AS Norway Retail
Gigantti OY Finland Retail
ISE-Net Solutions Limited England and Wales It
New CPW Limited* England and Wales Holding company
Carphone Warehouse Europe Limited England and Wales Holding company

*  Heid dirgctly by the Company

b} Other subsidiary undertakings

The following are the other subs:diary undertakings of the Group, all of which are wholly owned unless ctherwise indicated All
these comparves are either holding companies or provide general support to the principal subsidiaries listed above

Country of Country of
ncomoraban or ncarparaton o
Name registrahon Name registration
Adiumentum OY Finland DSG European Investments Limited England & Wales
Codic GmbH Germany DSG Fleet Management Limited England & Wales
Coverplan Insurance Services Limited England & Wales DSG Hong Kong Sourcing Limited Hong Kong
Currys Group Limited England & Wales DSG international BVBA Belgium
DISL 2 Limited Isle of Man DSG international Insurance
DISL UK Limited England & Wales Services Limited Isle of Man
Dixagon SA Switzerland DSP?oggftllzztll_?r?aaltlezeta” England & Wales
Dixons Group Limited England & Wales Dixons Retall S8Csro Czech Republic
Dixons Pension Trust Ireland Limited Ireland DSG mternational Treasury
Dixons Properties SA Belgium Management Limited England & Wales
Dixons Retal SSCsro Czech Republic DSG Ireland Limited England & Wales
Dixons Sourcing Lirmited Hong Kong DSG KHI Limited England & Wales
Dixons Travel sri Italy DSG Overseas Investments Limited England & Wales
DSG Boxmoor Limited England & Wales DSG Retal Norway AS Norway
DSG Card Handling Services Limited England & Wales Electroworld Svenge AB Sweden
DSG Corporate Services Limited England & Wales Elgiganten Logistik AB Sweden
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C12 Subsidiary undertakings continued

b) Other subsidiary undertakings continued

Cauntry of Country of
INCOMOratIon or Incorporation or
Name registration Name registraton
Elkjep Kleverenga AS Norway FM Corporate Communications BY Netherlands
Elkjop Norge AS Norway FM Development BV Netherlands
Epogq Holding AB Sweden FM Investments BV Netherands
Epoqlogistc DC ks Czech Republic FM Wholesale BV Netherands
Kereru Limuted England & Wales ID Mobile Limited England & Wales
Lefdal Electromarked AS Norway MTIS Limited freland
Leverstock Investments Limited Engtand & Wales Osfane — comercio de Aparethos de
Markantalo OY Finland Telecomunicacoes LDA Portugal
Mastercare Service and Osfone Negocios - Comercio de
Distribution Limited England & Wales Aparelhos de Telecomunicacoes LTA Portugal
Mohua Limited England & Wales Pelham Limited Isle of Man
NSS Financials AS Denmark Phone House International AB Sweden
PC City (France)} SNC France Provital Groothandel BY Netherlands
PC City Norge AS Norway SG The Phone House AB Sweden
PC City Spain SAU Spamn Soctedede Gestora de Participcoes
Pet ); . Company Limited Gib plt Socias SA Span
etrus Insurance 1
pany Lim: ranar Talkm Limited England & Wales
Thyhn & Ronnlund AB Sweden
The Carphone Warehouse (Digital)
Carphone Warehouse Ireland Limited England & Wales
Mobile Limited England & Wales
The Carphone Warehouse
Charterhouse Management Limited Isle of Man Resources Limited Isle of Man
Compro-Telematics BY Netherlands The Carphone Warehouse UK Limited  England & Wales
Connected World Services The Phone House Holdings (UK}
Distnbutions Limited England & Wales Limited England & Wales
Connected World Services The Phone House Netherlands
Europe SL Spain Business Centres BV Netherlands
Connected World Services The Phone House Netherlands
Netherlands BV Netherlands Franchise BV Netherlands
Connected World Services SAS France The Phone House Netherlands
Connected World Services LLC USA Retail BV Netherands
CPW Acton Five Limuted England & Wales The Phone House Netherlands Retail
CPW Acton One Limited Iste of Man Regio Midden BV Nethedands
The Phone House Netherlands Retail
gm gra"dsltz L'ml'_mdt ) E“g:ang z xa:es Regio Zuid BV Netherlands
onsuftancy Limite ng'an ales The Phone House Netherlands
CPW CP Limited England & Wales Services BV Netherlands
CPW GC Holdings BV Netherlands The Phone House Services GmbH Germany
CPW Ilam Limited England & Wales The Phone House Shop
CPW Tulketh Mill Limited England & Wales Management GmbH Germany
CWIAB Limited England & Wales Typhone e-concepts BY Netherlands
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C12 Subsidiary undertakings continued
c} Subsidiary undertakings exempt from audit

The following subsidianes, all of which are incorporated in England and Wales and are all included with section b) above, are
exempt from the requirements of the UK Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue of section
479A of that Act

Name Company registration number
CPW Tulketh Mill Limited 06585719
CPW Irlam Limited 05825842
CPW Brands 2 Limited 07135355
The Carphone Warehouse (Digital) Limited 03966947
CPW Acton Five Limited 05738735
CPW Consultancy Lirmited 07881879
CWIAB Limited 02441554
The Carphone Warehouse UK Limited 03827277
CPW CP Limited 06585457
DSG Boxmoor Limited 05430014
DSG Card Handling Services Limited 04185110
DSG intemational Retail Properties Limited 00476440
DSG Ireland Lirited 00240621

Financial statements
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Five-year record (unaudited)

Headline results — continuing operations

2H4/15 201314 201213 201112 2010711
Emillion Smition £milion £milion rnilbon

Group

Revenuea 8,255 1,843 11 6 6
Share of resuits of CPW Europe - 3 48 46 43
Other 285 100 4 3 (1)
MNet profit 285 103 52 49 42

Eamings per share
- Basic
— Diluted

297p 18 6p 109p 107p 93p
28.7p 18 3p 108p 102p 89p

Pro forma Headline results'"

Revenue 9,936 9,752 9,517 8,820 8,822
eBIT 414 359 310 277 259
Interest {33) (43} (33) (39} {35)

Profit before taxation

381 316 277 238 224

{1} Proforma resuits are presented as though the Dixons Retal Merger and the CPW Europe Acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the
five year penod The Financral Years 2013/14 and pnor have been restated to exclude ciscontinued operations
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Shareholder and corporate information

Dixons Carphone plc i1s isted on the main market of the
London Stock Exchange (stock symbol DC) It i1s a constituent
of the FTSE 100

Registrar

Equirut

Aspect House

Spencer Road, Lancing
West Sussex BN99 6DA
United Kingdom

0871 384 2089 (UK only)*
+44 (0)121 415 7047 {from outside the UK)

*Calls to the 0871 number cost 8p per minute plus network
extras Lines are open 8 30am to 5 30pm, Monday to Fnday

You can manage your shareholdings via an electronic
communications service called Shareview -

www shareview co uk To register, you will need your
shareholder reference number, which can be found on your
share certificate, dividend tax voucher or proxy card
Registration is free

Financial calendar

Ex-dwvidend date (final dividend 2014/15) 27 Aug 2015

Record date (final dividend 2014/15) 28 Aug 2015
Annual General Meeting 10 Sep 2015
Intended dividend payment date (final

dividend 2014/15) 25 Sep 2015

Registered office / Head office

1 Portal Way

London W3 6RS

United Kingdom

+44 (020 8617 6002

www dixonscarphone com

Company registration number
07105905

Company Secretary

Enquines should be directed to

Nigel Paterson
Company Secretary and General Counsel
cpwlegal@cpwplc com

Investor relations
Enquines should be directed to

Kate Fery, Investor Relations Director
Mark Reynolds, Investor Relations Manager
ir@dixonscarphone com

Advisors

Auditor

Deloitte LLP

2 New Street Square
London EC4A 38Z

Joint Stockbraokers
Deutsche Bank AG
1 Great Winchester Street
London EC2N 2DB

Citigroup Global Markets Limited
33 Canada Square

Canary Wharf

E145LB
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Glossary and definitions

The following definitions apply throughout this Annual Report and Accounts unless the context otherwise requires

Acquisthion intangibles Acquired intangible assets such as customer bases, brands and other intangible assets
acquired through a business combination capitalised separately from goodwall

ARPU Average revenue per user

B2B Business to business

Best Buy Best Buy Co , Inc (incorporated in the United States) and its subsidianes and interests
N joint ventures and associates

Best Buy Europe Best Buy Europe Distnbutions Limited and its subsicianes and interests in joint ventures
and associates (incorporated in England and Wales)

Board The Board of directors of the Company

Carphone, Carphone Warehouse The Company or Group pnor to the Merger on 6 August

or Carphone Group

CcGU Cash Generating Unit

Consideration Shares The 42 1m ordinary shares in the Company 1ssued to Best Buy on 25 June 2013
at a pnice of £1 90 per share, m connection with the CPW Eurcpe Acquisibon

CPW The continuing business of the Carphone Group, excluding its interest in
Virgin Mobile France

CPW Europe Best Buy Europe's core continuing operations

CPW Europe Acquisttion The Company's acquisition of Best Buy's interest in CPW Europe, which completed on
26 June 2013

CWS The Connected World Services division of the Company

Dixons or Dixons Retail

Dixons Retail plc and ts subsidary companies

Dixons Carphone or the Company

Dixons Carphone plc (incorporated in England and Wales under the Act, with registered
number 07105905), whose registered office is at 1 Portal Way, London W3 6RS

Dixons Retatl Merger or Merger

The all share merger of Dixons Retail plc and Carphone Warehouse plc which occurred
on 6 August 2014

Eamings Profit or loss after taxation, unless the context ctherwise requires

EBIT Earmings before investment income, interest and taxation

EBITDA Eamings before investment income, interest, taxaton, depreciaton and amortisation
EPS Earnings per share {basic unless otherwise indicated)

ESOT Employee share ownership trust

Free Cash Flow

Free Cash Flow compnses cash generated from / (utilised by) continuing operations
before special pension contnbutions, less net finance expense, less income tax paid
and net capttal expenditure The directors consider that ‘Free Cash Flow’ provides
additional useful information to shareholders in respect of cash generation and 15
consistent with how business performance 1s measured internally

Headline results

Results before Non-Headline resuits The phrases ‘Headbine earmings’, *Headline EBIT,
‘Headlne EBITDA’ and 'Headiine EPS’ should be interpreted i the same way The
Headline resufts of the Group's joint ventures also include certain reclassifications,

as detailed in note 24 to the Group financial statements, to aid understanding of
underiying performance

HMRC

Her Mayesty’s Revenue and Customns

Intermational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
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Glossary and definitions

MNO Mobile network operator

MVNO Mobile wirtual network operator

MTR Mobile termination rates

New CPW New CPW Limited (incorporated in England and Wales)

Non-Headline results

Non-Headline compnse the results of discontmued operations or exited / to be exited
businesses, amortisation of acquisition intangibles, any exceptional items considered
so one-off and matenal that they distort underhying performance (such as reorganisation
costs, impaiment charges and other non-recumng charges) and net pension interest
costs Businesses exited or to be exited are those which the Group has exited or
committed to or commenced to exit through disposal or closure but do not meet the
defintion of discontinued operations as stipulated by IFRS and are matenal to the
results and operations of the Group

NPS Net promoter score, a rating used by the Group to measure customers’ likelihood to
recommend its operations
Old Garphone Warehouse TalkTalk Telecom Holdings Limited {formerly *The Carphone Warehouse Group PLC™)

{incorporated in Engtand and Wales)

Old Carphone Warehouse Group

Qld Carphone Warehouse and i§s subsidianes and interests in joint ventures pnor to the
Demerger

Participation Plan The Carphone Warehouse Group plic Participation Plan 2011

PAT Profit after taxation

PBT Profit before taxation

Pro forma Results incorporating Dixons Retail plc as if it had been owned by the Group for the
entire reporting penod and the previous year In addition, in respect of 2013/14, the
results aggregating CPW Europe and the Group's wholly owned businesses, as though
CPW Eurcpe had been 100% owned by the Group in the relevant penod

ROCE Retum on capital employed Net profit as a percentage of capital employed, calculated
using Headline earmings and with capital employed defined as average equity and
average non-current debt Averages are calculated based on the opening and closing
positions for the relevant year

RCF Revolving credit facibity

Sharesave or SAYE Save as you eam share scheme

SWAS Stores-within-a-store

TalkTalk or TalkTalk Group TalkTalk Telecorn Group PLC and its subsidianes and other investments

TSR Total shareholder retum

UK GAAP United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law

Virgin Mobile France

Omer Telecom Limited {(incorporated in England and Wales) and its subsidiaries,
operating an MVNO in France as a joint venture between the Company, Bluebottie UK
Limited and Financom SA S

WAEP

Weighted average exercise price
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